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o DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

- make, “forwerd-looking statements™ within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 throughout this document.
Whenever you read a statement that is not simply a staterent of historical fact (such as when we describe what we “believe,” “intend,” “plan.”
“estimete,” “expect” or “anticipate” will occur and other similar statements), you must remember that our expectations may not tum out to be
correct, even though we believe they are reasonable. We do not guarantee that any future transactions or events described berein will happen as
described or that they will happen at all. You should read this document completely and with the understanding that actual future results may
be materially different from what we expect. Whether actusl cvents ar results will conform to our expectations and predictions is subject toa
number of risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertaintics include, but are not limited to, the following:

. we face intense and increasing competition from the satellite and cable television industry; new competitors are likely to enter the
subscription television business, and new icchnologics may increase competition;

. DISH Network subscriber growth may decrease, subscriber turover may increase and subscriber acquisition costs may increase;

*  partners in our co-branding and other distribution relationships may de-cmphasize or discontinue their cfforts to acquire DISH
Network subscribers, or may begin offering non-DISH Network video services, which would cause our subscriber additions and
related revenue to decline and could cause our subsctiber tarnover and other costs to increase;

. satellite programming signals have been pirated and will continue to be pirated in the future; pirating could cause us to lose
subscribers and revemue, and result in higher casts to us;

¢ programming costs may increase beyond our current expectations; we may be unable to obtain or renew programming sgreements on
acceptable terms or at all; existing programming agreements could be subject to cancellation; foreign programming is increasingly

offercd on other platforms which could cause our subscriber additions and related revenuc.to decline and could cause our subscriber
turnover to increase;

*  weakness in the global or U.S. cconomy may harm our business generally, and adverse local political or economic developments may
occur in some of our markets;

. the regulations governing our industry may change;

. certain provisions of the Satellite Home Viewer Extension and Reauthorization Act of 2004, or SHVERA, may force us to stop
offering local channels in cengin markets or incur additional costs to continue offering local channels in certain markets;

+  oursatellite launches may be delayed or fail, or our satellites may fail in orbit prior to the end of their scheduied lives causing
extended interruptions of some of the chamnels we offer;

*  we currently do not have commercial insurance covering losses incurred from the failure of satellite lsunches and/or in-orbit r
sateltites;

*  service interruptions arising from technical anomalies on satellites or on-ground components of our DBS system, or caused by war,
terrorist activities or natural disasters, may cause customer cancellations or otherwise harm our business;

*  wearc heavily dependent on complex information tzchnologies; wesknesses in our information technology systems could have an
adverse impact on our business; we may have difficulty aaracting and retaining qualified personnel to maintain or information
technology mfrastructure;

. We may be unable to obtain needed retransmission consents, Federal Communications Commission (“FCC™) authorizations or export
licenses, and we may lose our current or future authorizations;

*  Weare party to various lawsuits which, if adversely decided, could have s significant adverse impact on our business;

*  wemay be unable to obtain patent licenses from holders of intellectual property or redesign our products 1o avoid patent
infringement;

. sales of digital equipment and related services to internetional direct-to-home service providers may decreasc;
*  weare highly leveraged end subject to numerous constraints on our ability to raise additional deby;

*  acquisitions, business combinations, strategic partnerships, divestitures and other significant transactions may involve additional
uncertainties;

*  terrorist attacks, the possibility of war or other hostilities, and changes in political and ecoromic conditions as a result of these events
may continue to affect the U.S. and the global ecanomy and may increase otber risks;

65(-3

E——






Table of Conteants

-a *  wearcperiodically evaluating and testing our internal controls over financial reporting in order to satisfy the requirernents of

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Although our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2004, if in the furure we are unable to report that our internal coatrols over financial reporting are
effective (or if our auditors do not agree with our assessment of the effectiveness of, or are nnable to express an opinion on, our
internal controls over financial reporting), we could lose investor confidence in our financial reponts, which could have a matcrial
adverse effect on our stock price and our busincss; and

+  wemay face other risks described from time to time in periodic and current reports we file with the Securitics and Exchange
Commission (“SEC™).

All cauticnary statements made herein should be read as being applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear. In this
connection, investors should consider the risks described hercin and should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

We assume no responsibility for updating forward-looking information contained or incorporated by reference herein or in other reports we file
with the SEC.

In this document, the words “we," “our” and “us” refer 1o EchoStar Communications Corporation and its subsidiarics, valess the context
otherwise requires. “EDBS” refers to EchoStar DBS Corporation and its subsidiaries.

i
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» PART 1]

:m 1. BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

Ovur Business

Echostar Communications Corporation, through its DISH Network, is a leading provider of satellite delivered digital television to customers
across the United States. DISH Network services include hundreds of video, audio and data channels, interactive television chanmels, digital
video recording, high definition television, international programming, professiona! installation and 24-hour customer service.

We started offering subscription television services on the DISH Network in March 1996. As of December 31, 2004, the DISH Network had
approximately 10.905 million subscribers. We currently have twelve owned or leased m-orbit satellites which enabie us to offer over 2,000
video and audio channels to consumers across the United States. Since we use many of these channels for local programming, no particular
consumer could subscribe 1o all channels, but all are available using xmall consumer satellite antennac, or dishes. We belicve that the DISH
Netwok offers programming packages that have a better “price-to-value” relationship than packages currently offered by most other
subscription television providers. As of December 31, 2004, there were over 24.0 million subscribers to direct broadcast satellite scrvices in the
United States. We believe that there arc more then 92.0 million pay television subscribers in the United States, and there continues to be
significant unsatisficd demand for high quality, reasonably priced television programming services.

DISH Network and EchoStar Techuologies Corperation

EchoStar Communications Corporation (“ECC™) is a holding company. Its subsidiaries (which together with ECC are refetred to as
“EchoStar,” the “Company,” “we,” “us”™ and/or “our™) operatc two interrelated business units:

o The DISH Networ k - which provides a direct broadcast satellite (“DBS™) subscription television service in the United States; and

e EchoStar Technologies Corporation (“ETC™) - which designs and develops DBS sct-top boxes, antennac and other digital equipment
for the DISH Network. We refet to this equipment collectively as “EchoStar receiver systems.” ETC also designs, develops and
distributes similar equipment for international satellite service providers.

Since 1994, we have deployed substantial resources to develop the “EchoStar DBS System.” The EchoStar DBS System consists of our FCC-
allocated DBS spectrum, our owned and leased satellites, EchoStar receiver systems, digital broadcast operations centers, customer service
facilities, and certain other assets utilized in our operations. Our principal business stratcgy is to continue developing our subscription
television service in the United States to provide consumers with a fully competitive altcmnative to cable television service.

okm !nformﬂoi

We were organized in 1995 as a corporation under the laws of the State of Nevada. Our cammon stock is publicly traded on the Nasdag
National Market under the symbol “DISH.” Our principal executive offices are locsted at 3601 Sonth Meridian Boulevard, Englewood,
Colorado 30112 and our telephone sumber is (303) 723-1000.

Receat Developments

$1.0 Billion Senior Notes Offering. On October 1, 2004, we sald $1.0 billion principal emount of our 6 5/8% Senior Notes .d_ue October 1,
2014. The Notes were sold in 2 private placement to qualified institutional buyers in rcliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933,
We used the net proceeds from issuance of the Notes, together with available cash, 1o redeem all of our outstanding 10 3/8% Senior Notes duc
2007.
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--. +10 3/8% Senior Notes Redemption. Effective October 1, 2004, we redeemed all of our outstanding 10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007. In
. ~ordance with the temms of the indenture governing the notes, the $1.0 billion principal amount of the notes was redeemed at 105.188%, for a
-+ al of approximately $1.052 billion. The premium paid of approximately $51.9 million, along with unamortized debt issuance costs of
appraximately $4.1 million, were recorded as charges 16 eamings during the fourth quarter of 2004.

Cash Dividend. On December 14, 2004, we paid a one-time cash dividend of $1.00 per share, of approximately $455.7 million, on outstanding
shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to sharcholders of record at the close of business on December 8, 2004.

Cablevision Satellite Acquisition. Ou January 20, 2005, we agreed to purchase certain satellite assets from Rainbow DBS Co., a subsidiary of
Cablevisian Systems Cotporation for $200.0 million_ Specifically, we have agreed to purchase Rainbow 1, 8 direct broadcast satellite located at
61.5 degroes West Longitude, together with the rights to 11 DBS frequencies at that location. The satellite includes 13 transponders, up to 12 of
which can be operated in “spot beam”™ mode. Also, as part of this transaction, we will acquire ground facilities and related asscts in Black
Hawk, S.D. The transaction is subject to customary conditions, including regulatory approval by the FCC. There can be no assurance that such
approva! will be obtained.

Settlement of EchoStar 1V Arbitration. Several years ago, we filed a $219.3 million insurance claim as a result of the faiture of our EchoStar
IV satellite to operate propaly. The satellite insurance consisted of separate, substantially identical policies with meny carriers for varying
amounts which, in combination, create a total insured smount of $219.3 million. All of the carricrs contested the loss claim, resuliing in
arbitration under the terms of the policies.

On March 4, 2005, we agreed to settle our insurance claim and related claims for accrued interest and bad faith with all carriers who agree to
pey their propartionate share of an aggregatc net amount of $240.0 million. We retained title to and use of the EchoStar IV satellite. Payment
from each settling carrier is duc on or before April 26, 2005, with intcrest commeacing to accrue on April 12, 2005. Currently, we have
received signed agreements back from insorers represeating our 90% of the aggregate amount. While we believe the remsining insurers will
each sign the agreement shortly, the arbitration will contine with respect to any msurers who decline to settie.

Amounts payable to us in excess of our previousty recorded $106.0 million receivable will be recognized in income during the period in which
the respective insurers sign the sertlement agreement. See “Item 3 ~ Legal Proceedings™ for more information relating to the underlying
insurance claim and our historical accounting for that claim.

.. ‘ernal Review and Filing of Pwrported Securities Class Action. Our Audit Committee recently completed a review of recordkecping and
wternal control issues relating to certain of our vendor and third party relationships (the “Review™). The Review concluded that the Company’s
recordkeeping in prior years and the curent control environment were deficient and reported one instance in which onc of our executive
officers in charge of certain business functions directed the preperation, in prior years, of ineccurate documeatation that was used to determine
peyments made to a vendor. Mansgement has evaluated this instance and determined that it constitutes a “significant deficicncy™ in the
Company’s intemal control over financial reporting, as defined by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's Auditing Standard
No. 2. Management’s complete report on internal comtrol over financial reporting is set forth under “Tiem 9A. Controls and Procedures. »
Notwithstanding this determination, no adjusunents to our consolidated financial statements were required as & result of the Review, and nane
were made. We are, however, implementing several changes recommended by the Audit Committes to our govemance, operating and control
policics and procedures. We have also taken disciplinary action and otber steps to remediate the conduct underlying the deficicacics identified
by the Audit Committee’s Review.

Following the March 10, 2005 publication of a news article purporting to describe the Review and other marters, we received 2 phone call from
the Division of Enforcement of the Securities and Exchange Commission inquiring about the matters described in the news article. The
Company intends 10 fully respond to that inquiry. On March 11, 2008, a purported class action lawsuit was filed against us and several of our
current and former officers in the United States District Court for the District of Colorado. The complaint alleges, among other things, that we
made material misstatements and omissions by issuing financial statements pnd “reports on operations” that were not in accordance with
GAAP, through inadequate internal controls, failure to disclosc related party transactions and improperly booking certain transactions, resulting
in violations of several fedcral sccurities lsw provisions. We intend to vigorously defend agaimst this complaint.

DISH NETWORK
Programming

Value-Based Programming Packages . We usc a “valuc-bascd” strategy in structuring the content and pricing of programming packages
available from the DISH Network. For example, we currently sell our entry-level “America’s Top 607 package for $26.99 per month. This
packege includes 60 of our most populsr video channels m digital format. We estimate that cable operators would typically charge over $40.00
per month, on average, for comparable entry-level expanded basic service.

.ur “America’s Top 120" package currently sells for $37.99 per month and is similar o an expanded basic cable package plus more than 30

wmlimmk-am CD-quality music chaonels. We estimate that cable operators would typically charge over $45.00 per month, on average, for a
similar package.
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-Our “America’s Top 180” currently sclls for $47.99 per month, end our “America’s Everything Pak,” which combines our “America’s Top
180" package and more than 30 commercial-frec premium movie channels including HBO, Cinemax, Showtime and Starz!, currently sells for

2 $81.99 per month.
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.aCable operators do typically include local channels in their programming packeges. However, we can provide satellite-delivered focal c'hanncls
" digital format ta any of these packages for an additional $5.99 per month in 155 of the largest markets in the United States, representing over

_ . hofall of US. tclevision houscholds.

We also offer each of these programming packages under our Digital Home Advantage promotion, which cen include a dual tuner recciver,
mmstallation in up 1o two rooms, and local channels where available at no additional cost. Our Digital Home Advantage promotion prices are
$31.99 per month for “America’s Top 607, $42.99 per month for “America’s Top 1207, and $52.99 and $86.99 per month, respectively, for
“America’s Tap 180” and “America’s Evexything Pak™. Generally, subscribers to any Digital Home Advantage package may add a digital
video recorder to their system for an additional cost of only $5.00 per month.

Movie Packages . We currently offer each of our four movie packages, which include up to 10 movie channels per package, starting at $11.99
per month. We believe we currently offer more movie channels then cable typically offers at a comparable price.

DISH Latino Programming Packages . We also offer a variety of Spanish-language programming packages. Our “DISH Latino” package
includes more than 30 Spanish-language programming chennels for $24.99 per month. We also offer “DISH Latino Dos,” which includes over
125 English and Spanish-language programming channels for $34.99 per month. Our DISH Latino Max includes more than 170 Spanish and
English-language channels for $44.99 par month.

International Pédghamming . We offer over 100 forcign-language channels inchiding Arsbic, South Asian, Hindi, Russian, Chinese, Greek
and miny otifers: BiSH Y&twork remains the pay-TV leader in ddivering forcign-language programmmg to customers in the United States,
and our foreign-language programming contributes significantly 10 our subscriber growth. We belicve foreign-language programming is a
valuable niche product that attracts new subscribers to DISH Network who are unable 10 get similar programming elsewhere. However, we face
increasing competition from other distributors of foreign langusge programming, inchading the Spanish-language propramming discussed
above, and there can be no assurance that we will continne to experience growth in subscribers to our foreign-language programming services.
In addition, the increasing availability of foreign language programming from onr competitors, which in certain cases has resalted from our
inability to renew programming agreements on an exclusive basis or at all, could contribute to an increase in our subscriber churn. Our
agreements with distributors of foreign language programming have varying expiration dates, and some agreements are on s month-to-month
basis. There can be no assurance that we will be able to rencw these agreements on acoeptable terms or at all.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

~ales Channels . We currently sell EchoStar receiver systoms and solicit orders for DISH Network programming services through independent
distributors, retailers and consumer electronies stores. While we also sell receiver systems and programming directly, independent retailers are
responsible for most of our sales. These independent retailers are primarily local retailers who specialize in TV and home entertamment
systems. We also acquire customers through nationwide retailers such as Costco, Sears and certain regional consumer electronic chains. In
addition, RadioShack Corporation sells EchoStar recciver systems and markets DISH Network programming services through its 5,200
corporate stores and in spproximately 1,000 dealer franchisc stores nationwide. We also have an agreement with JVC to distribute our receiver
systems undex its label through certain of its nationwide retailers.

We offer our distributors and retailers what we believe are competitive incentive programs, Through these programs, qualified distributors and
retailers receive, emong other things, incentives upon new subscriber activations and generally receive monthly residual incentives dependent
on, emong other things, continued consumer subscription to qualified programming. '

Marketing. We use print, radio, and television, on a local and national basix, to advertise and promote the DISH Network. We also offer point-
of -sale litcrature, product displays, demonstration kiosks and signage for retail cutlets. We provide guides that describe DISH Network
products and scrvices to our retailers and distributors and conduct periodic educational seminars. Our mobile sales and marketing team visits
retail outlets regularly to reinforce training and ensure that these autlets have proper point-of-sale materials for our currcat promotions.
Additionally, we dedicate a DISH Network television channe! and website to provide retailers with information about special services and
promotions that we offer from time to time.
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* Promotional Subsidies . Our fature success in the subscription television industry depends on, among other factors, our sbility to acquire and
«ain DISH Network subscribers. We provide varying levels of subsidies and incentives to atiract customers, including leased, free or
sidized receiver systems, installations, programming and other itens. This marketing strategy emphasizes our long-mtm business strategy of
maximizing future revenue by selling DISH Network programming to = large potential subscriber base and rapidly increasing our subscriber
base. Since we subsidize consumer up-front costs, we incur significant costs cach time we acquire a new subscriber. Although there can be no
assurance, we believe that, on average, we will be able to fully recoup the up-front costs of subscriber acquisition from future subscription
television services revenue.

During July 2000, we began offering our DISH Network subscribers the option fo leasc receiver systems. Our current cquipment lease
program, the Digital Home Advantage promotion, offcrs ncw customers the ability to lease up to four installed EchoStar receivers, including
various premium models such as advanced digital video recocders and high definition reccivers, when they subscribe to one of several
qualifying programming packages. Although there can be no assurance, we expect this marketing strategy will reduce the cost of acquiring
future subscribers because we retain ownership of the receiver systems. Upon tenmination of service, Digital Home Advantage subscribers are
requited to return the recetver and certain other equipment to us. While we do not recover ell of the equipment vpon termination of service,
equipment that is recovered after deactivation is reconditioned and re-deployed at a lower cost than new cquipment. The effectiveness of our
plan to reduce subscriber acquisition costs through redeployment of leased equipment is dependent on our ability to retrieve and cost
effectively recondition leased equipment from subscribers who terminate service. Our ability to realize reduced equipment costs from
redeploying reconditioned eqnipment will be negatively impacted by new compression technologies that will incvitably reader some portion of
our current and future EchoStar receivers obsolete. We will incur additional costs, which may be substznml. to upgrade or replace these set-top
boxes.

We base oar marketing promotions, among other things, on current competitive conditions. In some cases, if competition increases, or we
determine for amy other reason that it is necessary to increase our subscriber acquisition costs to attract new customers, our profitability and
costs of opcration would be adversely affected.

Digital Video Recerding and Interactive Service

We coatinue to expand our offerings to include advanced products such as digital video recorders, or “DVRs™ and interactive programming
services. DISH Network custoroers can purchase or lease receivers with built-in hard disk drives that permit viewers to pause and record live
programs, including programming in high definition, without the need for videotape. We now offer receivers capable of storing up to 210 hours
‘ programming and expect to increase storage capacity on future receiver models. We also currently offer receivers that provide a wide variety
‘mnovative interactive television services and applications, inctuding shopping and weather channels, wagering and gaming.

Broadbazd Strategic Alliances

Since 2002, we have entered into agreements to offer a bundled package of services combining DISH Network satellite television service with
the voice and data sexvices of various telecommunications compenies such as SBC Communications, Inc. (“*SBC”) and others.

in the first quarter of 2004, we commenced sakes of a co-branded service featuring our DISH Network service bundled together with
SBC's telcphony, high-spced data and other communications services. SBC is marketing the bundled service and is responsible for certain
integrated order-entry, customer service and billing. SBC also purchascs set-top box equipment from us to lease to bundled eervice customers.
SBC outsources installation snd certain customer service functions to us far a fee. As part of the agreement, SBC paid us certain development
and implementation fees during 2003 and 2004.

While we cxpect to continue to pursue opportanitics to bundle our DISH Network satellite telcvision service with the voice and data services of
SBC and other telecommunications providers, SBC recently announced that in 2005 it will begin deploying an sdvanced fiber network that will
eneble it to offer video services directly. Our net new subscriber additions and cerain of our other key operating metrics would be edverscly

affected to the extent SBC de-caphasizes or discontinues its efforts to acquirc DISH Network subscribers. Moreaver, there can be no assurance
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«that we will be successful in developing significant new bundling oppormunities with other telecommunications companics.
4r Satellites

Our satellitcs operate in the “Ku” and “Ka” band portions of the microwave radio spectrnum used for satcllite communications. The Ko-band
spectrum is split into two segments by the FCC. The 11.7 to 12.2 GHz downlink band, which is the low and medium power portion of the Xu-
band, is known as the Fixed Satellite Service (“FSS™) band. The high power portion of the Ku-band within the 12.2 to 12.7 GHz downlink band
is known as the Broadcast Satellite Service (“BSS”) band, which is also referred to as Direct Broadeast Satellite or the “DBS™ band.

Unlike the DBS spectrum, the FSS spectrum has no predefined frequency plan such that the number and bandwidth of each individual channel
can vary and satellite orbtal locations are routinely as close together as two degrees. In addition, there arc more severe power limitations
placed on FSS spectrum. The result of these differences gencrally means that, while FSS spectrum can be satisfactorily uscd for delivery of
direct to home (“*DTH™) sexvices, it can carry somewhat less capacity and generally requires a slightly larger user antenna or consumer dish to
adequately receive signals from 2 satellite.

Ka-band is 2 higher frequency band than Ku-band and roughly ranges from 18 10 40 GHz. For commercial users, the downlink spectram is
genexally considered to consist of frequencics between 183 — 18.8 GHz and 19.7 - 20.2 GHz. This part of the Ka-band is elso considered to be
FSS spectrum, and therefore Ka-band orbital locations can routinely be as close together as two degrees. The higher frequency and closer
spacing generally make Ka-band spectrum transmissions more sasceptible to various types of signal interference, including interference caused
by min and suow. While scveral companics in the satellite communications industry have business plans for the use of Ka-band spectrum for
video, data and broadband services, the use of Ka-band spectrum for commerial satellite communication services is still in the developmental
stage.

Most of our programming is currcatly transmitted to our customers on DBS frequencies within the Ku-band spectrum. However, we continue
to explore other opportunitics including partnerships and investments to expand our capacity through the use of other available spectrum, such
as FSS services in the Ku and Ka-bands.

Overview of Qur Satellites and FCC Authorizations . Our satellites are Jocated in orbital positions, or slots, that are designated by their
western longitude. An orbital position describes both a physical location and an assignment of spectrum in the applicable frequency band. The
FCC has divided cach DBS orbiral position into 32 frequency channels. Each transponder on our satellites typically exploits one frequency

‘anel. Through digital compression technology, we can currently transmit between ninc and thiricen digital video channels from each
~ensponder. The FCC has licensed us to operate 96 direct broadcast satellit frequencies at various orbital positions including:

+ 21 frequencies at the 119 degrec orbital location and 29 frequencies at the 110 degree orbital location, both capsble of providing
service 1o the entire continental United States (“CONUS"™);

. 11 frequeacies at the 61.5 degree orbital location, capable of providing service to the Eastern and Central United States;
* 32 frequencies at the 148 degree arbital location, capable of providing service to the Western United States; and
+ 3 frequencies at the 157 degree orbital location, capable of providing service to the Western United States.
We also hold licenses or lease capacity on satellites at two FSS arbital locations including:
* 32 frequeacics at the 121 degree orbital location, capable of providing CONUS service; and
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- 24 frequencies at the 105 degree arbital location, currently capable of providing service to approximately 80% of CONUS.

- addition, we were the winning bidder for the remaining 29 DBS frequencies at the 157 degree arbital location at an FCC suction conducted
in July 2004. However, we have not yet been granted the license for these frequencies, and we cannot be certain that the FCC will ultimately
grant us these licenses.

We currently broadcast the majonity of our programming from the 110 and 119 degree locations. The majority of our customers have satellite
receiver systems that are equipped to receive signals from, at lcast, both of these locations.

Satellite Fleet

We presently have twelve owned or leased satellites in geostationary orbit approximately 22,300 miles above the equator. Each of the eight
DBS satellites (EchoStar [ through EchoStar VII) and one FSS Kw/Ka-band satellite (EchaStar IX) we own and operate has a minimum design
life of at least 12 years. Our satellite fleet is a major component of our Echostar DBS System. While we believe that overall our satcllite flect is
in general good health, during 2004 and prior periods, certain satellites within our fleet have experienced various anomalies, some of which
have had a significant adverse impact on their commercial operation.

We currently own a {otal of nine m-orbit satellites.

EchoStar I and II. EchoStar I and I currently operate at the 148 degree orbital location. Each of these Serics 7000 class satellites designed and
meanufactured by Lockheed Martin Corparation, has 16 transpanders that operate at approximately 130 watts of power. While both satellites are
currently fonctioning propezly in orbit, similar Lockheed Series 7000 class satellites owned by third parties have expericneed total in-orbit
faitare. While we currently do not have sufficicnt information available to reach any conclusions gs to whether other satellites of the

Series 7000 class might be at increased risk of suffering a similar malfunction, no telemetry or other data indicates EchoStar I or EchoStar 1t
would be expected to experience a similar failure. EchoStar I and I are each equipped with 24 Traveling Wave Tube Amplifiers (“TWTA™), of
which 16 are required to support the transponders authorized for operation on each satcllite. Prior to 2004, faitures or reduced capabilities on a
single TWTA on each of EchoStar I and II left cach sateflite with 23 usable TWTAs. While we don’t expect a large number of additionat
TWTAS to fuil i any year, it is likely that additional TWTA failures will occur from time to time in the future, and that thosc failures may
impact commercial operation of the satellites, We will continue 10 cvaluate the performance of EchoStar I and EcboStar II a5 new events or
~hanges in circurustances become knowa

EchoStar I EchoSur 111 currently operates at the 61.5 degree orbital location. During January 2004, a TWTA pair on this satellite failed,
resulting in a loss of service on one of our licensed transponders. An additionsl TWTA pair failed in March 2004. Inchuding the seven TWTA
pairs that malfunctioned in prior years, these anomalies bave resulted in the failure of & total of 18 TWTAs on the satellite to date. While
originally designed to operate 2 maxmum of 32 transponders at spproximately 120 watts per channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating
at over 230 watts per channel, the satellite was equipped with a total of 44 TWTAS to provide redundancy. EchoStar Iff can now operatea -
maxinmom of 26 transponders, but due to redundancy switching limitations and specific channel authorizations it currently can only operate on
18 of the 19 FCC authorized frequencies we utilize at the 61.5 degree west orbital location. While we don’t expect  large mumber of additional
TWTAs t fail in any year, it is likely that sdditional TWTA failures will occur from time to time in the future, and that thoee failures will
further impact commercial operation of the satellite. We will comtinte to evatuste the performance of EchoStar II1 as new events or changes in
circumstances become known.

EchoStar IV. EchaStar IV is currently located at the 157 degree arbital location. Prior to 2004, this satellite experienced failures with the
deployment of its solar arrays and with 38 of its 44 transponders (including spares), and further experienced anomalics affecting its thermal
sysicrns and propulsion systems. Several years ago, we filed & $219.3 million insurance claim fora total] loss under the launch insurance
policies covering this satellite, On March 4, 2005, we agreed to settle this claim (sce “Item 3 — Legal Proceedings™). On Scptember 4, 2004,
the south solar array on EchoStar TV deployed fully and appears to be producing nominal current. There can be no assurance that further
material degradation, or total loss of use, of EchoStar IV will not occur in the immediate future. As of December 31, 2003, EchoStar IV was

fully depreciated.
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- EchoStar V. EchoStar V is currently locared at the 119 degree orbital location. This satellite is equipped with & total of 96 solar array strings,

2 of which ere required to assure full power availability for the 12-year design life of the satellitc. Prior to 2004, EchoStar V expenienced

omalics resulting i the Joss of 4 solar array strings. During March 2004, EchoStar V lost an additional solar array string, reducing solar
array powet to approximately 95% of its original capacity. While originally designed to operate & maximum of 32 transponders at
epproximately 110 wans per channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximately 220 watts per channel, the solar array
anomalies may prevent the use of some of those transponders for the full 12-year design life of the satellite. In addition, momentum wheel
anomalics previously experienced resulted in more rapid use of fuel and a corresponding minor reduction of spacecraft life. An investigation of
the anomalies is continuing. Until the root causes are finslly detcrmined, there can be no assurance that fature anomalies will not cause further
losses which could impact commercial operation of the satellite. EchoStar V is not currently carrying any traffic and is being utilized as an in-
orbit spare. We will continuc to cvaluate the performance of EchoSter V as new cvents or changes in circumstances become knowm. Increased
fuel use resulting from commercial operation of the spacecraft or other events and circumstances would require us to reduce the remaining
depreciable life of EchoStar V.

EchoStar V1. EchoStar VI curreatly operates at the 110 degree otbital Jocation. This satcllite has 32 transponders that operate at approximately
120 watts pex channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximately 240 watts per channel. The satellite has a total of
approximately 112 solar array strings and approximately 106 arc required to assure full power availability for the estimated 12-year design life
of the satellite. Prior to 2004, EchoStar V1 lost a total of 3 solar array strings. During April 2004 and again in July 2004, EchoStar VI
experienced anomalies resulting in the loss of two additional solar amay strings, bringing the total number of string lesses to five. An
investigation of the solar array anomaties, none of which have impacted commercial operation of the satellite ar are expected to reduce the
estimated design life of the satellite to less than 12 years, is continuing. Until the roat cause of these snomalies is finally determined, there can
be no assurance future anomalies will not cause further losses which could impect commercial operation of the satellite. We will continue to
evaluate the performance of EchoStar VI as new eveats or changes in circumstances become known.

EchoStar VII. EchoStar VII currently operates at the 119 degree orbital location. This satellite has 32 transponders that operate at
approximately 120 watts per channel, switcheble to 16 transponders opersting at approximately 240 watts per channel. EchoStar VII also
includes spot-beam technology which cnables us to fricrease the number of markets where we provide local channels, but reduces the number
of video channcls that could othcrwise be offered across the entire United States. Each transponder can transmit amultiple digital video, audio
and data channels. During March 2004, our EchoStar VI satellite lost & solar array circuit. EchoStar VII was designed with 24 solar amay
circuits and needs 23 for the spacecraft to be fully operational at end of life. While this anomaly is not expected to reduce the estimated design
life of the satellite to less than 12 years and has not impacted commercis! operation of the satellite to date, an investigation of the anomaly is
continming. Unti! the root causes are finally determined, there can be no assurance future anomalies will not cause further losses which could-
‘pact commercial operation of the satellite. We will continue 10 evaluate the performance of EchoStar VII 2s new eveats or changes in
rcumstances become known.

EchoStar VIIL EchosStar VHI currently operates at the 110 degree orbital location. This satellite has 32 transponders that operste at
approximately 120 watts per channel, switchable to 16 ransponders operating at approximately 240 watts per channel. EchoStar VIII alse
includes spot-beam technology. During June 2004, EchoStar VINI experienced an anomaly which affected operation of one of the primary
gyroscopes on the satellite. A spare gyroscope has been switched in and is performing nominally. EchoStar VIII was originally configured with
three primary, and one spare, gyroscope. Further, an anomaly previously experienced has resulted in certain gyroscopes being utilized for
aggregate periods of time substantially in excess of their originally qualified limits in order to maintain nominal spacecraft operationg and
pointing. An mvestigation is underway to determine the root cause of the anomaly and to develop procedures for continued spacecraft
operation in the event of future gyroscope anomalies. In January 2005, EchoStar VIII experienced a fault within one of the computer
components in the spacecreft control electronics. The system is operating nominslly on one processor with limited backup capacity. An
Investigation is underway to determine the root cause of this anomaly and whether any permanent degradation or loss of redundancy has
occurred. While these anomalies are not expected to reduce the estimated dexign life of the satellite to less than 12 years and have not impacted
conmmercial operation of the satellite to date, until the root causes of the anomalies are determined, there can be no assurance future snomalies
will not cause losses which could impact commercial operation of the satellite.
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* EchoStar VIII is equipped with twa solar arrays which convert soler encrgy into power for the sateflite. Those arrays rotate continaously to
“aintain optimal exposure to the sun. During 2003, EchaStar VIII experienced anomalies that temporarily halted rotation of each solar array.
oth arrays erc currently fully functional, but rotating in a mode recommended by the satellite manufacturer which allows full rotation but is
different than the originally prescribed mode. An investigation of the solar array anomalies, none of which heve impacted commercial
operation of the satellite, is contimuing. Until the root cansc of these anomalies is finally determined, there can be no assurance future
anomalies will not cause losses which could impact commercial operation of the satellite.

During 2003, & single bettery cell on EchoStar VEI exhibited reduced capacity. There arc 72 battery cells on EchoStar VIIT and all loads can be
maintained for the full design life of the satellite with up to two battery cells fully failed. An investigation of the battery cell anomaly, which
has not impacted commercial operation of the satellite, is underway. Until the root cause of the anomaly is determined, there can be no
assurance future anomalies will not cause losses which could impact cammercial operation of the satellite.

We depend on EchoStar VIII to provide local chanmels to over 40 markets until at least such time as our EchoStar X satellite is successfully
launched which is currently expected during the fourth quarter of 2005 (see “ Satellites under Construction ™ below). In the cvent that EchoStar
VI experienced a total or substantial failure, we could transfer many, but not all, of those channels to other in-orbit satellites.

EchoStar IX. EchoStar IX currently operates at the 121 degrec orbital location. This satellite has 32 Ku-band transponders that operate at
appreximately 110 watts per channel, along with transponders that can provide services in Ka-Band (2 “Ka-band payload™). EchoStar IX
provides expasded video and audio channels to DISH Network subscribers who install a specially-designed dish. The Ka-band spectrum is
being used to test and verify potential future broadband initiatives and to implement those services.

‘We currcntly lease a total of three in-orbit satellites.

AMC-2. AMC-2 currently operates at the 105 degree orbital location. This SES Americom FSS satellite is equipped with 24 medinm power
FSS Ku transponders and is nsed primarily to provide local channels by sateflite to DISH Network subscribers who mstall a specially-designed
dish. Our lease of this satellite will continue at least until the AMC-15 satellite discnssed below is placed in service at this location, which is
expected 10 occur during the secand half of 2005.

AMC-15. AMC-15 is currently being relocated to the 113 degrec orbital location and is expected to move to the 105 degree orbital location

Auring the sccond balf of 2005. This SES Americom FSS satellite is equipped with 24 Ku FSS transponders that operate at approximately 120
atts per channel and a Ka FSS payload consisting of 12 spot beams. We could use the capacity on AMC-15 to offer 2 combination of

programming including local network channels in additional markets, together with satellite-delivered high-speed internet services.

AMC-16 . AMC-16 is currently located at the 85 degree orbital location. This SES Americom FSS satellite is virtually identical to AMC-15
and is equipped with 24 Ku FSS transponders that operate al approximately 120 watts per channe! and s Ka FSS payload consisting of 12 spot
‘beamns capable of covering full CONUS. We couid use the capacity on AMC-16 a5 a backup for AMC-15, and could also utilize the satcllite to
offer local network channels in additional markets, together with satellite-dclivered high-speod internset services.

Sasellite Insurance . We currently do not carry insurance for any of our in-orbit satellites. To satisfy insurance covenants related to our 9 3/8%
Scaior Noies duc 2009 and 10 3/8% Scnior Notes duc 2007, we previously classified an amount equal w the depreciated cost of five of our
satellites as cash reserved for satellite insurance on our balance shect. As of December 31, 2003, this amount totaled approximately

$176.8 million. During 2004, we redecmed all of these Notes (See Note 4 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Ttem 15 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K) and are no longer subject to these insurance covenants. Since the indentures for our remaining outstanding
notes do not have covenants requiring satclliie msurance, we reclassified the remaining amount of the reserve to cash and cash equivalents
Guring the fourth quarter of 2004.

We believe we have in-orbil satellite capacity sufficient to expeditiously recover transmission of most programming in the eveat oae of our in-
orbit satellites fails. However, programming continuity cannot be assured in the event of multiple satellite losses.
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. “Several years ago, we filed 8 $219.3 million iusurance claim for a total loss under the launch insurance policies covering our EchoStar IV
“tellite. On March 4, 2005 we agreed to scitle this claim and related claims for accrued interest and bad faith with all carriers who agree to pay
eir proportionate share of an aggregate net amount of $240.0 million. We retained title to and use of the EchoStar IV satellite. See “tem 3 -
Legal Proceedings™ for more information.

Certain Other Risks 1o Quer Sutellites . Meteoroid events pose a potential threat 10 all in-orbit geosynchronous satellites including o DBS
satellites. While the probability that our sateflites will be damaged by meteoroids is very small, that probability increases significantly when the
Earth passes through the particulate stream Icft behind by various comets.

Occasionally, incressed solar activity poses a potential threat to all in-orbit geosynchronous satellites ncluding our direct broadcast satelites.
The probability that the effects from this activity will damage our satellites or cause service interruptions is generally very small

Some decommissioned spacecraft arc in uncoantralled orbits which pass through the geostatianary belt at various points, and present bazards to
opcrational spacecraft inchuding our direct braadcast satellites. The locations of these hazards are generally well known and may require us to
perform mancuvers to avoid collisions.

Satellites under Construction. We have entered nto contracts to construct four new satellites.

«  EchoStar X, a Lockheed Martin A2100 class DBS satellite, is expected to be completed and launched during the fourth quarter of
2005 and will enable berter bandwidth utilization, provide back-up protection for our existing local channel oﬁmng, capacity to
potentially offer local channcls in additional markets and could allow DISH Network to offer other valus-added services.

*  EchoStar XI, a Space Systems/Loral FS1300 class DBS satellite, is expected to be completed during 2007 and is contingent upon,
among other things, finalization of the necessary bankruptcy court approvals. There can be no assurance that these approvals will be
finalized or that the satcliite will ultimately be lennched. EchoStar XI will enable betier bandwidth utilization, provide back-up
protection for our existing offerings, and could allow DISH Network to offer other value-added services.

+  Two additional Lockheed Martin A2100 class spot beam Ka-band satellites are expecied to be completed during 2008 and will
cnable better bandwidth utilization and could allaw DISH Network to offer other valuc-added scrvices including 2-way broadband
and video.

oatellites under Lease. We have also entered into satellite service agreements to lease capacity on two additional satellites under construction.
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*  An SES Americom DBS satellite expected to lsunch during 2006 and commence cornmercial operations at an orbital Jocation to be
determined at a future date. This satellite could be used as additional backup capacity and to offer other value-added services.

. An additional satellite expected to launch during 2006, contingent upon, among other things, obtaining nccessary regulatory
approvals. There can be no assurance that we will obtain these approvals or that the satellite will ultimately be launched. This satellite
could allow DISH Network 1o offer other valuc-added services.

In addition, on January 20, 2005, we agreed to purchase Rainbow 1, 2 DBS satellite located at 61.5 degrees West Longitude, together with the
rights to 11 DBS frequencies at that location (See “Recent Developments”). The transaction is subject to regulatory approval by the FCC and
other regulatory agencies. There can be no assurance that such approval will be obtained.

We are significantly increasing our satellite capacity as & result of the agreements discussed above and other satellite service agreements
currently under negotiation. While we are currently evaluating verious opportunities to make profitable use of this capacity—inchuding, but not
Limited to, launching satellite two-way and wireless broadband, increasing our international programming and other services, and expanding
our local and high definition programming—we do not have firm plans to utilize ail of the additional satellitc capacity we expect to acquire. In
addition, there can be no assurance that we can successfully develop the business opporummes we currently plan to pursue with this additional
capacity. Futare costs associated with this additional capacity will negatively impact our margins if we do not have sufficicnt growth in
subscribers or in demand for new pzognmmmg or services to generate revemuc to offset the costs of this increased capacity.

A3 8 resulr of our recent agreements discussed above, and other satellite service agreements currently under negotistion, we have significantly
imcreased our capacity of satellites and orbital locations. We arc currently cvaluating various opportunmes to make profitable use of tis
capacity, including, but pot limited to, launching satclite two-way and wircless broadband, increasing our intermational programming and other
services, and expanding our local and bigh definition programming. These business opportunitics may not materialize, and accordingly, there
can be no assurance that we will be able to utilize this increased capacity profitsbly.

Components of 2 DBS System

Overview . In order to provide programming services to DISH Network subscribers, we have emtered into agreements with video, andio and
data programmers who gencrally make their programming content available to owr digital broadcast operations centers in Cheyenne, Wyoming
and Gilbert, Arizona, viz commercial satellites or fiber optic actworks. We manitor those signals for quality, and can add promotional
sssages, public service programming, advertising, end other information. Equipment at our digital broadcast operations centers then digitizes,
smpresses, encrypts and combines the signal with other necessary data, such as conditional access information. We then “gplink™ or transmit
the signals to one or more of our satellites and broadcast directly to DISH Network subscribers.

In order to receive DISH Network programming, a subscriber needs:

+  asatellite antenna, which people sometimes refer to as & “dish,” and related components;
*  a“satellite receiver” or “set-top box”; and
- atelevisionset

EcheStar Raczwersﬁau EchoStar reeeiver systems include a small satellite dish, # digital satellite receiver that decrypts and decompresses
signals for television viewing, 2 remote control, and ather related components. We offer 2 number of set-top box models. Our standard system
comes with an infrared universal remote control, an on-screen interactive program guide and V-chip type techuology for pareatal control. Our
premium models include 2 hard disk drive enabling additional features such as digital video recording of up to 210 hours of programming end 2
UHFfinfrared universal remotc. Certain of our standard and premium systems allow independent satellite TV viewing on two scparate
televisions. We also offer & variety of specialized products including high definition television (“HDTV™) receivers. Set-wp ‘baxes
communicate with our authorization ceater throuy\ telephone lines to, among other things, report the purchase of pay-per-view mov1=s and
other cvents. DISH Network reception equipment is incompatible with our competitors’ systems. R

Although we internally design and cngmeu' Our recciver systems, we outsouroe manufwmrmg 10 high-volume contract electromics
manufacturers. Sanmina-SCl Corporation is the primary manufacturer of our receiver systems. JVC and Celotronix USA, Inc. also masufacture
some of our receiver systemns.

‘We depend on a few manufacturers, and it some cases a single manufacturer, for the production of our receivers and many components of our
EchoStar receiver systems that we provide to subscribers. Although there can be no assurance, we do not belicve that the Joss of any single
manufacturer will materially impact our business.

10

‘ ‘
/
v
ca
4 ‘ L\
¥ .
,
1

GSI-—Hg_

e -



Table of Contents

- "Conditional Access System . We use conditional access techmology to encrypt our programming so only those who pay can receive it. We use
~rochips embedded in credit card-sized access cards, called “smart cards,” or in security chips in the satellite receiver, together referred to as

<curity eccess devices,” to control sccess to suthorized programming content. ECC owns 50% of NegraStar L.L.C., @ joint venture that
provides us with security access devices. Nagra USA, a subsidiary of the Kudelski Group, owns the other 50% of NagraStar. NagraStar
purchases these security access devices from NagraCard SA, & Swiss company which is also e subsidisry of the Kudelski Group. These security
access devices, which we can upgrade oves the air or replace periodically, are & key clement in preserving the security of our conditional access
system. When 2 consumer orders a particuler channel, we send & message by satellite that instructs the security access devices to permit
decryption of the programming for viewing by that consumer. The set-top box then decompresses the programming and sends it o the
consumer’s television.

Our signal encryption has been pinated, allowing illegal receipt of our programming, and our sccurity systems could be further compromised in
the future. Theft of our programming reduces furure potential revenue and increases our net subscriber acquisition costs. In addition, theft of
our competitors’ programming can also increase our chum. Compromises of our encryption technology could also adversely affect our ability
to contract for video and audio services provided by programmers. It is illegal to create, sell or otherwise distribute mechanisms or devices 1o
circumvent that encryption. We continue to respond to compromises of our encryption system with security measures intended to make signal
theft of our programming more difficult. To further combat piracy and maintain the functionality of active set-top baxes, we are in the process
of replacing older generation smart cards with newer generation smart cards. We expect to complete the replacement of older generation smart
cards during the scoond half of 2005. However, there can be no assurance that these sccurity measures or any future security measures we may
implement will be effective in reducing piracy of our programming signals.

Jnstallation . While many consumers have the skills necessary to install our equipment in their homes, we belicve that most installations are
best performed by professionals, and that on time, quality installations are important to our success. Consequently, we have expanded our
installation business, which is conducted through our DISH Network Service [.1.C. subsidiary. We use both employees and independent
contractors for professional installations. Independent installess are held to DISH Network Service LI C. service standards to atterapt to
ensure cach DISH Network customer receives the same quality installation and service. Our offices and independent installers are strategically
located throughout the continental United States. Although there can be no assurance, we belicve that our internal installation business helps to
improve quality control, decrease wait time on service calls and new mstallations and helps us better accommodate anticipated subscriber
growth.

Digital Broadcast Operations Centers . Our principal digital broadcast aperations centers are located in Cheyenne, Wyoming and Gilbert,
Jzone. Almost all of the functions necessery to provide satellite-delivered services occur at thosc locations. The digital broadcast operatians
aters use fibex optic lines and downlimk antennas to receive programming and other dats from content providers. For local channels, the

. programming signals are encoded in the originating city and then backhauled via fiber to our principal digital broadcast operation centers.

" Thesc centers then uplink programming content to our direct broadcast satellites. Equipment at our digital broadcast operations centers

performs substantially all compression and encryption of DISH Network’s programming signals. We are also in the process of building several

new mini digital broadcast operations centers that will allow us to better utilize the spot beam capabilities of our satelkites.

Customer Service Centers . We currently operate ten customer service centers ficlding substantially all of our customer service calls. Potential
and cxisting subscribers can call a single telephone number to receive assistance for hardware, programming, billing, instellation and technical
support. We contiue to work to automate simple phonc responses and to increase Internet-based customer assistance in order to better manage
customer service costs and improve the customer’s self-service experience.

Subscriber Management . We presently use, and are dependeat on, CSG Systems International, Inc.'s software system for the majority of
DISH Network subscriber billing and related functions.
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“Competition for our Dish Network Business

we compete in the subscription television service industry against other DBS television providers, cable television and other land-based system
operators offering video, audio and data programming and entertainment services. Many of these competitors have substantially greater
financial, marketing and other resources than we have. Our carnings and other operating metrics could be materially adversely affected if we
are unable to compete successfully with these and other new providers of multi-channel video programming services.

Cable Television . Cable television operators have a large, established customer basc, and many cable operators have significant investments
in, and acoess to, programming. Of the 99% of United States television households in which cable television service was available as of
December 31, 2004, approximately 62% subscribed 1o cable. Cable television operators continue to leverage their advantages relative fo us by,
among other things, bundling their analog video service with expanded digital video services, 2-way high speed internet access, and telephone
services. Cable television operators with analog systems are aiso able to provide service to multiple television sets within the same houschold
at a lesser incremental cost to the consumer, and they are able to provide local and other programming in a larger number of geographic arcas.

Some digital cable platforms currently offer a VOD service that enables subscribers to choose from a library of programming selections for
vicwing at their convenience. We are currently developing our owa VOD service alternative which is expected to be launched in late 2005. We
caunot assure you that our VOD service, when laonched, will be successful in competing with the cable services offering.

DirecTV and other DES and Direct-to-Home System Operators . During December 2003, an affiliate of News Corporation acquired a 34%
comtrolling interest in The DirecTV Group (formerty known as Hughes Electronics Corporation), the owner of DirecTV. News Corporation’s
diverse world-widc satellite, content and other related businesses may provide competitive advantages to DiseoTV with respect to the
acquisition of programming, conteat and other assets valuable to our industry. In addition, DirecTV"s satellite receivers arc seid in 2
significantly greater mumber of cansumer electronics stores than ours. As a result of this and other factors, our scrvices are less well known to
consumers than those of DirecTV. Due to this relative lack of consumer awareness and other factors, we are at 2 competitive marketing
disadvantage compared to DirecTV. We believe DirecTV continues to be in an adventagesus position relative to our company with regard to,
among other things, certain programming packages, and possibly, volume discounts for programming offecs. DirecTV also recently amnounced
phans 1o lannch four ncw satcllites, two of which are expected to be operational in cach of 2005 and 2007, which will be used to offer local and
national high definition programming to most of the U.S. population. If DirecTV implements these plans, we may be at 2 competitive
disadvantage.

addition, during 2004 DirecTV and the National Rural Telecommunications Cooperative (“NRTC”) entered into an agreement which
waminated NRTC's ights to be the exclusive distributor of DirecTV in large portions of the rural United States. As a result of this agreement,
DirecTV is now able to compete directly against us in these temitories, and this could adversely affect our ability to continue to add or retain
rural subscribers.
Other companies in the United States have conditional permits or have launched satellites or Jeased transponders for a comparatively small
number of DBS assignments that can be used to provide subscription satellite services to portions of the United States. These new enwants may
have a competitive advantage over us in deploying some new products and technologies because of the substantial costs we may be required to
incur to make new products o technologics available across our installed base of aver 11 million subscribers.

VHF/UHF Broadcasters . Most areas of the United States can receive traditional terrestrial VHF/UHF television broadcastz of between 3 and
10 chennels. These broadcasters provide local, network and syndicated programming. The local conteat nature of the progremming may be
important to the consumer, and VHF/UHF programming is typically provided free of charge. In additicn, the FCC has allocated additional
digital spectrum to licensed broadcasters. At least during a trapsition period, cach existing television station will be able to retain its present
anslog frequencies and also transmit programming op a digital chammel that may permit multiple programming gervices per channel. Our
business could be adversely affected by continued froe broadcast of local and other programming and increased program offerings by
wraditional broadcasters.

Impact of HDTV . We may be placed at a competitive disadvantage to the extent other multi-chammel video providers arc able w offer more.
programming in high definition than we are. We could be further disadvantaged 1o the extent a significant number of local broadcasters begin
offering local chamnels in high definition, unless we make substantial additional investments in infrastructure to deliver high definition
programming. While we cxpect that we would be ablc to use a portion of our plamned ncrease in satellite capacity to respond to some of these
competitive threats, there can be no assurance that we will be able to effectively compete with high defmition program offcrings from other
video providers.

New Technologies and Competitors. New technologies could also have & material adverse effect on the demand for our DBS services. For
example, we face 8 competitive threat from the build-out of advanced fiber optic networks. Verizon and SBC have recantly begun widespread
deployment of fiber-optic uctworks that could allow them to offer video services directly to millions of homes as carly as 2006. In addition,
*slephone compagies and
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" other entities are also implementing and supporting digital video compression over existing telephone lines and digital “wireless cable™ which
1y allow them to offer video services without having to build » new infrastructore. Morcover, mergers, joint ventures, snd afliances among
. .anchise, wireless or private cable television operators, telephone companies and others may result in providers capable of offering television
services in competition with us. Furthermore, all of these companies may use these existing and new technologics to offer 2 bundle of
television and telecommunications services that may prove to be more competitive than our current offerings. We may not be able to compete
successfully with existing competitors or new entrants i the market for television services.

ECHOSTAR TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

EchoStar Technologics Corporation (“ETC"), onc of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, designs and develops EchoStar receiver systems. Our
satellite receivers have won numerous awards from the Consumer Electromics Manufacturers Association, retailers and industry trade
publications. We outsource the manufacture of EchoStar receiver systems to third parties who manufacture the receivers in accordance with our

The primary purposc of our ETC division is to support the DISH Network. However, in addition to supplying EchoStar receiver systems and
related accessories for the DISH Network, ETC also sells similar digital satellite receivers imtemationally, either directly to television service
operators or to our independent distributors worldwide. This has created a source of additional business for us and synergics that directly
benefit DISH Network. For example, our satcllite receivers are designed around the Digital Video Broadcasting standard, which is widely used
in Europe and Asia. The same employees who design EchoStar receiver systems for the DISH Network are also involved in designing set-top
boxes sold to international TV customers. Consequently, we benefit from the possibility that ETC's international projects may result in
improvemcuts in design and economies of scale in the production of EchoStar receiver systems for the DISH Network.

L]
We believe that direct-to-home satellite service is particularly well-suited for countries without extensive cable infrastructure, and we are
actively soliciting new business for ETC. Howevar, thexe can be no essurance that ETC will be able to develop additional international sales or
maintain its existing business,

Through 2004, our primary international customer wes Bell ExpressVu, & subsidiary of Bell Canada, Canada’s national telephane company.
We currently have centain binding purchase orders from Bell ExpressVu, and we are actively trying to secure new orders from other potential
international customers. However, we cannot guarantee at this time that those negotiations will be successful. Our future international revenue
*-pends largely on the success of these and other international operators, which in tumn, depends on other factors, such as the level of consumer
.. :cptance of direct-to-home satellite TV products and the increasing intensity of competition for intcrnational subscription tclevision
subscribers.

ETC’s business also includes our Atlanta-based EchoStar Data Networks Carporation and our UK -based Eldon Technology Limitcd
subsidiaries. EchoStar Data Networks is a supplier of technology for distributing Internet and other content aver satcllite networks. Eldon
Technology designs and tests various saftware and other technalogy used in digital televisions and sei-lop boxes, swengthening our product
design capabilities for satellite receivers and integreted televisions in both the international and United States markets.

Compctition for Our ETC Business

Through ETC, we compete with a substantial number of foreign and domestic companies, many of which heve significantly greater resources,
finencial or otherwise, than we have. We expect new competitors (o enter this market because of rapidly changing techmology. Our ability to
aticipate these technological changes and introduce cnhanced products expeditiously will be & significant factor in our ability to remain
competitive. We do not know if we will be sble te successfully introduce new products and tectmologies on a timely basis in order to remain
competitive.
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" GOVERNMENT REGULATION

we are subject to comprehensive regulation by the Federal Communications Cammission (“FCC™). We arc also regulsted by other federal
agencics, statc and local authocities and the Intemational Telecommunication Union (“ITU™). Depending upon the circumstances,
noncompliance with legislation or regulations promulgated by these entitics could result in suspension or revocation of our licenses or
authorizations, the termination or loss of contracts or the imposition of contractual damages, civil fines or criminal penalties.

The following summary of regulatery developments and legislation is not intended to describe all preseat and proposed govemment regulation
and legislation affecting the video programming distribution industry. Government regulations that are currently the subject of judicial or
administrative proceedings, legislative hearings or administrative proposals could change our industry to varying degrees. We cammot predict
cither the outcome of these proceedings or any potential inpact they might have oa the industry or on our operations.

FCC Regulation under the Communications Act

FCC Jurisdiction over our Operations. The Communications Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer 1o as the “Commmications Act,” gives
the FCC broad zuthority to regulate the operations of satcllitc companics. Specifically, the Communications Act gives the FCC regulatory
jurisdiction over the following areas relsting to comnmmications satellite operations:

¢  the assignment of satellite radio frequencies and orbital locations;

. licensing of satellites, carth stations, the granting of related authorizations, and evatuation of the fitness of 2 company to be a

«  approval for the relocation of satellites to different orbital locations or the replacement of an existing satellite with a new satellite;

- casuring compliance with the terms and conditions of such assignments and suthorizations, including required timetables for
construction and aperation of satellites and other duc diligence requircments;

»  avoiding interference with other radio frequency emitters; and

»  cnsuring complience with other applicable provisions of the Communications Act and FCC rules and regulations governing the
operations of satellitc communications providers and multi-channel video distributors.

In order to obtain FCC satellite licenses and authorizations, communication satellite operators must satisfy strict legal, technical and financial
qualification requircments. Once issued, these licenses and authorizations are subject to a aumber of conditions including, among other things,
satisfaction of ongoing due diligence obligations, construction milestones, and various reporting requircmaents.

Our Basic DBS Frequency Licenses and Authorizations. Most of our programming is transmitted to our customers on frequencies _in the 122
1o 12.7 GHz range, which we refer to 8s the “DBS” frequencics. We are Ticensed or authorized by the FCC to operste DBS frzquencies at the
following orbital locations:

. 11 frequencies at the 61.5 degree orbital location;

. 29 frequencics at the 110 degree arbital location;

» 21 frequencies at the 119 depree orbital location;

32 frequencics st the 148 degree otbital location; and
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= 3 frequencics at the 157 degree orbital location.

" «ealso sublease six transponders (corresponding 1o six frequencies) at the 61.5 degree orbital location from licensee Dominion Video
Satellite, Inc. In addition, we were the winning bidder for the remaining 29 DBS frequencics at the 157 degrec orbital location at an FCC
euction conducted in July 2004. However, we have not yet been granted the ficense for these frequencies. We have also applied for a transfer of
the 11 DBS frequencies at the 61.5 location currently owned by Rainbow based on our recent agreement to purchase the Rainbow 1 satellitc
and related assets, see “Recent Developments.” We cannot be certain that the FCC will ultimately grant us the licenses for the additional
frequencies at 61.5 or 157.

Duraton of our Satellite Licenses and Authorizations. Generally speaking, all of our satellite licenses are subject to expiration unless renswed
by the FCC. While under a recent FCC rulemaking the term of certain satellite licenses has been extended from 10 to 15 years, the term of DBS
liccnses remains at 10 years; our licenses ere currently set to expire at various times starting as early as 2006. In addition, cur special temporary
authorizations are granted for periods of only 180 days or less, subject again 10 possible renewal by the FCC.

Opposition and other Risks to our Licenses and Authorizations, Several third partics have opposed, and we expect them to continue to
opposc, some of our FCC satellite authorizations and pending requests to the FCC for extensions, modifications, waivers and approvals of our
licenses. In addition, we may not have fully complicd with &Il of the FCC reporting and filing requirements in connection with our satellite
suthorizations. Because of this opposition and our failare to comply with certain requirements of our authorizations, it is possible the FCC
could revoke, terminate, condition or decline to extend or renew certain of our authorizations or licenscs.

Our FSS Licenses . In addition to our DBS licenses and suthorizations, we have received conditional licenses from the FCC to operatc FSS
satellites in the K2-band and the Ku-band, including licenses to operate EchoStar IX (» hybrid Ka/Ku-band sateflite) at the 121 degree orbil
location. In addition, EchoStar holds Ka-band liceases at the 97, 113 and 117 degree orbital locations, and extended Ku-band ficenscs at the
109 and 121 degree orbital locations. Use of these licenses and conditional authorizations is subject to certain technical and due diligence
requirements, including the requirement to construct and launch sateflites according to specific milestones and deadlines. Our projects 1o
construct and lavnch Ku-band, extended Ku-band and Xa-bend satellites are in various stages of development.

Risks to our Ku-Band and Ku-Band Authorizations. Our Ka-band license at the 121 degree orbital focations allow us te use anly 500 MHz of
Ka-band spectrum in each direction, while centain other licensees bave been authorized to use 1000 MHz in each direction. Our Ka-band
Veenses at the 97, 113 and 117 degree orbital locations are for the full 1000 MHz in cach direction. With respect to these latter Ka-band

enses, the FCC requires constrction, launch and operation of the satellites to be completed by December 2008, October 2009, and
smarch 2009, respectively. We recently submitted satellite construction contracts to the FCC for the proposed Ka-band satcllites at the 97 and
117 degree orbital locations. We cannot be sure that the FCC will rule that the contracts we submitted comply with their first construction
milestone requirements. Moreover, {TU deadlines require Ka-band satellites to be operating at the 97, 113 and 117 degree orbital locations by
Junc of 2005. For our extended Ku-band satellites at the 109 and 121 degree orbital locations, the FCC requires construction, launch and
operation of the satellites to be completed by September 2009. There can be no assurance that we will develop acceptable plans to meet all of
these deadlines, or that we will be able to utilize any of these orbital slots.

Recent FCC Rulemaking Affecting our Licenses and Applications. The FCC changed its system for processing applications to a “first-come,
first-served” process. Since that change became effective, we have filed or refiled, and have pending before the FCC, new applications for as
roany es ninc satellites in several different frequency bands. Several of our direct or indirect competitors have filed petitions to deny or dismiss
certain of our pending applications or have requested that conditions be placed on authorizations we requested. We reccived conditional Ka-
band licenses for the 97, 113 and 117 degree orbital locations, and extended Ku-bend licenses for the 109 and 121 degrec orbital locations,
while g number of our other applications have been denied or dismissed without prejudice by the FCC. We cannot be sure that the FCC will
grant any of our cutstanding upplications, or that the euthorizations, if granted, will not be subject to onerous conditions. Mareover, the cost of
building, launching and insuring e satellite can be as much as $250.0 million or more, and we cannot be sure that we will be able to construct
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*and Jmmch all of the satellites for which we bave requested authorizations- The FCC bas also imposcd a $3.0 million (previously $5.0 million)
ud requirement for all future satellite licenses, which would be forfeited by a liccusce that docs not meet its diligence milestones for s
_ ticular satellite. We have provided the FCC with letters of credit, collateralized by approximately $15 million of our restricted cash and
marketable investment sccurities, to satisfy this requirement for all of our Ka-band and extended Ku-band licenses.

New Satellite License Auction Proceedings . The FCC has proposed to auction licenses for two DBS frequencies at the 61.5 degree orbital
location. On December 27, 2004, the FCC ruled that DBS providers that hold DBS licenses at orbital locations capable of serving the eatire
continental United States (imchuding EchoStar) would not be eligible to bid for the license for the two frequencies at the 61.5 degree orbital
location, and would not be qualified to acquire that licznse for 2 period of four years following grant. While this raling pertains to different
DBS channeis than the 11 chamnels that we have sought to scquire from Rainbow (as previously discussed), we cannot be surc that this ruling
will not adversely affect the FCC's disposition of our application for assignment of the 11 channels to us.

Expansion DBS Spectrum . The FCC has also allocated additional expansion spectrum for DBS services commencing in 2007. This could
create significant additional competition in the market for subscription television services. We filed applications for this additional spectrum
during March 2002 but cannot predict whether the FCC will grant these applications.

Other Services in the DBS band . The FCC has also adopied rules that allow non-geostationary orbit fixed satellite services to operate on a co-
primary besis in the same frequency band s direct broadeast satellitc and Ku-bsnd-based fixed satellite services. In the same rulemeking, the
FCC authorized usc of the DBS spectrum that we use by terrestrial communication services and it auctioned licenses for these terrestrial
services during January 2004, There cant be no assurance that operations by non-geostationary orbit fixed satelfite services or terrestrial
communication services in the DBS band will not interfere with our DBS operations and adversely affect our business.

Proposals to allow 4.5 Degree Spacing. During April 2002, SES Americom, Inc. requested e declaratory ruling that it is in the public interest
for SES Americom to offer satellite capscity for third party direct-to-bome services to consumers in the United Statcs and certain British
Overseas Teritories in the Caribbean. SES Americom proposes to employ a satellite licensed by the Government of Gibraltar to operate in the
same uplink and downlink frequency bands as us, from an orbital position located in between two arbital locations where EchoStar and
DirecTV have already positioned satellites. DirecTV, which opposes SES’s petition, has itself filed 8 petition for rulemaking for standards to
permit such 4.5 degree spacing. On January 23, 2004, we filed comments in respanse to DirecTV's petition for rulemaking. The possibility that
the FCC will allow service to the U.S. from closer-spaced DBS slots may permit additional competition against us from othcr DBS providers.

mpetition for Canadian Orbital STots. DirecTV requested and obtained FCC authority to provide service to the United States from 2
—anadian DBS orbital slot. We have also requested authority to do the same from the Canadian DBS orbital slot at 329 degrees and an FSS
orbital slot at 118.7 degrees. The possibility that the FCC will allow service to the U.S. from foreign slots mey permit additional competition
against us from other DBS providers.

Rules Relating to Alaska and Hawail . The holders of DBS suthorizations issued afier Jarmary 19, 1996 must provide DBS service to Alaska
and Hawaii if such service is techmically feasible from the authorized orbital location. Our authorizations at the 110 degree, 148 degree end 157
degree orbital locations were received after January 19, 1996. While we provide service to Alaska and Hawaii from both the 110 and 119
degree orbital locations, those states have expressed the view that our service should more clogely resemble our scrvice to the mainland United
States and otherwise needs improvement. Purthes, the satellites we curreatly operate at the 148 and 157 degree orbital locations are not able to
provide service to Alaska and/or Hawaii. We received temporary conditional waivers of the service requirement for both the 148 and 157
degree orbital locations. However, the FCC could revoke these weivers at any time.

The FCC has also conchuded & rulemaking which seeks to streamline and revise its rules goveming DBS operatars. In connection with this
rulemaking, the FCC clarified its geographic service requircments to introduce 8 requirement that we provide programming packages to
residents of Hawaii and Alasks that are “reasonably comparable™ o what
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+ e offer in the contiguous 48 states. We cannot be sure that this requirement will not affect us adversely by requiring us to devote edditional
sources to scrving these two states.

Other Communications Act Previsions

Rules Relating to Broadcast Services. The FCC imposcs differeat rules for “subscription” and “broadcast”™ scrvices. We belicve that becanse
we offer a subscription programming service, we are not subject to many of the regulatory obligations imposed upon broadcast licensees,
However, we cannot be certain whether the FOC will find in the future that we must comply with regulatory obligations as a broadcast Heensee,
and certein partics bave requested that we be treated as a broadcaster. If the FCC determines that we are a broadcast icensee, it cauld require us
to comply with all regulatory obligations imposed upon broadcast licensees, which are generally subject to more burdensome regutation than
subscription television service providers.

Public Interest Reguirements. Under a requirement of the Cable Act, the FCC imposed public interest requirements on DBS licensees. These
rules require us to sct aside four percent of our chauned capacity exclusively for noncommercial programming for which we must charge
programmers below-cost rates and for which we may not impose additional charges on subscribers. This could displace programming for
which we could eam commercial rates and could adversely affect our financial results. The FCC bas generally not reviewed all aspects of our
methodology for processing public interest carriage requests, computing the chanme! capacity we must set aside or determining the rates that we
charge public interest programmers. We cannot be sure that if the PCC were to review these methodologies it would find them in compliance
with the public interest requirements.

Moreover, certain parties have challenged certain aspects of our methodology for processing public interest camriage requests in 2 pending
proceeding, and we received a lester from the FCC's Enforcement Bureau regarding these issues. We cannot be sure that the Commission will
not take enforccment action against us, which may result in fines and/or changes to our methodology for compliance with these rules. The
FCC'’z Enforcement Bureau is also investigating the public interest qualifications of a programmer that at one time occupied a chamnel of
public interest capacity on our system.

Other Open Access Reguirements. The FCC bas also commenced an open access proceeding regarding distribution of high-speed Internet
access scrvices and interactive television services. We cannot be sure that the FCC will not ultimately impose open access obligations on us,
which could be very onerous, and could create a significant strain on our capacity and ability to provide ather services.

ag end Play and Broadcast Flag. The FCC adopted the so-called “plug and play” standard for compatibility between digital television sets
and cable systems. That standard was developed through negotiations involving the cable and consumer electronics industries, but not us, and
we are concerned that it may imposc certain onerous “encoding rules™ on all mmltichanne! video programming distributors, including us, and
that the standard and its implementation process favor cable systems. We have filed a petition for review of the FCC’s “plug and play” order
with the fedmlerloprpcalsforth:DimistofCulumthircuitnnvuimngm\mds,bmwe cannot be sure that the court will not uphold
the FCC’s decision. The FCC also adopted the “broadcast flag” method for copy-protecting content broadcast digitally over the air. The cable
industry has requested thateatm'nrequixunenlsesmhliuhedbyﬂscFCCnlsncxtmdeBSsct—topboxu. It is too carly to fully asscss the risks
to us from the adoption of these standards and the possible extension of these requirements to DBS boxes.

Emergency Alert System. The FCC recently initiated a rulemaking secking comments on whether its rules that require broadcasters and cable
Operators 1o ransmit emergency alert messages should be extended to other distributars, such as DBS operators. We currently do not have the
capability of receiving, processing or relaying alerts from fhe 550 emergency alert system arcas back into those areas, and the difficulties of
obraining this capability are likely insurmountable. Bven if technically feasible, such capability would likely require costly and substantial
modifications 1o our system or to our subscriber set-top boxes.

The Satellite Home Viewer Improvement Act and Satellite Home Viewer Extension and Reauthorization Act

Retransmission of Distant Networks. The Copyright Act, as amended by the Satelhte Home Viewer Improvement Act, or “SHVIA,” permits
satellite retransmission of distant network channels only to “unserved households.™ An
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" example of a distant station retransmission is a Los Angeles network station retransmitted by satellite to a subscriber outside of Los Angeles.
“wt subscriber qualifies as an “unserved household™ if be or she cannot receive, over the air, a signal of sufficient intensity (“Grade B”
.atensity) from a local stetion affiliated with the same network.

SHVIA has also established a process whereby consumers predicted to be served by a local station may request that that station waive the
mnserved houschold limitation so thet the requesting consumer may receive distant signals by satellite. If the waiver request is denied, SHVIA
entitles the consumer to request an actual test, with the cost to be bome by either the satellite carrier (such as us), the broadcast station, or the
consumer. The testing process required by the statute can be very costly.

In addition, SHVIA has affected and continues to affect us adversely in several other respects. The legislation prohibits us from carrying more
than two distant signals for cach broadcasting nctwork and leaves the FCC’s Grade B inteasity standard unchanged without futiure legislation.
The FCC recently rejected our petition for recansideration of its mcthodology for predicting whether a particular household is served by 2
signal of Grade B intensity. While we have filed a petition for federal appellate review of the FCC's action we cannot be sure that the court will
not uphold the FCC’s decision. The FCC rules mandated by SHVIA also require us to delete substantial programming (including sports
programming) from these signals. Although we have irmplemented certaim measures in onder to comply with these rules, these requirements
have significantly hampered, and may firther hamper, our ability to retransmit distant network and superstation signals. The burdens the rules
imposc upon us may become 30 oncrous that we may be required to substantially alter, or stop retrancmitting some programruing chancls. In
addition, the FCC's sports blackout requirements, which apply to all distant network signals, may require costly upgrades to our system.

On December 8, 2004, Congress passed the Satsllite Home Viewer Extension and Reauthorization Act, ar “SHVERA.™ SHVERA cxtends our
legzl authority to retransmit distant stations under SHVIA to December 31, 2009, but imposes new and complex restrictions o that anthonty.
In gencral, we will 10 longer be able to offer distant network stations 1o new subscribers in markets in which we offer local network stations. In
addition, our ability to retransmit distant digital uetwork stations today depends on whether a houschold is unserved by the analog signal of the
Iocal network station. While the statute gives us the ability to engage in signal strength testing to determine whether a household can receive
the digital signal of the local network station, this ability does not commence until at least April 30, 2006 or July 15, 2007 (depending on the
market and whether extensions are granted), and is also subject to certain restrictions. It is too early to fully assess all of the implications of
SHVERA for our retransimissions of distant network stations.

SHVERA also amended the royalty provisions applicablc to our retransmission of distant netwark channels and superstations. While the initial
royalty rate specified in SHVERA for analog distant network and superstation signals is that in effect on July 1, 2004, SHVERA has increased

~ initial rate for digital station retransmissions. In addition, SHVERA provides that these rates may be modificd by voluntary negotistion or
..rough arbitration initiated by the Librarian of Congress if no voluntary agreement is reached. While we have reached & conditional agreement
with certain (but not all) copyright owners, we may be required to submit to arbitration to obtain agreements with others, and there is & risk we
may be required to pay significantly higher royalty rates for these distant stations 2s a result.

While SHVERA gives us the sbility that cable operators already have to also import into a local market certain stations from nughbormg
markets that are deemed “significantly viewed” in the local market, that ability is subject to 8 number of restrictians, including the requirement
of receiving retransmission consent and the prohibition on importing a digital signal of better resolution than the local digitel network station
that we carry.

Oppesition ta Our Delivery of Distant Signals. See “Ttem 3 — Legal Proceedings — Distant Network Litigation” for information regarding
opposition to our delivery of distant signals.

Retransmission of Local Networks. SHV1A generally gives satellite companics s statutory copyright license to retransmit local broadcast
channels by satellite back into the market from which they originated, subject to obtaining the retransmission consent of the local network
station. 1f we fail to reach retransmissian coasent agreements with broadcasters we canmot carry their signals. This could have en sdverse effect
on our strategy fo compete with cable and other satellite companies which provide local signals. While we have been able to reach
retransmission consent agreements with most local network stations in markets where we curreatly offer local channels by satellite, roll-out
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- -~ of local channels in additional cities will require that we obtain additional retransmission agreements. We cannok be sure that we will secure
=s¢ agrecments or that we will secure new agreements upon the cxpiration of our current retransmission consent agreements, some of which
.¢ short term.

“Must Carry™ and Other Requirements. SHVIA also imposed “must carry” requircments on DBS providers and the FCC bas adopted detailed
“must carry” yules. These rules generally require that satellite distributors carry all the local broadcast stations requesting carriage in a timely
and appropriate manner in arcas where they choose to offer local programming, not just the four major networks. Since we have limited
capacity, the number of markets in which we can offer local programming is reduced by the “must carry” requircments. The must carry
legislation also includes provisions which could expose us to material monetary penalties, and permanent prohibitions on the sale of 21l local
and distant petwork channels, based on inadvertent violations of the legislation, prior law, or the FCC rules.

Several “must carry” complaints by broadcasters against us are pending at the FCC. The FCC has ruled against us in certain of these
proceedings, and we cannot be sure that the FCC will rule in our favor in other peading or future proceedings. Adverse rulings could result ina
decrease in the number of local arcas where we can offer local network programming. This in tumn could increase chum in those markess and
prechude us from offering local network channels in new markets, thereby reducing oor competitiveness.

Also, SHVERA requires, among other things, that all local broadeast channels delivered by satellite to any particular market be available from
a single dish within 18 months of the Jaw’s December 8, 2004 effective date. Because we had planned to transition all local channcls in any
particular market 1o the same dish by 2008 rather than in the shorter transition period mandated by SHVERA, satzllite capacity limitations may
force us to move the local channcls in as many &s 30 markets to different satellites, requiring subscribers in those markets to install & second or
a different dish w continue receiving their local network channels. We may be forced to stap offering local channels in some of those markets
altogether.

The transition of all local channels to the same dish could result in disruptions of service for a substantial sumber of our customers, and our
ability to timely comply with this requirement without incurring significant sdditional costs is dependent on, among other things, the successful
launch and opcration of one or more additional satellites. It is possible that the costs of compliance with this requirement could exceed

$100.0 million. To the extent sorue of those costs are passed on 1o our subscriberg, and because many subscribers may be unwilling to install a
second dish where one had been adequate, we expect that our subseriber churn could be negatively impacted.

Tn the meantime, e cannot be surc that the FCC will not interpret of implemeat its existing rules in such a manser as to inbibit our use of &
e o-dish solution to comply with the “must carry” requirements. The National Association of Broadcasters and Association of Local Television

. otations filed an emergency petition during 2002 asking the FCC to modify or clarify its rules to prohibit or hamper our compliance plan. I
response, during April 2002, a burean of the FCC issued 2 declaratory ruling and order finding that our complisnce plan violated certain
provisions of SHVIA end the FCC's “must carry” regulations. Challenges to the April 2002 order have been filed by various parties, including
onc by us, and are preseatly pending. During April 2002, the burcau also issued an order granting in part numerous complaints filed against us
by individual broadcast stations that claimed violations of the “must carry™ requirements similar 1o those addressed in the prior April 2002
order. Depending upon the ultimate outcome of these proceedings (including the extent to which our compliance reports are accepted), further
arders by & bureau of the FCC or by the FCC itscif could result in a decrease in the number of local arcas where we will offer local network
programming until new satellites ere launched. This, in turn, could significantly increase the churn of subscribers in those areas where local
network progremming is no ionger offered and impair our ability-to gain new subscribers in those areas, which could materially adversely
affect our financial performance. We could also be exposed to damage claims if we are found by any court to have violated the “must carry”
requirements, which could have a material adverse affect on our financial position.

In addition, while the FCC has decided for now not to impose on satellite carriers “must camry” fot high definition television stations or dual
digitml/analog or muhticast carriage obligatione - .., additional requir in ction with the carriage of digital television stations thas
g0 beyond carriage of one video signal (whether anslog or standard definition digital) for cach station — the FCC still has peading rulemaking
proceedings on these matters. While the FCC recently ruled against dual and multicast carriage for cable companies, we cannot be certain that
this decision will be upheld on review, that there will not be legislation overturning it, oc that it will be applied 10 satellite camriers. In addition,
certain parties have continued to urge the FCC to require satellite HDTV must-cary,
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" These procecdings may result in further, even more onerous, digital carriage requirements. HDTV must-carry would likely require us to reduce
* number of markets that we are otherwise ahle to serve with local stations in order to carry multiple signals for local stations in the markets
.at we would continue to serve.

Dependence on Cable Act for Program Access

We purchase a substantial percentage of our programming from cable-affiliated programmers. The Cable Act’s provisions prohibiting
exclusive contracting practices with cable affiliated programmers have been extended from October 2002 to Qctober 2007, but this extension
could be reversed. Upon expiration of those provisions, many popular programs may become unavailable to us, causing a loss of customers and
adversely affecting our revenues and financial performance. Any change i the Cable Act and the FCCs rules that permit the cable industry or .
cable-affilisted programmers to discriminate against competing businesses, such as ours, in the ssle of programming could adverscly affect our
ability to acquire programmiing at all or to 2cquire programming on a cost-effective basis. We believe that the FCC gencrally has not shown a
willingness to enforce the program access rules aggressively. As a result, we may be limited in our ability to obtain access (or
nondiscriminatory access) 1o programming from programmers that are affiliated with the cable system operstors.

Affilintes of certain cable providers have denied us access to sports programming they feed to their cable systcms terrestrially, rather than by
satellite. To the extent that cable opcrators deliver additional programming terrestrially in the future, they may assert that this additional
programming is also cxempt from the program access laws. Thesc restrictions on our aceess to programming could materially adverscly affect
our ability to compete in regions serviced by these cable providers.

The Iaternational Telecommunication Usnion

Ou DBS system also must conform to the International Telecommunication Union, or “ITU,” broadcasting satellite service plan. If any of our
operations are not consistent with this plan, the ITU will only provide authorization on 2 non-interference basis pending successfol
modification of the plan or the agreement of all affected administrations to the non-conforming operations_ Accordingly, unless and until the
ITU modifies its broadcasting satellite service plan ¢o include the technical parameters of DBS applicants” operations, our satellites, along with
those of other DBS opcrators, must not cause harmful electrical interference with other assignments that are in conformance with the plan.
Further, DBS satelfites are not presently entitled to any protection from other satellites that arc in conformance with the plan The United States
government has filed modification requests with the ITU for EchoStars | through VIIL The ITU bas requested certain technical information in
arder to process the requested modifications. We have cooperated, and continue to cooperate, with the FCC in the preparation of its responses
the ITU requests. We cannot predict when the ITU will act upon these requests for modification or if they will be made.

Export Control Regulstion

We are required 10 obtain import and general destination export licenses from the United States government 1o receive and deliver components
of direct-to-home satellile TV systems. In addition, the delivery of satellites and related technical information far the purpose of launch by
foreign launch services providers is subject to strict export control and prior approval requirements.

PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS

Many entities, inctuding some of our compctitors, have or may in the future obtain patents and other inteliectual property rights that cover or
affect products or services related to thosc that we offer. In general, if a court determines that one or rare of our products infringes on
intellectual property held by others, we may be required to cease developing or marketing those products, to obtsin liccases from the bolders of
the inteliectual property, or to redesiga those products in such a way a8 to avoid infringing the pateat claims. If those inteliectual propesty rights
are held by a competitor, we may be unable to obtain the intellectual property at any price, which could adversely affect our competitive
position.

We may not be aware of all intellectual property rights that our products may potentially infringe. In addition, patent applications in the United
States are confidential until the Patent and Trademark Office issves a patent and,
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" accordingly, our products may infringe claims contained in pending pateat applications of which we are not aware. Further, the process of
stermining definitively whether a clafm of infringement is vabd ofien involves expensive and protracted litigation, even if we are ultimately
_accessful on the merits.

We cannot estimate the extent to which we may be required in the fature to obtain intellectusl propenty licenses or the availsbility and cost of
any such licenses. Those costs, and their impact on our et income, could be material. Damages in patent infringement cases may also include
treble damages in certain circumstances. To the extent that we are required to pay unenticipated royeltics to third partics, these increased costs
of doing business could negatively affect our liquidity and operating results. We arc currently defending patent infringement actions. We

- cannot be certain the courts will conclude these companies do not own the rights they claim, that oor products do not infringe om these rights,

that we would be able to obtain licenses from these persons on commercially reasonable terms or, if we were unable to obtain such liccoses,
that we would be able to redesign our products to avoid infringement. See “lem 3 — Legal Proceedings.”

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

We arc subject to the requirements of fedexal, state, local and foreign environmental and occupationat safety and health laws and regulations.
These include laws regulating air emissions, water discharge and waste management. We antempt 10 maintain complience with all such
requirements. We do not expect capital or other expenditures for environmentsl compliance to be material in 2005 or 2006. Environmental
requircments arc coraplex, change frequently and have become more stringent over time. Accordingly, we cannot provide sssurance that these
requirements will not change or become more stringent in the future in a manner that could have a material adverse effect on our busincss.

SEGMENT REPORTING DATA AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA

For operating scgment and principal geographic arca data for 2004, 2003 and 2002 see Note 10 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in Kem 15 of this Annual Report on Farm 10-K_

EMPLOYEES

We had approximately 20,000 employees at December 31, 2004, most of whom are located in the United States. We gencrally consider
relations with our employees to be good.

. Jthwgh a total of spproximately 40 eraployees in one of our field offices have voted to unionize, we are not currently a party to any collective
bargaining agreements. However, we are currently negotiating a collective bargaining agreement at this office.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

+/¢ gre subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and accordingly file our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™).
The Public may rcad and copy auy materials filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC
20549. Please call the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for further information on the Public Reference Room. As an clectronic filer, our public filings
are also mamtaincd on the SEC’s Internet site that containg reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers
that file clectronically with the SEC. The address of that websitc is http:/fwww.scc.gov.

WEBSITE ACCESS

Our ammuad report on Form 10K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 3-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act also may be accessed free of charge through our website as sooa as
reasonably practicable after we have electromically filed such material with, or fumished it to, the SEC. The sddress of that website is

‘We bave adopted a written code of ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and employces, including our principal executive officer
and senior financial officers, in accordance with Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission promulgated thereunder. Our code of ethics is available on our corporate website at www echostar.com . In the event that we
make changes in, or provide waivers of| the provisions of this code of cthics that the SEC requires us to disclose, we intead to disclose these
events on our website.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
(furnisbed in accordance with Item 401 (b) of Regulation S-K, pursuant ta General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K)

The following table sets forth the name, ege and offices with EchoStar of each of our executive officers, the period during which each
exccutive officer has served as such, and each executive officer”s business experience during the past five years:

Nauoe Ape Position
Therles W, Ergen 52 Cheirman, Chicf Executive Officer and Director

. Nolan Daines 45 Executive Vice President, Information Technology and Broadband
sames DeFranco 52 Excecutive Vice President and Director
Mark W._ Jackson 44 President, EchoStar Teclinologies Corporation
Michae! Kelly 43 Exccutive Vice President, DISH Network Service L.L.C. and Customer

Service Operations )

David K. Moskowitz 46 Exccutive Vice President, General Counsel, Sccretary and Director
David J. Rayner 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Steven B. Schaver 51 President, EchoStar Intcrnational Corporation
Michael Schwimmer 44 Bxecutive Vice President, Programming and Marketing

Charles W. Ergen. M. Exgen has been Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of EchoStar since its formation and,
during the past five years, has held various executive officer and director positions with EchoStar’s subsidiaries. Mr. Ergen, along with his
spousc and James DeFranco, was a co-founder of EchoStar in 1980.

O. Nolan Daines. Mr. Daines is the Executive Vice President of Information Tectmology and Broadband and is curreatly responsible for
EchoStar's broadband initiatives including strategic alliances with tejecomnmumication partners. Mr. Daines joied EchoStar as Senior Vice
President in September 2002. He served on EchoStar’s Board of Directors and its Audit Committee from March 1998 until September 2002. In
addition, until May 2002, Mr. Daines served as a member of EchoStar's Executive Compensation Committee. In 1993, Mr. Daincs founded
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" DiviCom, Inc., where he held various executive officer positions from the formation of DiviCom until October 1999.

+* wames DeFranco. Mr. DeFanco, carrently the Executive Vice President of EchoStar, has been a Vice President and a Director of EchoStar

since its formation and, during the past five years, has held various executive officer and director positions with EchoStar’s subsidiaries.
Mr. DeFranco, along with Mr. Ergen and Mr. Ergen’s spouse, was a co-founder of EchoStar in 1980.

Mark . Jackson. M. Jackson is the President of EchoStar Technalogies Corporatian. Mr. Jackson served as Sesior Viee President of
EchoStar Technologies Corporation from April 2000 undl June 2004 and as Senior Vice President of Satellite Services from December 1997
until April 2000. z

Michael Kelly. Mr. Kelly is the Exccutive Vice President of DISH Network Service LL.C. and Customer Scrvice Operations. Mr. Kelly served
as Senior Vice President of DISH Network Service L.L.C. from March 2001 until February 2004 and as Senior Vice President of International
Programming from March 2000 until March 2001. Mr, Kelly joined EchoStar in March 2000 following EchoStar’s acquisition of Kelty
Broadcasting Systems, Inc. From January 1991 until March 2000, Mr. Kelly scrved as President of Kelly Broadcasting Systems, Inc. where he
was respansible for all components of the business, including operations, finance, and international and domestic business development.

David K. Moskowitz. Mr. Moskowitz is the Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel of EchoStar. Mr. Moskowitz joined
EchoStar in March 19%0. He was clected to EchoStar’s Board of Directors during 1998. Mr. Moskawitz is responsibie for all legal affairs and
certain business functions for EchoStar and its subsidiaries.

David J. Rayner. Mr. Reyner is the Executive Vice President and Chicf Financial Officer of EchoSter. Mr. Rayner is responsible for all
accounting and finance functions of the Company. Prior to joining EchoStar, Mr. Rayner served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Time Wammer Telecom from June 1998 to December 2004. During his time with Time Wamner Telecom, Mr. Rayner served as Vice
President — Finance from February 1997 to May 1998 and was Controller from May 1994 to February 1997. From 1982 to 1994, Mr. Rayner
held various financial and operational management positions with Time Wamer Cable.

Steven B. Schaver Mr. Schaver was named President of EchoStar International-Corporation in April 2000. Mr. Schaver served as EchoStar’s
Chief Financial Officer from February 1996 through August 2000 and served as EchoStar's Chief Operating Officer from November 1996 mntit
April 2000.

schael Schwimmer. Mr. Schwinumer is the Exccutive Vics Presideat of Programming and Marketing. Mr. Schwirmez served as Senior Vice

President of Programming from February 2602 to June 2004 and es Vice President of Programming from July 1997 to Febrnary 2002.

There are no arrangements or understandings between any cxecutive officer and any other person pursuant to which any exccutive officer was
selected as such. Pursuant to the Bylaws of EchoStar, executive officers serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
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” Item 2. PROPERTIES

rhe following table sets forth certain information conceming owr principal propertics:

Description/Use/L i

Corporate headquarters, Englewood, Colorado

EchoStar Technologies Corporation engineering offices and sexvice center, Eaglewood, Colorado
EchoStar Technologies Corporation enginecring offices, Englewood, Colorado
Digital broadcast operations center, Cheyenne, Wyoming

Digital broadcast operations center, Gilbert, Arizona

Customer call center and data cemer, Littleton, Colorado

Customer call center, warchouse and service center, El Paso, Texas
Customer call center, McKeesport, Pennsylvania

Customer call center, Christiansburg, Virginia

Customer call center and general offices, Tulsa, Okishoma
Customer call center and gencral offices, Pinc Brook, New Jersey
Customer call center, Thornton, Colorade

Customer call center, Harlingen, Texas

Customer call center, Blucficld, West Virginia

Warchouse, distribution and service center, Atlanta, Georgia
Warchouse and distribution center, Denver, Colorado

Warchouse and distribution center, Sacramento, California
Warchouse and distribution center, Dallas, Texas

Warchouse and distribution center, Chicago, Illinois

Warehouse and distribution ceater, Denver, Colorado

Warchouse and distribution center, Baitimore, Maryland
Engineering offices and warchousc, Almelo, The Nctherlands

DISH Network
DISH Netwark
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
DISH Network
All Other

Approximate
Square
Fuotepe

476,000
150,000
63,000
123,000
120,000
202,000
171,000
106,000
103,000
78,500
67,000
55,000
54,000
50,000
144,000
163,000
£2,000
80,000
48,000
44,000
37,000
55,000

Owued or

Qwned
Owned
Owmed
Owned
Owned
Ovwned
Owned
Leased
Owned
Leased
Leased

. Owned

In addition to the principal properties listed above, we operate several DISH Network service centers strategicelly Jocated in regions throughout

£ United States.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Distant Network Litigation

Until July 1998, we obtained feeds of distant broadcast actwork channels (ABC, NBC, CBS and FOX) for distribution to our customers
through PrimeTime 24. In December 1998, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florids in Miami entered a nationwide
permanent injunction requiring PrimeTime 24 to shut off distant nctwork channels to many of its customers, and heaceforth to scll those

channcls to consumers in sccordance with the imjunction.

In October 1998, we filed a declaratory judgment action against ABC, NBC, CBS and FOX in the United States District Court for the District

of Colorade. We asked the Court to find that our method of providing distant nctwork programming did not violate SHVIA and hence did not

infringe the netwarks’ copyrights. In November 1998, the networks and their affiliate association groups filed a complaint against us in Miami
Federal Court alleging, amang other things, copyright infringement. The Court combined the case that we filed in Colorado with the case in

Miami and transferred it to the Miami Federal Court.

In February 1999, the networks filed @ Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, Preliminary Injunction and Contempt Finding against
DirecTV, Inc. in Miami related to the delivery of distam network chaunels to DirecTV customers by sateltite. DirecTV seided that lawsuit with

the networks. Under the terms of the scttlement between DirecTV and the
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. networks, some DirecTV customers were scheduled to lose access to their satellite-provided distant network channels by July 31, 1995, while
" er DirecTV customers were to be disconnected by December 31, 1999. Subscquently, substantially all providers of satellite-delivered
.+ _etwork programming other than us agreed to this cut-off schedule, although we do not know if they adhered to this schedule.

In April 2002, we reached a private scttiement with ABC, Inc., one of the plaintiffs in the litigation, and jointly filed a stipulation of dismissal.
In November 2002, we reached a privare settfement with NBC, another of the plaintiffs in the litigetion and jointly filed a stipulation of
dismissal. On March 10, 2004, we reached s peivate scttlament with'CBS, another of the phintiffs in the litigation and jointly filed a stipulation
of dismissal. We have also reached private settlements with rany independent stations and station groups. We were unable to reach a
settlement with five of the original cight plaintiffs — Fox and the independent sffiliate groups associsted with each of the four networks.

A il 100k place during April 2003 and the District Court issued & final judgment in Junc 2003. The District Court found that with ane
exception our currcnt distant network qualification procedures comply with the law. We have revised our procedures to comply with the
District Court's Order. Although the plaintiffs asked the District Court to enter an injunction precluding us from sclling any local or distant
netwark programming, the District Court refused. Whilc the pleintiffs did not cisim monctary damages and none were swarded, the plaintiffs
were awarded approximately $4.8 million in attorneys’ fees. This amount is substantially Jess (han the amount the plaintifis songht. We ask the

. Court to reconsider the sweard and the Court has vacated the fec award. When the award was vacated, the District Court also allowed us an
opportunity to conduct discovery concerming the amount of plaintiffs’ requested fees. The parties have agreed to postpone discovery and an
evidentiary bearing regarding attorney's fees until after the Court of Appeals rules on the pending appeal of the Court’s une 2003 final
judgment. It is not possible to make a firm aszessment of the probable outcome of plaintiffs' cutstanding request for fees.

The District Court's imjunctioa requires us to use a computer model to re-qualify, s of June 2003, all of our subscribérs who receive ABC,
NBC, CBS ar Fox programming by satellite from & market other than the city in which the subscriber lives. The Court also invalidated all
waivers historically provided by network stations. These waivers, which have been provided by stations for the past several ycars through a
third party automated system, allow subscribers who belicve the computer model improperly disqualified them for distant nctwork chaunels o
nonetheless receive these channels by satellite. Further, even thongh SHVIA provides that certsin subscribers who received distant netwark
channels prior to October 1999 can continue to receive those channels through December 2004, the District Court terminated the right of our
grandfathered subscribers to continue to receive distant network channels.

We belicve the District Court made a number of errors and appealed the decision. Plaintiffs cross-appealed. The Court of Appeals granted our
request 10 stay the injunction uatil our appeal is decided. Oral arguments occurred during February 2004. It is not possibie to predict bow or
“1en the Court of Appeals will rule on the merits of our appeal.

In the event the Court of Appeals upholds the injunction, and if we do not reach private settlement agreements with additional stations, we will
sttempt to assist subscribers in arranging altemative means to receive network channcls, including migration to local channels by satellite

* where available, and free off air antenns offers in other markets. However, we cannot predict with any degree of certainty how many
subscribers would cancel their primary DISH Network programming as a result of termination of their distant network chamnels. We could be
required o terminate distant network programming to all subscribers in the event the plaintiffs prevail on their cross-appeal and we arc
permanently enjoined from delivering all distant network channels. Termination of distant network programming to subscribers would result,
among other things, in 2 reduction in average monthly revenue per subscriber and a temporary increase in subseriber chum.

Satellite Insurance

Several ycars ago, we filed a $219.3 million insurance claim for a total loss under the launch insurance policies covering our EchoStar [V
satellite. The satellite insurance consists of separate substantially identical policies with different carriers for varying amounts that, in
combination, create a total insured emount of $219.3 million. The insurance camicrs include La Reunion Spatiale; AXA Reinsurance Company
(n/k/a AXA Corporate Solutions ‘
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Reinsurance Company), United States Aircraft Insurance Group; Assurances Generales De France LARR.T. (AGF); Certsin Underwriters at
yd’s, London; Great Lakes Reinsurance (U K.) PLC; British Aviation Insurance Group; If Skaadeforsikring (previously Storcbrand);
_.ammover Re (a/k/a International Hammover); The Tokio Marine & Fire Insurance Company, Ltd.; Marham Space Consortium (a/k/a Marham
Consortium Management); Ace Global Markets (a/k/a Ace London); M.C. Watkins Syndicate; Goshawk Syndicate Management Ltd.; D.E.
Hope Syndicate 10009 (Formerly Busbridge); Amlin Aviation; K.1. Coles & Others; HR. Dumas & Others; Hiscox Syndicates, Lid; Cox
Syndicate; Hayward Syndicate; DJ. Marshall & Others; TF Har; Kiln; Assitalia Le Assicurazioni D'Inalia SP.A. Roma; La Fondiaria
Assicurazione S.P.A_, Firenze; Vittoria Assicurazioni S.P.A., Milano; Ras — Riunione Adriatica Dj Sicurts S P.A., Milano; Societa Cattolica
Di Assicurazioni, Verano; Siat Assicurazione E Riassicurazione S.P.A, Genovs; E. Patrick; ZC Specialty Insurance; Lloyds of London
Syundicates 588 NJM, 1209 MEB and 861 MEB; Generali France Assurances; Assurance France Avistion; and Acc Brrmuda Insurance Ltd.

The insurance carriers offered us 2 total of approximately $88.0 million, or 40% of the total policy amount, in scttlement of the EchoStar IV

insurance claim. We rejected this settlement offer and submitted our claim to arbitration pursuant to the terms of the insurance policies.

On March 4, 2005, we agreed to settle our insurance claim and related claims for accrued interest and bad faith with all carriers who agree to
pay their proportionate share of an aggregate net amount of $240.0 million. We retzined title to and use of the EchoStar IV satellite. Payment
from cach scttling carvier is due on or before April 26, 2005, with interest commencing to accrue on April 12, 200S. Currently, we have
reccived signed agreements back from insurers representing over %0% of the sggregate amount. While we believe the remaining insurers will
each sign the agreement shortly, the arbitration will continue with respect to any insurers who decline to seitle.

Gemstar

During October 2000, Starsight Telecast, Inc., 2 subsidiary of Gemstar-TV Guide International, Inc. (“Gemstar™), filed a suit for patent
infringement against us and certain of our subsidiarics in the United States District Court for the Westera District of North Caroling, Asheville
Division.

In December 2000, we filed suit against Gemstar-TV Guide (and certain of its subsidiaries) in the United States District Court for the District '
of Colorado alleging violations by Gemstar of various federal and state anti-trust laws and laws govemning unfair competition. Gemstar filed
counterclaims alleging infringement of additional patents and asserted new patent infringement counterclaims.

*+ February 2001, Gemstar filed additional patent infringement actions againt us in the District Court in Atlanta, Georgia and with the TTC.
¢ setiled all of the litigation with Gemstar during 2004 (Sce Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in [iem 15 of this
Annual Report oo Form 10-K ).

Superguide

During 2000, Superguide Corp. (“Superguide”) filed suit against us, DirecTV and others in the United States District Court for the Western
District of North Carolina, Asheville Division, alleging infringement of United States Patent Nos. 5,038,211, 5,293,357 and 4,751,578 which
telate to certain clectronic program guide functions, mchuding the usc of electronic program guides to contrel VCRs. Superguide sought
injunctive and declaratory relief and damages in an unspecified smount. We examined these patents and believe that they are not infringed by
any of our products or services.

Ou summary judgment, the District Court ruled that none of the asserted patents were infringed by us. These rulings were appealed to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. During February 2004, the Federal Circuit affinned in part and reversed in part the
District Court's findings and remanded the casc back to the District Court for further proceedings. Based upon the scttlement with Gemstar
discussed above, we now have an additional defense in this case based upon a license from Gemstar. We will contimme to vigorously defend
this case. In the cvent that a Court ultimately determines that we infringe on any of the patents, we may be subject to substantial damages,
which may iaclude treble damages and/or 2n injunction that could require us to materially modify certain user-friendly
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- " electronic programming guide and related features that we currently offer 1 consurmers. It is not possible to meke a firm asscssment of the

. ‘ibable outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any potential lisbitity or damages.
Broadcast Innovation, L.L.C.

In November of 2001, Broadcast Innovation, L.L.C. filed a Jawsuit against us, DirecTV, Thomson Consumer Electrozics and others in Federal
District Court in Denver, Colorado. The suit alleges infringement of United States Patent Nos. 6,076,094 (“the ‘094 patent™) and 4,992,066
(“the ‘066 patent”). The ‘094 patent relates to certain methods and devices for transmitting and receiving data along with specific formatting
information for the data. The ‘066 patent relates to certain methods and devices for providing the scrambling circuitry far 2 pay television
system on removable cards. We examined these patents and believe that they are ot infringed by any of our products or services.
Subscquently, DirecTV and Thomson settled with Broadcast Innovaticn leaving us as the only defendant.

During January 2004, the judge issued an order finding the ‘066 patent invalid. In August of 2004, the Court ruled the ‘094 mvalid in a paralled
casc filed by Broadcast Inmovation against Charter and Comcast. Qur case is stayed pending the appeal of the Charter case. We intend to
continue o vigorously defend this case. In the event that a Court ultimately determines that we infringe on amy of the pateats, we may be
subject to substantial damages, which may include treble damages and/or an injunction that could require us to materially modify certain user-
friendly features that we currently offer to consumers. It is not possible to make & firm assessment of the probable outcome of the suit or to
determine the extent of any potential tiability or damages.

TiVo Inc.

During January 2004, TiVo Inc. filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. The suit alleges
infringement of United States Patent No. 6,233,389 (“the *389 patent™). The *389 patent relates to certain methods and devices for providiog
what the patent calls “time-warping.” We have examined this patent and do not believe that it is infringed by any of our products or services.
During March 2005, the Court denied cur motion to transfer this case to the United States District Court for the Northem District of Californis.
We intend to vigorously defend this case. In the event that a Court ultimately determines that we infringe this patent, we may be subjoct to
substantial damages, which may include treble damages and/or an injunction that could require us to materially modify certain user-friend:
features that we curreatly offer to consumers. It is nat possible to make a firm assessment of the probable oulcome of the suit or to determine
the extent of any potemal lizbility or damages.

acia

In June 2004, Acacia Media Technologies filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.
The suit also named DirecTV, Comcast, Charter, Cox and a mumber of smaller cable companies as defendants. Acacia is an intellectual
property holding company which secks to licensc the patent portfolio that it has acquired. The suit alleges infringement of United States Patent
Nos. 5,132,992, 5,253,275, 5,550,863, 6,002,720 and 6,144,702 (herein afier the *992, *275, ‘863, “720 and ‘702 patents, respectively). The
‘992, “863, ‘720 and ‘702 patents have been asserted against us.

The asserted patents relate to various systems and methods related to the transmission of digital data. The 992 and ‘702 patents have also been
asseried against scveral intemet adult content providers in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. On July 12,
2004, that Court issued 2 Markman ruling which found that the ‘992 and ‘702 patents weze not a5 broad as Acacia had contended.

Acacia’s various patest infringement cases have now been consolidated for pre-trial purposes in the United States District court for the
Northern District of Califoria. We intend to vigorously defend this case. In the cvent that a Court ultimately determines thet we infringe on
any of the patents, we may be subject to substantial damages, which may include treble damages end/or an injunction that could Tequire us to
matecially modify certain user-friendly features that we currently offer to consumers. It is not possible to make a firm assessment of the
probable outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any potential liability or damages.
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" California Action

» purporicd class action relating to the use of terms such as “crystal clear digital video,” “CD-quality audio,” and “on-screen program guide,”
and with respect to the mumber of channcls available'in various programming packages was filed against us in the Califomia State Superior
Court for Los Angeles County in 1999 by David Pritikin and by Consumer Advocates, & nonprofit unincorpocated association. The complaint
alleges breach of express warranty and violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Civil Code Sections 1750, t zeq., and the
Califomia Business & Professions Code Sections 17500 & 17200. A hearing oo the plaintiffs’ motion for class cestification and our motion for
summary judgment was held during 2002. At the hearing, the Court issued s preliminary ruling deaying the plaintiffs’ motion for class
certification, However, before issuing a final ruling on class certification, the Court granted our motion for summary judgment with respect to
all of the plaintiffs’ claims. Subsequently, we filed 2 motion for attoreys’ fecs which was denied by the Court. The plaintiffs filed a notice of
appeal of the court’s granting of our motion for summary judgment and we cross-appealed the Court’s ruling on our motion for attoreys” fees.
During December 2003, the Court of Appeals affirmed in part; and reversed in par, the lower court’s decision granting sommary judgment in
our favor. Specifically, the Couart found there were triable issues of fact whether we may have violated the alleged consumer statutes “with
represcatations concerning the mumber of channels and the program schodule.” However, the Court found no triable issue of fact as to whether
the representations “crystal clear digital video™ or “CD quality” audso constituted a cansc of action. Morcover, the Court affirmed that the
“repsonable consumer” standard was applicable to cach of the alleged consumer statutes. Plaintiff argued the standard should be the “least
sophisticated” consumer. The Court also affirmed the dismissal of Plaintiffs’ breach of warranty claim. Plaintff filed a Petition for Review
with the Califoria Supreme Court and we responded. During March 2004, the California Supreme Court denied Plaintiff”s Petition for
Review. Therefore, the action bas been remanded to the triaf court pursuant to the instructioas of the Court of Appeals. Hearings on class
certification were conducted on December 21, 2004 and on February 7, 2005. The Court denied Plaimiff’s motion for class certification on
February 10, 2005, It is uncertain whether the Plaintiff will appeal this decision. Therefore, it is not poesible to make an assessment of the
probable cutcome of the litigation or to determine the extent of any potential liability.

Retailer Class Actions

We have been sued by retailers in three separate purported class actions. During October 2000, two separate lawsuits were filed in the
Arspahoe County District Cowt in the State of Coforado and the United States District Court for the District of Colorado, respectively, by Air
Communication & Satellite, Inc. and Jobn DeJong, et al. on behalf of themselves and a class of persons similarfy situatcd. The plaintiffs arc
attempting to certify nationwide classes on behalf of certain of our satellite hardware retailers. The plaintiffs sre requesting the Courts 10
declare certain provisions of, and changes 1o, alleged agreerents between us snd the retailers invalid snd unenforceable, and to award damages
* - lost incentives and paymeats, charge backs, and other compensation. We are vigorously defeading against the suits and have asseried

dety of counterclaims. The United States District Court far the District of Colorado stayed the Federal Court action to allow the partics to
pursuc a comprehensive adjudication of their dispute in the Arapahoe County State Court. John DeJong, d/b/a Nexwave, and Joscph Kelley,
dMb/a K eltronics, subsequently intervened in the Arapahoe County Court action as plaintiffs xnd proposed class representatives. We have filed 2
motion for summary judgracat on all counts end against all plaintiffs, The plaintffs filed a motion for additional time to conduct discovery to
ensblc them 1o respond to our motion. The Court granted a limited discovery period which ended November 15, 2004. The Court is hearing
discovery related motions ad we expect the Court 10 follow with & bricfing schedule for the motion for surawary judgment_ It is not possibic to
make an assessment of the probable outcome of the litigation or to determine the extent of any potential liebility or damages.

Satellite Dealers Supply, Inc. (“SDS™ filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas during
September 2000, on behalf of itsclf and a class of persons similerly situated. The plaintiff was attempting to certify a nstionwide class on behalf
of sellers, installers, and servicers of satellite equipment who contract with us and who allege that we; (1) charged back cermain fees paid by
membexs of the class 1o professional instllers in viclation of contractual terms; (2) manipulated the accounts of subscribers w deny payments
to class members; and (3) misrepresented, to class members, the ownership of certain equipment related 0 the provision of our satellite
television service. During Sepiember 2001, the Court granted our mation to dismiss. The plaintiff moved for reconsideration of the Court’s
order dismissing the case. The Court denicd the plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. The trial court denied our motians for sanctions egainst
SDS. Both parties perfected appeals before the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. On appeel, the Fifth Circuit upheld the dismissal. The Fifth
Circuit vacated and remanded the District Court’s denial of
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**.” our motion for sanctions. The District Coun subsequently issued a written opinion containing the same findings. The only issue remaining is
1 collection of costs, which were previously granted by the Court.

StarBand Shareholder Lawsuit

During August 2002, & limited group of shareholders in StarBand, a broadband Internet satellite venture in which we invested, filed an action in
the Delaware Court of Chancery against us and EchoBand Corporation, together with four EchoStar exccutives who sat on the Board of
Directors for StarBand, for alleged breach of the fiduciary duties of due care, good faith and loyalty, and also against ns and EchoBand
Corporation for ziding and sbetting such alleged breaches. Two of the individual defendants, Charles W. Ergen and David K. Moskewitz, are
members of our Board of Directors. The action stems from the defendants’ involvement as directors, and our position as a shareholder, in
SterBand. During July 2003, the Court granted the defendants” motion 1o dismiss on all counts. The Plaimtiffs appealed. On April 15, 2004, the
Delaware Supreme Court remanded the case instructing the Chancery Court to re-evaluate its decision in light of a recent apinion of the
Delaware Supreme Court, Tooley v. Donaldson, No. 84,2004 (Del. Supr. April 2, 2004). Plaintiffs filed a motion to amead their complaint
which was denied by the Court. The Plaintiffs appealed the denial of their motion to amend and the appeal is pending. It is not possible to make
a firm assessment of the probable outcome of the litigation or to detcrmine the extent of any potentiel lability or damages.

Enron Commercial Paper Investmerd Complaint

During November 2003, an action was commenced in the United Statcs Bankruptcy Court for the Sonthem District of New Yark, against
epproximately 100 defendants, including us, who invested in Earon’s comemexcial paper. The complaint alleges that Enron's October 2601
prepayment of its commercial paper is a voidable preference under the bankruptcy laws and constitutes a fraudulent conveyance. The complaint
alleges that we received voidable or fraudulent prepayments of pproximately $40.0 million. We typically invest in commercial paper and
notes which are reted in one of the four highest rating categorics by at least two nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. At the
timse of our investment in Enron commercial paper, it was considered 1o be high quality and considered 1o be a very low risk. The defendants
have moved the Court to dismiss the case on grounds that Enron’s complaint does not adequately statc a legal claim. Those motions are
currently under consideration by the Court. It is t0o carly o make an asscssment of the probable cutcome of the litigation or to determine the
extent of any potential liability or damages.

Bank One

. aing March 2004, Bank One, N.A. (“Bank One”) filed suit against us and one of our subsidiarics, EchoStar Acceptance Corporation
(“BAC"), in the Court of Common Pleas of Franklin Caunty, Ohio alleging breach of a duty 1o indemnify. Bank One alleges that EAC is
" contractually required to indemnify Bank One for a scttlement it paid 10 consumers who catered private labe] credit card agrecments with Bank
One to purchase satcllitc equipment in the late 1990s. Bank One alleges that we entered into & guarantee wherein we sgreed to pay any
indermmity obligaticn incurred by Bank One. During April 2004, we removed the case to federal conrt in Columbus, Obio. We deny the
ellcgations and intead to vigorousty defend against the claims. We filed 2 motion to dismiss the Complaiat which was granted in part and .
denicd in part. The Court granted our motion, agrecing we did not owe Bank One & duty to defend the undexlying lawsuit, However, the Court
denied the motion in that Bank One will be allowed to atterapt to prove that we owed Bank One a duty to indemnify. The case is currently in
discovery. It is too early in the litigation (0 make an assessment of the probablc outcome of the litigetion or to determine the extent of any
potential liability against us.

Churck Communications Network, Inc.

During August 2004, Church Communications Network, Inc. (“CCN™) filed suit against EchoStar Satellite L1..C. (“ESLLC”) in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Alsbama. CCN contends that our contractaal relationship with Dominion Video Satellite, Inc.,
a direct broadcast provider that airs onty Clrristian programming, constitutes a breach of s commercial television services agreement between
ESLLC and CCN (the “CCN Agreement”). Purther, CCN contends that our reluctance to disclose the confidential provisious of the
Dominion/EchoStar agreement warrant causes of action for negligent misrepresentation, intentional misrepresentation, and non-disclosure, We
filed & motion fo dismiss CNN's complaint, or alternatively to transfer
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the United States District Court for the District of Colorado. Thereafier, we filed a motion to dismiss the case in the Colorado court. The
_sotion 10 dismiss is currently pending before the Court and the case is currently in discovery.

Although the CCN Agreement specifically limits damages to $500,000, CCN initially sought $1.5 million. As this case progressed, CCN
initially mcreased the amount of its allcged damages to over $3.0 million and has recently indicated that it is now secking damages in excess of
$15.0 million. As this is currently in early discovery it is not possible 10 make a firm assessment of the probable outcome of the litigation or 1o
determine the extent of any potential liability or damages.

Vivendi

In January 2005, Vivendi Universal, S.A. (“Vivendi™), filed suit against EchoStar Communications Corporation in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York alleging that we have anticipatorily repudiated or are in breach of an slicged agreement between
EchoStar and Vivendi pursuant to which we are allegedly required to broadcast a music-video channel prmnded by Vivendi. Vivendi’s
eomplumscets injunctive and declaratory relief, nnddumagcsm an mspemﬁedamoum, Vivendi has since filed a motion for & preliminary
injunctien, in which it asks the Court to ordex us to broadcast the Vivehdi music-video channe] during the pendency of the litigation and 1o pay
Vivendi for the provision of its music-video channel. We intend to vigorously defend this case. In the event that a Court determines that
Vivendi is entitled to 2 preliminary injunction, we may be required to broadcast the Vivendi music-video channel during the pendency of the
litigation, which would impact the bandwidth tliat we have available to broadcast other services. In the event that a Court ultimately determines
that we have a contractual obligation to broadcast the Vivendi music-vidco channel and that we are in breach of that obligation, we may be
required to broadcast the Vivendi music-video chanmel and be subject to substantia] damages. It is not passible to make 2 firm assessment of
the probable outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any poteatial liability or damages.

Fox Sports Direct -

During June 2004, Fox Sports Direct (“Fox”) sued us in the United States District Court Central District of California for alleged breach of
contract. During October 2004, we reached a settlement with Fox for an immaterial amount.

Other

. addition to the above actions, we arc subject to verious other legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business. In
our opinson, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to aay of these actions is unlikely to materially affect our financial position, results of
operationg or liquidity.
Item 4, SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No items were submitied to a vote of security bolders during the fourth quarter of 2004.

PARTIT

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Price of and Dividends o the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market Information, Our Class A common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “DISH.” The sak prices shown
below reflect inter-dealer quotations and do not include retail markups, merkdowns, or commissions and raay not necessarily represeat actual
transactions. The high and low closing sale prices of our Class A common stock during 2003 and 2004 on the Nasdaq National Market (as
reported by Nasdaq) are set forth below.
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First Quarter $ 3040 S B

Second Quarter 36.28 27.63

Third Quarter 40.40 427

Fourth Quarter 40.53 30.44

2004

First Quarter $ 3933 § 3240

Second Quarter 34.65 29.54

Third Quarter 31.89 2726

Fourth Quarter 3427 30.02

As of March 11, 20035, there were approximately 4,819 holders of record of our Class A common stock, not including stockholders who
beneficially own Class A common stock held in nonminee or street name. As of March 11, 2005, all 238,435,208 outstanding shares of our
Class B common stock were held by Charles W, Ergen, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. There is currently no trading market for our
Class B common stock.

Dividend. On December 14, 2004, we paid a one-time cash dividend of $1.00 per share, or approximately $455.7 million, on outstanding
shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to sharcholders of record at the close of business on December 8, 2004.

We currently do not intend to declare additional dividends on onr common stock. Payment of any future dividends will depend upon our
eamings and capital requirements, restrictions in our debt facilities, and other factors the Board of Directors considers appropriate. We
currently intend to retain our caruings, if any, to support future growth and expansion. See “Ttem 7. — Management’s Discussion and Apalysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ~ Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Securities Aunthorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans. See ltem 12 ~ Security Owncrship of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management.
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° Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

. ne following table provides information regarding purchases of our Class A commeon stock made by us for the period from October 1, 2004

through March 11, 2005.

Period

Total
Namber of

Shares  Aversge ¢ Partef PubBely that May Yet he
Furchased Price Paid Asmounced Plans  Parchased Under the

(x) per Skare or m-n Plans or Progroms (b)

October 1 - October 31, 2004
November 1 - November 30, 2004
December 1 - December 31, 2004
January | - January 31, 2005
February | - February 28, 2005
March 1 - March 11, 2005

Total

(8)  During the period from October 1, 2004 through March 11, 2005 all purchases were made pursuant to the program discussed below in

open market transactions.

()  Our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up 1o $1.0 billion of our Class A Common Stock on August 9, 2004, All purchases
were made in accordance with Rule 10b-18 of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934 pursuznt to our Rule 10b5-1 plan entered into on
September 1, 2004 and which expires on the eardier of August 31, 2005 or when an aggregate amount of $1.0 billion of stock V has been

We may elect not to purchase the meximum amount of shares allowable under this plan and we may also enter into
additional Rule 10b5-1 plans to facititate the share repurchases authorized by our Board of Directors. All purchases may be through
open market purchases under the plen or privately negotiated transactions subject to market conditions snd other factors. To date, no
plans or programs for the purchase of our stock have been terminated prior to their expiration. There were also no other plans or
programs for the purchase of our stock that expired during the period from October 1, 2004 through March 11, 2005. Purchased shares

Total Nomber of Maximum Appreximate
Shares Purchased  Dellar Value of Shares

(in thowands, cacept Share dsia)

-5 - —~3 1,000,000
-5 - —3 1,000,000
-5 — —s 1,000,000
-5 — —3 1,000,000
90,000 $ 28. 90,000 § 997,394
200,000 §_28.67 200,000 § 991,660
290,000 § 28.76 250,000 § 991,660

have and will be beld as Treasury shares and may be used for general corporate purposes.

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data as of and for cach of the five years ended December 31, 2004 have been derived from, and are
qualified by reference to our Consolidated Financial Statcments. Beginning January 1, 2004, we combined certain revenuc and cost of sales
items into other captions. All prior period amounts bave been conformed to the current period presentation. See firther discussion under
Item 7. - “Explanation of Key Metrics and Other Items.” This data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements
end related Notes thereto for the three years ended December 31, 2004, and “Manegement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
snd Results of Operations” inchuded elsewhere in this report.
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Statements of Operations Data
Revenue:
Subscriber-related revenue
Equipment sales
Other
Total revenue
Costs and Expenses:

Subscriber related expenses (exclusive of depreciation shown below)
Satellite and transmission expenses (exclusive of depreciation shown

below)
Cost of sales — equipment
Cost of sales — other
Subscriber acquisition costs
General and administrative
Non-cash, stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses
Operating income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Basic and diluted net income (Joss) to common shareholders
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding
Basic net income (loss) per share

Diluted net income (loss) per share

“+h dividend per common share

Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash cquivalents and marketable investment securities
Restricted cash and marketable investment securities
Cash reserved for satellite insurance
Total assets
Long-term obligations (including current portion):
Senior Notes
Convertible Notes
Capital lease obligation, mortgages and other notes paysble
Total stockholders’ cquity (deficit)

Other Data
DISH Network subscribers, as of year end (in millions)
DISH Network subscriber additions, gross (in millians)
DISH Network subscriber additions, net (in millions)
Monthly churn percentage
Average revenue per subscriber (“ARPU™)
Average subscriber acquisition costs per subseriber (“SAC™)
Equivalent average subscriber acquisition costs per subscriber
(“Equivalent SAC")
Net cash flows from (in thousands):
Operating activitics
Investing activities
Financing activities

For the

Years Ended D

ber 31,

“w

2043 2004

(s thoneands, except per share dsta)

S237T1850 $3.605,724 $4,429699  $S,409,875 $6,677,370
300,996 359934 348629 295409 373253
42374 35480 42497 34012 100593

2715220 401,138 4,820,825 5739296 1,151,216

1276943 1,792,542 2,200,239 2,707,898 3,567,409
44719 40899 62131 932 112239
227955 263,046 227,670 194491 305313

— 6,961 6,466 349 133265

1,155941 1,080,819 1,168,649 1312,068 1,527,886
196907 305,738 319915 32,73 397,718
51,465 20173 131279 3,544 1,180
185356 _ 278,652 _ 372958 398206 _ 502,901

3139286 3,788.836 4,369,307 5031,748 6,447,911

$(424066) § 212302 § 451518 $ 707,548 § 703,305

§ (650,326) § (215,498) § (852034X1) $ 224,506 3 214,769
$ (651,472) § (215,835) § (414,601X2) § 224,506 3 214,769

471,023 477,172 480429 483,098 464,053
471,023 477,172 480,429 488314 467,645
$ (138)$ (04553 (©836) $ 046 S 046
§ (1388 (04558 (036) S 046 $ 0.46
s — § — $ — $ — 3 1.00
As of Docexnber 31,
2000 2001 2082 1003 2004
(o thousands)

$1,464,175 $2,828297 § 2,686,995 $3972,974 § 1,155,633
3,000 1,288 9972 19,974 57,552
82,393 122,068 151372 176,843 —_

4636835 6,519,686 6,260,585 7,585,018 6,029,277

3,000,000 3,700,000 3,700,000 5,378,35) 3,946,153

1,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 1,500,000 1,525,000

36,290 21,602 47,053 59,322 331,735

(657383) (777,7712) (L,176,022) (1,032,524) (2,078,212)

For the Years Ended Docember 31,

2000 2081 2002 2003 2004
5.260 6.830 3.130 9.425 10.905
2.554 2722 2764 2394 3441
1.850 1570 1350 1.245 1.480

1.39% 1.60% 1.59% 1.57% 1.62%
$ 4569 § 49.56 § 4937 § 5121 § 54.87
$ 452§ 395 ¢ 421 3 453 § 444
) 478 % 519§ 507 $ 480 S 593
$(118677) 5 489483 § 66,744 § 575,581 § 1,001,442
3(911,957) $(1,279,119) $(682,387) $(1,761,870) $ 1,078,281
$ 982,153 $1,610,707 $420832 § 994,070 $(2,666,022)

(1)  Net loss in 2002 includes $689.8 million related to mecger termination costs.
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The net loss to comunon sharcholders in 2002 of $414.6 millicn differs significantly from the net loss in 2002 of $852.0 million due wa
gain on repurchase of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock of approximately $437.4 miltion.
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.~ Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

£XECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our strategy for 2005 will focus on improving our operating resalts and frec cash flow by attempting o increase our subscriber base, reduce
churn, control rismg subscriber acquisition costs and maintin or improve operating margins. We will also focus on improving our competitive
position by ieveraging our increased satellite capacity 1o pursuc strategic initiatives.

Operational Results and Goals

Increase oar subscriber base and reduce ckurn. We added approximately 1.430 million net new subscribers during 2004, ending the year with
approximately 10.905 million DISH Network subscribers. We remain committed 1o growing our subscriber base with high quakity customers
by continuing to offer compelling consumer promotions. These promotions include offers of free or low cost advanced consumer electronics
products, such as digitel video recorders and high defmition reccivers, as well as various promotional offers of our DISH Netwark
programming packages, which we believe generally have & better “price-to-value” relationship than packages currently offered by most other
subscription televisim providers.

However, there are many reasons we may not be able to maintain our current rate of new subscriber growth. For example, our subscriber
growth would decrease if our partners in‘our co-branding and other distribution relationships de-emphasize or discontinoe their efforts 1o
acquire DISH network subscribers, or if they begin offering non-DISH Network video services. Our subscriber growth weuld also be
negatively impacted to the extent our competitors offer more stiractive consumer promotions, including, among other things, better priced or
more attractive programming packages or more compeliing consumer electronic products and services, inchuding advanced digital video
recorders, video on demand (“VOD™) services, and HDTV services or additional local channels. Many of our competitors are also better
equipped than we are to offer video services bundled with other telecommunications services such as telephone and broadband dats services,
including wircless services.

In order to increase our subscriber base we must control our rate of customer tumover, or “churn.” Our percentage monthly charn for the year
ended Decemnber 31, 2004 was approximately 1.62%, compared 1o our percentage churn for the same peried in 2003 of approximately 1.57%.
Our principal strategy to control churn is to attract higher quality long term customers by imposing heightened credit requirements and tailoring
t promotions toward subscribers desiring multiple reccivers and advanced products such as digital video recorders and high definition
seivers. We also plan to continue to offer advanced products to existing customera through our lease promoticns and o initiste other loyalty
programs to improve our overall subscriber retention. However, there can be no assurance these and other actions we may tike to control

subscriber chum will be successful, and we are unlikely to be able to continue 10 grow our subscriber base at current rates if we cannot coatrol
our customer churm. '

We also contibue to undertake initiatives with respect to our conditional access system to further cnhance the security of the DISH Network
signal and atiempt to make theft of pur programming commercialty impractical or uncconomical. However, piracy and many other factors may
have a material adverse impact on our subscriber chum.

Control rising subscriber acquisition costs. We generally subsidize installation and all or & portion of the cost of EchaStar recciver systcms in
order to attract new DISH Network subscribers, and these and other subscriber acquisition costs have increased sigaificantly over the past year.
If n subscriber churns carlicr than previously estimated, we may not fully recover the costs related to the acquisition of that subscriber. Our
principal strategics to control rising subscriber acquisition costs involve growing our base with higher quality customers who are less likely to
churn and reducing the overall cost of subsidized equipment we provide to new customers. Our principal method for reducing the cost of
subscriber equipment is to lease our receiver systems to new subscribers rather than selling systems to them at little or no cost. Leasing enables
Us to, among other things, reduce our future subscriber acquisition costs by redeploying equipment remmed by disconnected lease subscribers
to new subscribers. We are further reducing the cost of subscriber equipment through our design and deployment of EchoStar receivers with
multiple hmers that allow the subscriber to receive our DISH Network setvices in multiple rooms using ¢ singlc set-top box, thereby reducing
the number of EchoStar receivers we deplay to each subscriber household, However, our overall subscriber acquisition costs, including
emounts expensed and capitalized, both in the sggregate end on a per new subscriber basis, may materially increase in the foture to the extent
that we introduce more aggressive promotions ’
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or newer, more expensive consumer clectronics products in response ta new promotions and products offered by our competitors. In addition,
new compression tectmologies will inevitably render some portion of our currest and future EchoStar receivers absolete and we will incur
additional costs, which may be substantial, to upgrade or replace these set-top boxes.

Mgaintain or improve operating margins. We will continae to work to generate cost savings during 2005 by proving our operating cfficiency
and attempting to control rising programming costs. During 2004, our operating margins were negatively impacted by costs associated with the
expansion of our installation, in-home service and call center operations. We are attempting to control these costs by improving the quality of
the initial installation, providing better subscriber education in the usc of our products and services, and enhancing our training programs for
our in-home service and call center representatives. However, thesc initiatives may not be sufficient to maintain or increase our operstional
efficiencies and we may not be able to continue @ grow our operations cost effectively.

Our operating margins have also been adversely impacted by rising programaming costs. Payments we make to programmers for programming
content represent onc of the largest components of our operating casts, We expect programming providers to continue {0 demand higher rates
for their programming. We will continue to negotiate aggressively with programming providers in an ¢ffort to control rising programming
costs. However, there can be no assurance we will be successful in controlling these costs, and we may be forced to drop one or more channels
if we capnot reach acceptable agrecments with all of our content providers, In addition, there can be no assurance that we will be able to
increase the price of our programming to offset these programming rate increascs without affecting the competitiveness of our programming
packages.

Leverage Increased Satellite Capacity . We have recently entered into agreements to purchase or leasc a substantial amount of additional
satellite capacity. We arc currently evaluating various opportunities to utilize this capacity, including, but not limited to, lsunching satellite
two-way and wireless broadband date services, increasing our internations] programming and expanding our local and high defmition
programming. However, we face a variety of risks and uncertainties that may preveat us from utilizing this additional satcilite capacity
profitably. These risks include, among other things, the risks that there may be insufficient market demand for these new services and program
offcrings, or that customers might find competing services and program offerings more attractive. In addition, many of these new services
depend on successful development of new technologics which may not perform as we expect. Our results of operetion and financial condition
will be adversely affected if we camnot make profitable use of this additional satellite capacity.

£xplanstion of Key Metrics and Other Items -

Subscriber-related revenxe . “Subscriber-related revenuc” consists principally of revenue from basic, movie, local, international end pay-per-
view subscription television services, advertising sales, digital video recorder fees, cquipment rental fees and additional outlet fees from
subscribers with multiple sei-top boxes and other subscriber revenue. Comemporancous with the commencement of sales of co-branded
services pursuant to our agseement with SBC during the first quarter of 2004, “Subscriber-related revemuc” also includes revenue from
equipment sales, installation and other services related to that agreement. Revenue from equipment sales to SBC is deferred and recognized
over the estimated everage co-branded subscriber life. Revenue from installation and certain other services performed at the request of SBC is
recognized upon completion of the services.

Development and implementation fees received from SBC are being recognized in “Subscriber-related revenue™ over the next sevenal years. In
arder to estimate the amount recogaized mouthly, we first divide the aumber of co-branded subscribers activated during the month under the
SBC agreement by total estimated co-branded subscriber activations during the life of the contract. We then multiply this perceatage by the
tota] development and implementation fees received from SBC. The resulting estimated monthly amount is recognized a3 revenue ratably over
the estimated average co-branded subscriber life.

Effective January 1, 2004, we combined “Subscription television service™ revenue and “Other subscriber-relared revenuc” ito “Suhscriber-
related revenue.” All prior period amounts were reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.
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Eguipment sales . “Equipment sales™ consist of sales of digital set-top boxes and retated componcnts by our ETC subsidiary to an international
DBS service provider. “Equipment sales” also include unsubsidized sales of DBS accessorics to retilers end other distributors of our
equipment domestically and to DISH Network subscribers, “Equipment sales™ does not include reveme from sales of equipment to SBC.
Effective January 1, 2004, “Equipment sales”™ includes non-DISH Network receivers and other accessories sokd by our EchoStar International
Corporation subsidiary to intermational customers which were previously included in “Other” revenue. All prior period amounts were
reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

Other. “Other” sales consists principally of subscription television service revenues from the C-band subscription tclevision service business of
Superstar/Netlink Group LL.C. (“SNG™) thet we acquired in April 2004.

Subscriber-related expenses . “Subscriber-related expenses” principally mchude costs incurred i connection with our in-bome service and call
center operations, overbead costs associated with our installation business, programming expenses, copyright royalfics, residual commissions
paid to retailers or distributors, billing, lockbox, subscriber retention and other variable subscriber expenses. Contemporaneous with the
commencement of sales of co-branded services pursuant to our agreement with SBC during the first quarter of 2004, “Subscriber-related
expenses” also include the cost of sales and expenses from equipment sales, direct costs of mstallation and other services related to that
relationship. Cost of seles from equipment sales to SBC are deferred and recognized over the estimated average co-branded subscriber life.
Expenses from installation and certain other services performed at the request of SBC are recognized as the services are performed.

Satellfte and transmission expenses . “Satcllite and transwission expenses” include costs associated with the operation of our digital broadcast
ceaters, the transmission of local channels, satellite telemetry, tracking and control services, satellite and transponder leases, and other related
services.

Cost of sales — equipment. “Cost of sales — equipment” principally includes costs associated with digital set-top boxes snd related components
sold by our ETC subsidiary 1o an imernational DBS scrvice provider snd unsubsidized sales of DBS accessorics to DISH Network subscribers
and to retailers and other distributors of our equipment domestically. “Cost of sales — equipment” does not include the costs from sales of
cquipment to SBC. Effcctive January 1, 2004, “Cost of sales — equipment™ includes nan-DISH Network receivers and other accessories sold by
“w EchoStar International Cotporation subsidiary to international customers which were previously included in “Cost of sales — other.” All
-or period amounts conform ta the current period presentation.

Cost of sales - otier. “Cost of saies — other™ principally includes programming and other expenses associated with the C-band subscription
television service business of SNG we acquired in April 2004.

Subscriber acquisition costs . Under most promotions, we subsidize: the installation and 21l or s portion of the cost of EchoStar receiver
systems in order to attract new DISH Network subscribers. Qur “Subscriber acquisition costs” include the cost of EchoStar receiver systems
sold to retailers and other distributors of our equipment, the cost of recciver systems sold directly by us to subscribers, pet costs related to our
promotional inceutives, and costs related to installation and acquisition advertising. We exclude the value of equipment capitalized under our
equipment lease program from our calculstion of “Subscriber acquigition costs.™ We alse exclude payments and the value of returned
equipment related to disconnected lease program subscribers from our calculation of “Subscriber acquisition costs.”

SAC and Equivalent SAC. We nre not aware of any uniform standards for calculating SAC and believe presentations of SAC may not be
calculated consistently by different companies in the same or similar businesses. We calculate SAC by dividing total “Subscriber acquisition
costs” for a period by the number of grost new DISH Network subscribers during the period. We include all new DISH Network subscribers in
our calculation, including DISH Network subscribers added with little or no subscriber acquisition costs. “Bquivalent SAC™ adds to
“Subscriber scquisition costs™ the value of equipment capitalized under our new subscriber lease program less the value of returned equipment
related 1o disconmected lease program subscribers, which became available for sale rather than being redeployed through the lease program,
together with payments received in connection with equipment not returned to us.

General and administrative expenses . “ General and administrative expenses” primarily include employee-related costs assaciated with
administrative services such as legal, information systems, accounting and finance. It also
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inctodes outside professional fees (i.e. legal and accounting services) and building maintenance expense and other items associated with
sdministration. ’

Interest expense. “Interest expense” primarily inchudes interest expense, prepayment premiums and amortization of debt issaance costs
associated with our debt and convertible debt securities, net of capitalized interest.

Other. The main components of “Other” income and expense are equity in carmings and Josses of our affiliates, gains and losses on the sale of
investments, and impairment of marketabk and nos-marketable investment securities.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) . EBITDA is defined as “Net income (loss)” plus “Interest
expense”™ vet of “Interest income,” “Taxes” and “Deprecistion and amortization.”

DISH Network subscribers. We include customers obtained throngh direct sales, and through our retail networks, including our co-branding
relationship with SBC and other distribution relationships, in our DISH Network subscriber count. We belicve our overall economic retumn for
co-branded and traditional subscribers will be comparable. We also provide DISH Network servioe to botels, motels and other commercial
accounts. For certain of these commercial accounts, we divide our total revenue for these commercial accounts by an amount approximately
cqual to the retail price of our most widely distributed programming package, AT60 (but taking into account, periodically, price changes and
other factors), and include the resuhting number, which is substantially smaller than the actual number of commercial units served, in cur DISH
Network subscriber count.

During April 2004, we scquired the C-band subscription ielevision service business of SNG, the assets of which primarily consist of acquired
customer relationships. Although we expect to convert some of these customer relationships from C-band subscription television services to
our DISH Network DBS subscription television service, scquired C-band subscribers are not inchaded in our DISH network subscriber count
unless they have also subscribed to our DISH Network DBS television service.

Mfonthly average revenue per subscriber (FARPU”) . We are not aware of any uniform standards for caiculating ARPU and belicve

sseptations of ARPU may nat be calculated consistently by other companics in the same or similar businesses. We calculste average monthly
sevenue per subscriber, or ARPU, by dividing average monthly “Subscriber-related revenues” for the period (total “Subscriber-retated
revenues” during the period divided by the number of months in the peried) by our average DISH Network subscribers for the period. Average
DISH Network subscribers are calculated for the period by adding the average DISH Network subscribers for each month and dividing by the
nurmber of months in the period. Average DISH Network subscribers for cach month are calculated by adding the beginning and ending DISH
Netwark subscribers for the month and dividing by two. As discussed in “Subscriber-related revenue™ above, effective January 1, 2004 we
include amounts previously reported as “Other subscribet-related revenue” in our ARPU calculation. All prior period amounts conform to the
current period prescatation.

Subscriber churn/subscriber turnover . We are not aware of any uniform standards for calculating subscriber churn and believe presentations
of subscriber churn may not be calculated consistently by different companies i the same or similar busiresses. We calculate peccentage
mouthly subscriber churn by dividing the number of DISH Network subscribers who terminate service during each month by total DISH
Network subscribers as of the beginning of that month. We calculats average subscriber charn for any period by dividing the number of DISH
Network subscribers who terminated service during that period by the average number of DISH Network subscribers cligible to chum during
the period, and further dividing by the number of months in the period. Average DISH Network subscribers eligible to churn during the period
pre calculated by adding the DISH Network subscribers as of the beginning of each month in the period and dividing by the total mumber of
monihs in the period. :

Free cash flow . We define frec cash flow as “Net cash flows from operating activities™ less “Purchases of property and equipment,” as shown
an our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2003.

Statements of Operations Data
Revenue:
Subscriber-related revenue
Equipment sales
Other

Total revenue

Costs and Expenses:
Subscriber-related expenses
% of Subscriber-related revenue
Satellite and transmission expenses
% of Subscriber-related revenue
Cost of sales - equipment
% of Equipment sales
Cost of sales - other
Subscriber acquisition costs
General and administrative
% of Total revenue
Non-cash, stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expeascs

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expease, net of amounts capitalized
Other .

Total other income (expense)

Income {loss) before income taxes
Income tax beuefit (provision), net
Net income (loss)

Otber Data:

DISH Network subscribers, as of year end (in millions)
DISH Network subscriber additions, gross (in mitlions)
DISH Netwurk subscriber additions, net (in millions)
Monthly chumn percentage

Average revenue pery subscriber (“ARPU™)

Average subscriber acquisition costs per subscriber (“SAC™)

Equivalent average subscriber acquisition costs per subscriber (“Equivalent SAC™) § 593

EBITDA
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_Forthe Years Fnfed December 31,  ____ Variamee
M4 2003 Amount %
(In thousands)
$6,677,370 $5409,875 31267495 214%
373,253 295,409 77,844 26.4%
100,593 34,012 66,581 _195.8%
7,151,216 5,739,296 1411920 24.6%
3,567,409 2,707,898 859,511 31.7%
534% 50.1%
112,239 3322 32917 41.5%
1.7% 15%
305,313 194,491 110,822 57.0%
81.8% 65.3%
33,265 3,496 29,769  8515%
1,527,886 1,312,068 215818 16.4%
397,718 332,723 64,995 19.5%
5.6% 5.8%
. LI80 3,544 @364y (66.7%)
502,901 398 206 104,695 263%
6,447,911 5,031,748 1,416,163 28.1%
703,305 707,548 (4,243) _ (0.6%)
42,287 65,058 (22771 (350%)
(505,732) (552,490) 46,758 8.5%
(13,482) 18,766 (32248) (171.8%)
(476,927) (468,666) (8261) _ (1.8%)
. 26,318 233,882 {12,504y  (5.2%)
__{11,609) (14,376) 2,767 19.2%
$ 214,769 $ 224506 § (9737)  (43%)
10.905 9.425 1.480 15.7%
3.441 2.894 0.547 18.9%
1.480 1245 0.235 18.9%
1.62% 1.57% 0.05% 32%
$ 5487 $ 5121 § 3.66 7.1%
s 444 s 453 § (9)  (2.0%)
s 430 § 113 23.5%

$1,192,724

1124520 § 68204 6.1%
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DISH Network subscribers . As of December 31, 2004, we had approximately 10.905 million DISH Network subscribers compared to
approximately 9.425 million at December 31, 2003, an increase of approximately 15.7%. DISH Network added approximately 1.480 million
net new subscribers for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to approximately 1.245 million net new subscribers during the same
period in 2003. We belicve the increase in net new subscribers resulted from a number of factors, including the commencement of sales under
our co-branding agreement with SBC and other distribution relationships and an increase in our distribution channels. Temporary

shoreges and insiallation delays during the second balf of 2003 were substantially climinated during the first quarter of 2004 which also
contributed to the current year increase.

A material portion of our new subscriber additions are derived from our relationship with SBC. However, SBC recently announced that in 2005
it will begin deploying an advanced fiber network that will enable it to offer video services directly. Our net new subscriber additions and
certain of our other key operating metrics would be adversely affected to the extent SBC de-emphasizes or discontinues its efforts to acquire
DISH Network subscribers.

Additionalty, as the size of our subscriber base continues to increase, if percentage subscriber churn remains constant, increasing numbers of
gross new subscribers are required to sustain net sabscriber growth,

Subscriber-related revenue. DISH Network “Subscriber-related revenuce” totaled $6.677 billion for the year ended December 31, 2004, an
increase of $1.267 billion or 23.4% compared to the same period in 2003, This increasc was directly attributablc to continued DISH Network
subscriber growth and the increase in “ARPU™ discussed below. '

ARPU . Mouthly average revenue per subscriber was approximatcly $54.87 during the year ended December 31, 2004 and spproximetely
$51.21 during the same period in 2003. The $3.66 or 7.1% increase in monthly average revenue per DISH Network subscriber is primarily
auributable to price increases of up.to $2.00 in Pebruary 2004 end 2003-0n some of our most popular packages, and from equipment sales,
installation and other services related to our relationship with SBC. This increase was afso attributable to a reduction ia the mumber of DISH
Network subscribers receiving subsidized programming through our free and discounted programming promations, the increased availability of
local channels by satellite, increases in our advertising sales and increases in the number of DISH Network subscribers with multiple set-top
* axes and digital video recorders. We provided local channels by satellite in 152 markets as of December 31, 2004 compared 1o 101 markets as
‘December 31, 2003,

knpacts from our litigation with the netwarks in Florida, FCC rules governing the delivery of superstations, and other factors could canse us to
terminate delivery of network channels and superstations to a substantial number of our subscribers, which could canse many of those
customers to cancel their sabscription to our other services. fn the event the Court of Appeals upholds the Miami District Court's network
Yitigation injunction, and if we 8o not reach private settlement agreements with additional stations, we will attempt to 2ssist subscribers in®
arranging alternative means to Teceive network channels, including migration to local channels by satellite where available, and free off air
antenna offers in other markets. However, we cannot predict with any degree of cerainty how many subsceibers might ultimately cancel their
primary DISH Network programming as & result of termination of their distant network chennels, We could be required to terminate distant
network programming to all subscribers in the event the plaintiffs prevail on their cross-appeal and we are permanently eajoined from
delivering all distant network chamnels. Termination of distant network programming to subscribers would result in, among other things, 2
reduction in average monthly revenue per subscriber and a temporary increase in subscriber chum.

In Agril 2002, the FCC cancluded that our “must carry” implementation methods were not in compliance with the “must carry” rules. if the
FCC finds our subsequent remedial actions unsatisfactory, while we would attempt to continue providing local network channels in all markets
withont interruption, we could be forced by capacity constraints to reduce the number of markets in which we provide local channels. This
could causc a temporary increase i chum and a small reduction in average monthly reveme per subscriber.

Equipment sales . For the yoar ended December 31, 2004, “Equipment sales™ totaled $373.3 million, an increase of $71.8 million or 264%
compared to the same period during 2003. This increase principally resulted from an increase in sales of DBS accessories to retailers and other
distributors of our equipinent domestically and to DISH Network subscribers.
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We currently have certain binding purchase orders and 8 minimum volume commitment with an international DBS service provider throngh
March 31, 2006 and we are actively trying to secure new otders from other potential intemational customers. However, we cannot guarantee at
this time that those negotiations will be successful. A significant portion of our equipment revenue depends largely on sustaining substantial
orders from this intenational DBS service provider and other imermnational operators, which in tum, depends on other factors, such as the level
of consumer acceptance of direct-10-home satellite TV products and the increasing intensity of competition for international subscription
television subscribers. We have recently decided to downsize and eliminate certain product lines sold by our EchoStar Intcrnational
Corporation subsidiary and eccordingly, we expect that future sales of our non-DISH Network receivers and other accessorics to intemational
customers will decline as compared to historical levels.

Other. "Other™ sales totaled $100.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, an increase of $66.6 million compared to the same period
during 2003. This increase is primarily attributable to the subscription television service reveres from C-band subscribers of the SNG
business that we acquired in April 2004.

Subscriber-related expenses . “Subscriber-related expenses™ totaled $3.567 billion during the year ended December 31, 2004, an increasc of
$859.5 milliou or 31.7% compared to the same period in 2003. The increase in “Subscriber-relaied exp * was primarily attributable to the
increase in the mumber of DISH Netwark subscribers, which resulted in increased expenses to support the DISH Network. “Subscriber-refated
expenses” represented 53.4% and 50.1% of “Subscriber-related revenue™ during the years ended Dececmber 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The increasc in this expense to revenue ratio primarily resulted from increases in our programming and subscriber reteation costs, and costs
associated with the expansion of our installation, in-home service end call center operations. These increased operational costs, some of which
are icmporary, related to, among other things, mere complicated installations required by receivers with multiple tuncrs and e larger dish, or
“SupetDISH” which is uscd to receive programming from our FSS satellites. The incorease also resulted from cost of sales and expenscs from
equipment sales, installation aad other services related to our relationship with SBC. Since margins related to our co-branded subscribets are
lower than for our traditional subscribers, we expect this relationship to continue to negatively impact this ratio to the extent that we continue to
edd co-branded subscribers undor our SBC agreement. The ratio of “Subscriber-related expenses™ to “Subscriber-related revenue” could also
continue to increase if our programming and retention costs increase at 2 greater rate than our “Subscriber-related revenue” and if we are
unable to improve efficiencies related to our installation, in-home service and call center operations.

‘s currently offer local broadcast chamnels in approximetely 155 markets across the United States. In 38 of those markets, two dishes are
~oessary to receive all local channels in the market. SHYERA now requires, emong other things, that alf local broadcast channels delivered by
satellite to any particular market be available from a single dish within 18 months of the law’s Decerber 8, 2004 cffective date. Because we
had plenned to transition all local chanaels in any particular market to the same dish by 2008 rather than in the shorter transition period
mandated by SHVERA, satellite capacity mitations may force us to move the local channels in 8s many a8 30 markets to diffcrent satellites,
requiring subscribers in those markets to install a second or 8 different dish to continuc recciving their local network channels. We may be
forced to stap offering local channels in some of those markets altogether.

The transition of all local channels to the same dish could result in disruptions of service for & substantial pumber of our customers, and our
ability to timely comply with this requircment without incurring significant additional costs is dependent on, among other things, the successful
launch and operation of onc or more additional satellites. It is possible that the costs of compliance with this requirement could exceed

5100.0 million. To the extent some of those costs arc passed on 1o our subscribers, and because many subscribers may be unwilling to install 2
second dish where one had been adequate, we expect that our subscriber ciun could be negatively impacted.

In the normal course of business, we enter into various contracts with programmers to provide conteat. Our programming contracts generally
require us to make payments bascd on the number of subscribers to which the respective content is provided. Cousequeantly, our programming
expenses will continue to increase to the extent we are successful in growing our subscriber base. In addition, because programmers continue to
raise the price of comtent, there can be no assurance that our “Subscriber-related expenses” as a percentage of “Subscriber-related revenue™ will
ot materially increase absent corresponding price increases in our DISH Network programming packages.
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Satelllte and traysmission expenses . “Satellite aud transmission expenses” totaled $112.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2004,
an increase of $32.9 million or 41.5% compared to the same period i 2003. This increase primerily resulted from commencement of service
and operational costs essociated with the increasing number of markets in which we offer Jocal network channels by satellite ag previously
discussed, and increases in our FSS satellite lease payment obligations. “Satellite and transmission expenses” totaled 1.7% and 1.5% of
“Subscriber-related revenuse™ during each of the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increasc in the expense to revenue
ratio principelly resulted from additional operational costs to support the commencement of service and on-going operations of our local
markets discussed above. These expenses will increase further in the future as we increase the size of our satellite fleet, if we obtein in-orbit
satellite insurance, 25 we incrcase the number and operations of our digital broadcast centers and a5 additional local markets and other
programming services are launched.

Cost of sales — equipment. “Cost of sales — equipment” totaled $305.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, an increass of
$110.8 million or 57.0% compared to the same period in 2003. This increase primarily resulted from the increase in sales of DBS accessories to
retailers and other distributors of our equipment domestically and to DISH Network subscribers discussed above, and epproximately

318.4 million in charges related to slow moving and obsolete inventory. “Cost of sales — equipment” represeuted 81.8% and 65.8% of -
“Bquipment sales,” during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in the expense to revenae ratio principally
related to the charges for slow moving and obsolcte inventory discussed above, and an approximate $6.8 million reduction in the cost of set-top
box equipment during 2003 resulting from a change in estimated royalty obligations. This increase in the expense to revenue ratic also related
10 2 decline in margins on the sales of DBS accessories and on sales by our ETC subsidiary to an international DBS service provider due to
reductions in prices and increased sales of lower margin accessories.

Cost of sales — other. “Cost of salcs — other” totaled $33.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, an increase of $29.8 milkion
compared to the same period in 2003. This increase is primarily attributable to expenscs essociated with the C-band subscription television
service business of SNG we acquired in April 2004.

Subscriber acquisition costs. “Subscriber acquisition costs” totaled approximately $1.528 billion for the year ended December 31, 2004, an
increase of $215.8 million or 16.4% compared to the same period in 2003. “Subscriber acquisition costs™ during the year ended December 31,
2003 included a benefit of approximately $77.2 million comprised of spproximatcly $42.8 million related to & reduction in the cost of set-top
'x equipment resulting from a change in cstimated royalty obligations and $34.4 million from a litigation scttioment. The iucrease in
Subscriber scquisition costs™ was attributable to a larger number of gross DISH Network subscriber additions during the year ended
December 2004 compared to the same period in 2003, partially offset by a higher mumber of DISH Network subscribers participating in our
equipment Jease program and the acquisition of co-branded subscribers during 2004 as discussed under “SAC and Equivalent SAC* below.

SAC and Equivalent SAC. Subscriber acquisition costs per new DISH Network subscriber activation were approximately $444 for the year
ended December 31, 2004 and approximately $453 during the same period in 2003, SAC during the year ended December 31, 2003 included
the benefit of approximetely $77.2 million discussed abave. Absent this benefit, our SAC for 2003 would have been approximately 527 higher,
or $480. The decrease in SAC during the year ended Decembey 31, 2004 as compared to the same period in 2003 (cxchuding this benefit) was
directly attributable to the acquisition of co-branded subscribers during 2004. Excluding the effect of co-branded subscribers, SAC would have
increased during the current year a5 compared to the same period in 2003. The increase in SAC (excluding the cffect of co-branded subscribers)
‘was primarily related to more expensive promotions offercd during 2004 including up to three free receivers for new subscribers and froe
advenced products, such as digital video recorders and high definition receivers. Further, during 2004, since a greater numbex of DISH
Network subscribers sctivated multiple receivers, receivers with multiple tuners or other advanced products, including SuperDISH, installation
costs increased as compared to 2003. These factors were partially offset by an increase in DISH Network subscribers participating in our
cquipment lease program and reduced subscriber acquisition advertising.

Penciration of our equipment lease program increased during the secand half of 2004, Our capital expenditures will continue to increase to the
extent we maintain or increase our jeasc penetration as 8 percentage of new subscriber additions. However, we believe the increase in capital
expenditures from penetration of our equipment lease program will continue to be pertially mitigated by the redeployment of equipment
returned by disconnected lease program
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subscribers. Our “Subscriber acquisition costs,” both in aggregate and on a per new subscriber activation basis, may further materislly increase
in the future to the extent that we mtroduce other more aggressive promotions if we determine that they are necessary o respond to
competition, or for other reasons. See further discussion under “Liguidity and Capital Resources — Subscriber Retention and Acquisition
Costs.”

Equipment capilalized under our fease program for new customers totaled approximately $574.8 million and $108.1 willion for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Returned equipment related to disconnected lease program subscribess, which became availablc for
sale rather than being redeployed through the lease program, together with payments received in connection with equipment not returned to us,
totaled approximately $60.8 million and $30.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. If we included in our
calculation of SAC the equipment capitalized less the value of equipment returned and payments received, our Equivalent SAC would have
been approximately $593 dwring 2004 compared to $480 during 2003. As discussed above, “Subscriber acquisition costs™ during 2003 included
a benefit of approximately $77.2 million ar $27 per subscriber. Absent this benefit, our Equivalent SAC, would bave been $507 for the year
ended December 31, 2003. This increase is primarily artributable to 8 greater number of DISH Network subscribers activating multiple
receivers, and advanced products, such as SuperDISH, digijtaf video recorders and high definition receivers.

Sabscriber acquisition promotions. As previously discussed, our “Subscriber acquisitions costs™ include, among other things, net costs related
to our Subscriber acquisition promotians. During the year ended December 31, 2004, our significant new subscriber promotions were gs
follows: .

Digital Home Advantage - Effective February 1, 2004, our Digital Home Advantage promotion provided new lease subscribers up to fonr
installed EchoStar receivers, including various premium models, with a qualifying programming subscription. The subscriber is required to pay
2 monthly rental fee for each leased receiver, but is not required to agree to 2 minimue lease period. The subscriber must provide a valid major
credit card, their social security number, have an acceptable credit score, and pay a one-time set-up fee of $49.99. The subscriber receives a
$49.99 credit on their first month’s bill. Effective October 19, 2004, the promotion was expanded whereby the consumer may agree to either a
ane or twa year commitment in exchange for receiving the benefits of our Digital Home Protection Plan, an options! extended warranty
program, without charge for one or two years, respectively. Since we retain ownership of equipment instafled pursusnt to the Digital Home
Advantage promotion, cquipment costs are capitalized and depreciated over a period of up to four years. Although there can be o assurance as
the ultimate duration of our current equipment lease promotion, we expect it to continue through at least July 31, 2005. :

Free Dish — Effective February 1, 2004, our Free DISH promotion provided new subscribers with a choice of up to three installed EchoStar
receivers, including one premium receiver model for $49.99. The subscriber receives a $49.99 credit on their first month’s bill. To be cligible,
subscribers must provide & valid major credit card, their social security mumber, have an acceptable credit score, and make a onc or two year
commitment to subscribe to a qualified programming package, depending on the set-top box models selected by the subscriber, Certain
advanced products, including digital video recorders and high definition receivers, require additional upgrade fees. The Free Dish promotion
ended on Jamuary 31, 2005.

Free for All - Effective February 1, 2004, our Free for All promation provides new subscribers who purchase one or two installed receiver
systemus for $149.00 or §199.00, respectively, s monthly credit of $10.00 for 15 or 20 months, respectively. The subscriber must subscribe to a
qualifying programruing package and provide their social security nurnber. Effective February 1, 2005, new subscribers under our Free for All
promotion who purchese one or two receiver systems and subscribe to a qualifying programming package receive a monthly credit of $5.00 for
30 or 40 months, respectively. Although there can be ne assurance a5 to the ultimate duration of the Free for All promotion, we expect it to
continue through at least July 31, 2005,

General and administrative expenses . “General and administrative expenses” totaled $397.7 million during the year ended December 31,
2004, an increase of $65.0 million or 19.5% compared to the same period in 2003, The increase in “General and administrative expenses” was
pnm_m:ily at.m‘butablc %o increased personnel and infrastructure expenses to suppart the growth of the DISH Network. “General and
edministrative expenses” represented 5.6% and 5.8% of “Total revenue” during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The deerease in this expense to revenue ratio resulted primarily from “Total revenue” increasing at a higher rate than our “Genezal and
administrative cxpenses.”
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Non-cash, stock-based compensation. During 1999, we adopted an incentive plan under our 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, which provided
certain key employees with incentives including stock options. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we recognized $1.2 miltion of
compensation under this performance-besed plan, a decrease of $2.4 million compared to the same period in 2003. All deferred compensation
remaining as of December 31, 2003 was recognized during the quarter ending on March 31, 2004,

As discussed under “Critical Accounting Estimates™ below, in December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statcment of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Sharc Based Payment” (“SFAS 123®") which is effective for financial statements as
of the beginning of the first interim period that begins after June 15, 2005. We are currently evaluating which transitionsl provision and fair
value methodology we will follow. However, we expect that any expense associated with the adoption of the provisions of SFAS 123® will
have a material negative impact on ovr results of operations.

Depreciation and amortization. “Depreciation and amortization™ expense totaled $502.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, an
increase of $104.7 million or 26.3% compared to the same period in 2003, The increase in “Depreciation and amortization™ expense primarily
resulted from additional depreciation related to the commencement of commercial operation of our EchoStar IX satellite in October 2003, and
increases in depreciation related to cquipment leased 10 customers and other depreciable assets, includmg finite lived intangible assets, placed
in service during 2003 and 2004. As of December 31, 2003, EchoStar IV was fully depreciated and accordingly, we recorded no expense for
this satelfite during the year ended December 31, 2004. This partially offset the increase in depreciation expense discussed above.

Interest income . “Interest income” totaled $42.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease of $22.8 million or 35.0%
compared to the same period in 2003. This decrease principally resulted from lower cash and marketable investment scenrities balances in 2004
a3 compared to 2003, partially offset by higher total retums eamed on our cash and marketable investment securities dusing 2004,

Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized . “Interest expense” totaled $505.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, 2 decrease

of $46.8 million or 8.5% compared to the same period in 2003. This decreasc primarity resulted from a nef reduction in interest expense of

spproximately $98.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 related to the debt redemptions and repurchases of our previ

outstanding senior debt during 2003 and 2004. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in prepayment premiums and the write-off of

Asbt issuance costs totaling approximately $134.7 million in 2004 compared to approximatcly $97.1 million in 2003. See Nofc 4 in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-X.

Other. “Other” expensc totaled $13.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to “Other™ income of $18.8 million during
2003. The decrease is primarily attributable to net losscs on the sale of securities from our marketable investments portfolio for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to net gains during 2003.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization . EBITDA wes $1.193 billion during the year ended December 31, 2004, an
increase of $68.2 million or 6.1% compared to $1.125 billion during the same period in 2003, EBITDA during the year ended December 31,
2003 included a beaefit of approximately $77.2 million related to the change in estimated royalty obligations and litigation scttiement
discussed above. Absent this 2003 benefit, our increase in EBITDA for the year cnded December 31, 2004 would have been $145.4 million.
The increase in EBITDA (excluding this benefif) was primarily attributeble to the changes in aperating revenues and cxpenses discussed sbove.
EBITDA docs not inchude the impact of capital expenditures under our new and existing subscriber equipment lesse programs of
spproximately $654.9 million and $118.6 million during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following table reconciles EBITDA to the accompanying financial statcments:
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Fer the Years Ended

December 31,
e 2003

(ln thoasands)
EBITDA $1,192,724  $1,124520

Less:

Interest expense, nct . 463,445 487,432
Income tax provision (benefit), net 11,609 14,376
Depreciation and amortization 502,501 398,206
Net income (loss) $ 214769 S 224,506

EBITDA is not a measure determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, and should
not be considered a substitute for operating income, net income or any other measure determined in accordance with GAAP. EBITDA is used
as 2 measurcment of operating efficiency and overall financial performance and we belicve it to be a helpful measure for those evaluating
companies in the multi-channel video programming distribution industry. Conceptually, EBITDA measures the amount of income generated
each period that could be used to service debt, pay taxes and fund capital expenditures. EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Income tax benefit (provision), mer. Our income tax policy is to record the estimated future tax cffects of temporary differences between the
tax bases of asscts and liabilitics and amounts reported in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets, a2 well as operating loss, tax credit
and other carry-forwards, We follow the guidelines set forth in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes” (“SFAS 109”) regarding the recoverability of any tax assets recorded on the balance sheet and provide any necessary valuation
allowances as required. Determining necessary valuation allowances requires us to make asseszments about the timing of future events,
including the probability of expected future taxable income and availsble tax planning opportonities. We currently have an approximate
$1.0 billion valuation allowance recorded as an offsct against all of our net deferred tax assets. In accordance with SFAS 109, we periodically
evaluate our need for a valuation aflowance based on historical evidence, including trends, and future expectations in each seporting period. In
the future, at such time as is required by SFAS 109, 21l or 2 portion of the curent valuation allowance may be reversed. We recognized “Net
income” for the years cnded December 31, 2004 and 2003, and sccordingly, now believe that if this trend continucs it is more likely than not
. - will reversc our current recorded valuation allowance in the near term which will have a material positive impact on our “Net income
1-058)." However, there can be no assurance if or when all or 2 portion of our valuation allowance will be reversed.

Net income (loss). “Net income” was $214.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, & decrease of $9.7 million or 4.3% compared
to $224.5 million for the same period in 2003. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower “Operating income,” “Interest income” and
“Other income” partially offsct by the decrease in “Interest expense” resulting from the factors discussed above.
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Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2002.
For the Yeses Ended December 31, Variance
2083 2002 Amesunt %
{In thousands)
Statements of Operations Data
Revenue: )
Subscriber-related revenue § 5,409,875 $ 4,429,699 § 980,176 21%
Equipment sales 295,409 348,629 (53.220) (153%)
Other 34,012 42,497 (8,485) _(20.0%)
Total sevenue 5,739,296 4,820,825 918,471 19.1%
Costs aud Expenses:
Subscriber-related expenses 2,707,898 2,200,239 507,659 23.1%
% of Subscriber-reisted revenue 50.1% 49.7%
Satellite and transmission expenses N30 62,131 17,191 27.7%
% of Subscriber-related revenue 15% 14%
Cost of sales - equipment 194,491 27,670 (33,179) (14.6%)
% of Equipment sales 65.8% 65.3%
Cost of sales - other 3,496 6,466 (2,970) (45.9%)
Subscriber acquisition costs 1,312,068 1,168,649 143419 123%
General and administrative 332,783 319,915 12,808 4.0%
% of Total revenne 58% 6.6%
Non-cash, stock-based compensation 3,544 11,279 (1,735)  (63.6%)
Depreciation and amortization 398,206 372,958 25,248 6.8%
Total costs and expenses 5,031,748 4,369,307 662,441 15.2%
Operating imncome (loss) 707,548 451,518 256,030 56.7% e
Jemny
ther income (expense): - ‘,/
Interest income 65,058 112,927 (47.869) (42.4%) .
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized {552,490) (482,903) (69,587) (144%)
Merger termination related expenses (including $33,323 in interest expeuse) — (689,798) 689,798  100.0%
Other 18,766 (170,680) 189,446 N/A
Total other income (expense) (468,666) (1,230,454) 761,788 61.9%
Income (loss) before income taxes 238,882 (778,936) 1,017,818 N/A
Income tax benefit (provision), net (14.376) (73.098) - 58,722 303%
Net income (loss) $ 224506 $ (852,034) $1,076,540 N/A
Basic and diluted net income (loss) to common shareholders $ 224‘506 $ (414601) $ 639,107 N/A
Other Daia:
DISH Network subscribers, as of year end (in millions) 9.425 8.180 1.245 15.2%
DISH Netwaork subscriber additions, gross (in millions} 2.894 2.764 0.130 47%
DISH Network subscriber additions, net (in millions) 1.245 1.350 (0.105) _ (7.8%)
Monthly chum percentage 1.57% 1.59% (0.02%) (13%)
Average revenue per subscriber (“ARPU™) $ 5121 3 4937 1.84 3.7%
Average subscriber acquisition costs per subscriber (“SAC”) s 453 $ 421 § 32 1.6%
Equivalent average subscriber acquisition costs per subscriber (“Equivalent SAC™) § 480 $ 507 § (27) _(5.3%)
EBITDA $1,124,520 $  (2,679) $1,127,199 N/A
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DISH Network subscribers. As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately 9.425 million DISH Network subscribers compared to
epproximately 8.180 million at December 31, 2002, an increase of approximately 15.2%. DISH Netwaork added approximately 1.245 million
net new subscribers for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to approximately 1.350 million net new subscribers during the same
peziod in 2002. We belicve the reduction in net new subscribers for the year cnded December 31,2003, compared to the same period in 2002,
resulied from a number of factors, including stronger competition from advanced digital cable and cable modems. Additionally, as the size of
our subscriber base continues to mcrease, even if percentage chum remains constant, increasing numbers of gross new subscribers are required
to sustain net subscriber growth.

Subscriber additions during the second half of 2003 were negatively impacted by delays in the delivery of several newly developed products,
which resulted in a temporary product shortage, and product installations in the third and fourth quarter of 2003. These delays were
substamtially climinated during the first quarter of 2004,

Subscriber-related revenue. DISH Network “Subscriber-related revenue” totaled $5.410 billion for the year ended December 31, 2003, an
increase of $980.2 million or 22.1% compared 10 the same period in 2002. This increase was directly attributable to continued DISH Network
subscriber growth and the increase in “ARPU" discussed below.

ARPU . Monthly average revenue pex subscriber was approximately $51.21 during the year ended December 31, 2003 and appraximately
$49.37 during the same period in 2002. The $1.84 or 3.7% increase in monthly aversge revenue per subscriber is primarily attributable to price
increases of up to $2.00 in Febmary 2003 an some of our most popaler packages, the increased availability of local channels by satellite and an
increase in the number of DISH Network subscribers with multiple set-top boxes. During 2003, we launched 47 additional local markets
compared to the launch of 18 additional markets during 2002. These increases were partially offset by certain subscriber promotions, under
which new DISH Network subscribers received free programming for the first three months of their term of service, and other promotions
under which DISH Network subscribers received disconnted programming.

Equipment sales . Fox the year ended December 31, 2003, “Equipment sales” totaled $295.4 miltion, a decrease of $53.2 million or 15.3%
compared to the same pened during 2002. The decrease in “Equipment sales” principally resulted from 8 decline in the number of digital sct-
top boxes and related components sold by our ETC subsidiary to an intemational DBS service provider.

Subscriber-related expenses . “Subscriber-related expenses™ totaled $2.708 billion during the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of
$507.7 million or 23.1% compared to the same period in 2002. The increzsc in “Subscriber-related expeases™ was primerily sttributabic to the
increase in the number of DISH Network subscribers. This growth resulted in increased expenses to suppost the DISH Network, including
programming costs, personuel expeases, the opening of a new call center, and increased operating expenscs refated to the expension of our
DISH Network Service L.L.C. business. “Subscriber-related expenses” representzd 50.1% and 49.7% of “Subscriber-related revenue™ during
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in “Subscriber-related expenses” as a percentage of “Subscriber-
related revenue” primarily resulted from an approximately $30.2 million reversal of an accrual during 2002 relsted to the replacement of smart
cards in satellitc receivers owned by us and leased to consumers. This accrual reversal decreased the 2002 expense to revenu ratio from 50.4%
t0 49.7%. The increase in the expense 10 revenue ratio from 2002 to 2003 was partially offset by an increase in monthly average revenne per
subscriber and increased operating efficiencies.

Satellite and transmission expenses . “Saizilite and transmission expenses” totaled $79.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, an
increase of $17.2 million or 27.7% compared to the same period in 2002. This increase primerily resulted from commencement of service and
operational costs iated with the increasing number of markets in which we offer local network chanmiels by satellite as previously
discussed. “Satellite and transmission expenses” totaled 1.5% and 1.4% of “Subscriber-related revenue” during each of the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Cost of sales — equipment. “Cost of sales ~ equipment” wtaled $194.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, & decrease of

$33.2 million or 14.6% compared to the same period in 2002, This decrease related primarily to a decrease in sales of digital sct-top boxes and
related components by our ETC subsidiary to au international DBS service provider. “Cost of sales — equipment” during the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 include non-recurring
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reductions in the cost of sct-fop box equipment of approximately $6.8 million and $6.5 miltion, respectively. “Cost of sales — equipment”™
represented 65.8% and 65.3% of “Equipment sales,” during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Subscriber acquisition costs. “Subscriber acquisition costs” totaled approximately $1.312 billicn for the year ended December 31, 2003, s
ncrease of $143.4 million or 12.3% compared to the same period in 2002. The increase principally resulted from the sale of equipment at little
or no cost to the subscriber, & decrease in subscriber equipment leases and increases in acquisition marketing as discussed under “SAC sad
Equivalent SAC” below. This increase was partially offset by benefits of approximately $77.2 millicn which were recorded in 2003. These
benefits include approximately $34.4 million related to the receipt of a reimbursement payment for previously sold set-top box equipment
pursuant to 2 litigation settlement and approximately $42.8 million related 1o a reduction in the cost of set-top box equipment resulting from a
change in estimated royalty obligations. “Subscriber acquisition costs” during the year eaded December 31, 2002 included & benefit of
approximately $47.7 million resuiting from the non-recurring reduction in the cost of sct-top box cquipment as & resukt of favorable litigation
developments and the completian of royalty amangements with more favorable terms thas estimated amounts previously accrued.

SAC and Equivalent SAC. Subscriber acquisition costs per new DISH Network subscriber activation were approximately $453 for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and approximately $421 during the same period in 2002. As discussed above, SAC during the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 included benefits of spproximatety $77.2 million and $47.7 million, respectively. Abseat these benefits, our SAC
for 2003 and 2002 would have been approximstely $27 and $17 higher, respectively, or $480 and $438, respectively. The increase in SAC
(excluding these benefits) during the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to the same period in 2002 was primarily swtributable to an
increasc in the sale of equipment at littlc or no cost to the subscriber, including our promotion in which subscribers are eligible to receive up to
three free receivers or & free digital video recorder, together with & decrease in subscriber equipment Jeases. The increase also resulted from an
increase in acquisition marketing in 2003 compared to 2002,

Equipment capitalized undec our lease program for new customers totaled approximately $108.1 million and $277.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Retumned equipment related to discomected lease program subscribers, which became available for
sale rather than being redeployed through the lease program, together with payments received in connection with equipment not returned to us,
totled approximately $302 miflion and $37.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. If we included in our
calculation of SAC the equipment capitalized less the value of equipment returned snd payments received, our Equivelent SAC would have

:on approximately $480 during 2003 comparcd to $507 during 2002. As discussed ebove, “Subscriber acquisition costs” during the years

aded December 31, 2003 and 2002 included benefits of approximately $77.2 million and $47.7 million, respectively. Absent these bencfits,
our Equivalent SAC for 2003 and 2002 would have been $507 and $524, respectively. This decrease principally resulted from & greater
percentage of returned leased equipment being redeployed ta new lease customers and relatively less of that equipment being offered for sale as
remanufactured equiprment.

General and administrafive expenses. “General and administrative expenses” toteled $332.7 million during the year caded December 31,
2003, an increase of $12.8 million or 4.0% compared to the same period in 2002. The increase in “General and administrative expenses” was
primarily stributable to increased personne] and infrastructure expenses to support the growth of the DISH Network. “General and
administrative expenses” represented 5.8% and 6.6% of “Total revenue” during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
This decrease in “General and administrative expenses™ as a percent of “Total reveaue™ was the result of increased administrative cificiencics.

Non-cash, stock-based compensation. During 1999, we adopted an incentive plan under our 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, which provided
certain key employees with incentives including stock options. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $3.5 million of
compensation under this performance-based plan, 8 decrease of $7.7 million compared to the same period in 2002 This decrease was primarily
attributablc to proportionste vesting and stock option forfeitures resulting from emplayee terminations. The remaining deferred compensation
of $1.2 million as of December 31, 2003 was recognized over the remaining vesting period, ending on March 31, 2004.

We report all non-cash compensation based on stock option appreciation as a single expense category in our accompanying statcrents of
operations. The following table represents the other expense categorics in our
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statements of operations that would be affected if non-cash, stock-bascd compensation was allocated to the same expense categories as the base
compensation for key employees who participate in the 1999 incentive plan: ’

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2603 2082
(in thowsands)
Subscriber-related s 34 $ 729
Satcllite and transmission 359 Q)
General and administrative 3,151 10,557
Total noa-cash, stock-based compcasation $ 3,544 §$11,279

Depreciation and amartization. “Deprecistion and amortization”™ expense totaled $398.2 miltion during the year ended December 31, 2003, an
increase of $25.2 millien or 6.8% compared to the same period in 2002. The increase in “Depreciation and amortization” expense principally
resulted from an increase in depreciation related to the commencement of commercis] operation of EchoStar VII, VIH and IX in April 2002,
October 2002, and October 2003, respectively, and lcased equipment and other additional depreciable assets placed in service during 2003.

Interest income. “Interest income” totaled $65.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, & decrease of $47.9 million or 42.4%
compared to the same period in 2002. This decrease principally resulted from lower returns and Jower cash and marketable investment
scouritics balances tn 2003 as compared to 2002. ’

Interest expense, net of smounts capitalized. “Interest expense” totaled $552.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase
of $69.6 million or 14.4% compered to the same period in 2002. This increase primarily resulted from prepayment premiums and accelerated
amortization of debt issuance costs totaling approximately $97.1 million related to the full and partial redemptions and repurchases of certain of
our debt securitics, as discussed further im “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and additional interest expense totaling spproximately
$43.0 million related to our $500.0 million convertible notes offering and our $2.5 billion senior notes offering during july and October 2003,
respectively. This increase also resulied from a $15.4 million reduction in the amount of interest capitalized during the year ended

‘sccmber 31, 2003 as compared 1o the same period in 2002. Interest is capitalized during the construction phase of 2 satellite, however,

spitalization of additional interest ceases upon commercial operation of the satellite. Therefore, once EchoStar VII, EchoStar VI snd
EchoStar IX commenced commercial operstion during Apri} 2002, October 2002 and August 2003, respectively, we ceased capitalizing interest
related to these satellites. The expensing of this previously capitalized interest resulted in an increase in “Interest expense.” This increase was
partiafly offsct by a reduction in interest expense of approximately $52.4 million as a result of the debt redemptions and repurchases discussed
above. In addition, “Interest expensc™ for the year ended December 31, 2002 includes approximately $31.1 million relsted tw our 2002 bridge
financing coromitruents.

Merger termination related expenses. The $689.8 million decrease in “Merger termination related cxpenses” is attributable to costs expensed
during 2002 upon 2rmination of our proposed mexger with Hughes, which consists of a $600.0 million termination fee paid 1o Hughes,
$56.5 miltion of previously capitalized merger costs and $33.3 million of fees paid in coanection with merges financing activities.

Other . “Other” income totaled $18.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to “Other “ expense of $170.7 million
during the same period in 2002. This improvement principally resulted from net gains on marketable and non-marketable investment securities
of approximately $19.8 million recorded in 2003 compared to net losses of approximately $135.6 million recorded in 2002, This improvement
also resulted fram the sbsence during 2003 of any net change in valustion of contingent value rights, which totaled $19.7 million during the
year ended December 31, 2002. Our Series D convertible preferred stock was repurchased during the fourth quarter of 2002,

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA was $1.125 billion during the year ended December 31, 2003,
compered to 8 negative $2.7 million during the same period in 2002. The improvement was primarily sttributable to a reduction in “Other”
expenses totaling $845.9 million, the components of which are discussed above, as well ag the increase in the number of DISH Network
subscribers, which continues to result iu revenue sufficient to support the cost of aew and existing subscribers. The improvement was partially
offsct by a decrease in subscribers leasing equipment and & corresponding increase in equipment subsidies compared to the same
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penud in 2002,‘ as wcll_as a decrease in “Equipment sales.” EBITDA does not inchude the impact of capital expenditures under our new and
existing subscriber equipment lease program of approximately $118.6 million during 2003, and our new subscriber equipment lease program of
$277.6 million during 2002 .

_The following teble reconciles EBITDA to the accompanying financial statements:

Fer the Yesrs Ended
December 31,
2003 2602
(In thousandk)
EBITDA $1,124520 § (2,679)
Less:
Interest expense, net 487,432 369,976
Taterest expense, merger related — 33323
Income tax provision (benefit), net 14,376 73,098
Depreciation and amortization 398,206 372,958
Net income (loss) $ 224506  §(852,034)

EBITDA is not a measure determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, and should
not be considered & substitute for operating income, net income or any other measure determined in socordance with GAAP. EBITDA is used
as a measurement of operating cfficiency and overall financial performance and we believe it to be a helpful measure for those evaluating
companies in the multi-channe} video programming distribution industry. Conceptually, EBITDA measures the amount of income geaerated
each pesiod that could be used to service debt, pay taxes and fund capital expenditures. EBITDA should not be considered im isolation oras &
substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Net income (loss). “Net income”™ was $224.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $1.077 billion compared o &
“Net loss” of $852.0 million for the same period in 2002. The improvement was primarily attributable to an increase in “Operating income”
d an improvement in “Other” expense, the components of which are discussed above.

Basic and diluted net i {loss) to karekolders . “Basic and diluted net income to comman sharcholders” was $224.5 million
during the year caded December 31, 2003, an improvement of $639.1 million compared to “Basic and diluted ozt loss to common
sharcholders™ of $414.6 million for the same period in 2002. The improvement is primarily attributable to the improvement in “Net loss,”
discussed above. The improvement was partialty offsct by & $437.4 million gain on the redemption of Series D convertible prefared stock from
Vivendi during 2002.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our principal sources of cash during 2004 were operating activities, sales of certain marketable investment securitics and the issuznce of long-
term notes. Our principal uses of cash during 2004 were to repurchase or redeem long-term notces, purchase property and equiptnent, repurchase
our Class A common stock and pay a dividend on our Cless A and Class B corumon stock. Sec further discussion of 2004 financings in “Cash
flows from financing activities™ below.

‘We expect that our future working capital, cepital expenditure and debt service requirements will be satisfied primarily from existing cash and
iavestment balances and cash generated from operations. Our ability to gencrate positive future operating and net cash flows is dependent upon,
among other things, our ability to retain cxisting DISH Network subscribers. There can be no assurance we will be successful in executing our
business plan. The smount of capital required to fund our 2005 working capital and capital expenditure necds will vary, depending, among
other things, on the rate at which we acquire new subscribers and the cost of subscriber acquisition and retcation, including capitalized costs
associated with our new and existing subscriber equipment lease programs, The amount of capital required in 2005 will also depend on our
levels of investmeat in infrastructure necessary to suppot local markets and other possible stratogic initiatives. We currently anticipate that
2005 capital cxpenditures will be significantly higher than 2004 capital expenditures of $980.6 million due to, amoag other things, increased
spending on equipment leased to subscribers and satellites. Our capital expenditures will vary depending o the number of
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satellites Icased or under construction at any point in time. Qur warking capital and capital expenditore requirements could increase materially
in the event of increased competition for subscription television custoruers, significant satellite failures, in the event we make strategic
investments or acquisitions, or in the event of general economic downtum, emong other factors. These factors could require that we raise
additional capital in the future. There can be no essurance that we could raise afl required capital or that required capital would be available on

acceplable terms.

Cash, cask equivalents and marketable investment securities. We consider al] Yiquid investments purchased within 90 days of their maturity to
be cash equivalonts. See “Item 7A. - Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for further discussion regarding our
marketable investment securitics. As of Deccmber 31, 2004, our restricted and unsestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable investment
securities totaled $1.213 billion, inctuding spproximately $57.6 million of other restricted cash and marketable investment securitics, compared
to $4.170 billion, including $176.8 million of cash reserved for satellite insurance and $20.0 million of other restricted cash and marketable
investment securities, as of December 31, 2003. During 2004, we redeemed the remainder of our 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009 and our 10
3/8% Senior Notes due 2007 using unrestricted cash and marketable investment securities of approximatety $1.545 billion and the proceeds
from the sale of our 6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014. As a result of these redemptions, we reclassified $176.8 million of cash reserved for
satellite insurance to cash and cash equivalents. During 2004, capital expeaditures, repurchases of our Class A common stock end a dividend
on our Class A and Class B common stock further reduced our unrestricted cash and marketable investment securitics by approximately

$980.6 miltion, $809.6 million, and $455.7 million, respectively.

The following discussion hightights our free cash flow and cash flow activities during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,

Free cash flow. We define free cash flow as “Net cash flows from operating activities™ less “Purchases of property and equipment,® as shown
on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. We believe free cash flow is an important liquidity metric because it measures, during a given
period, the amount of cash generated that is available to repay debt obligations, make investments, funds acquisitions end for certain other
activities. Frec cash flow is not a measure determined in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered s substitute for “Operating
income,” “Net income,” “Net cash flows from operating activities™ or any other measure determined in accordance with GAAP, Since free cash
flow includes investments in operating asséts, we believe this non-GA AP liquidity measure is useful in addition 1o the most directly
comparable GAAP measure — “Net cash flows from operating activities.” Free cash flow also exclodes cash which may be necessary for
uisitions, mvestments and other needs that may arise.

< Free cash flow was $20.9 million, $253.8 million and negative $369.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
tespectively. The decrease from 2003 to 2004 of spproximstely $232.9 million resulted from an spproximate $658.8 million increasc in
“Purchases of property and equipment” offset by en incresse in “Net cash flows from operatmg activitics™ of approximately $425.9 million.
The increase in “Purchases of propecty and equipment™ was primarily attributable to increased spending for equipment under our lease
programs, satellite construction payments and prepayments under our saicllite scrvice agreements, and for general expansion to support the
growth of the DISH Network. The increase in “Net cash flows from operating activities™ was primarily attributabie to significantly more cash
flow generated by changes in operating asscts end Liabilitics in 2004 as compared 10 2003, Cash flow from changes in operating asscts and
Liabilities was $241.7 million during 2004 compared to negative $75.7 million in 2003, The improvement in cash flow from changes in
operating assets and liabilities resulted from increases in accounts payable, accrued programming expenses, and an increase in net deferred
revenue primarily attributable to equipment sales 1o SBC, partially offset by rising inventory levels, increased subscriber accounts receivable
and receivables related o SBC.

The incrcase in free cash flow from 2002 1 2003 of approximately $622 8 million resulted from en increase in “Net cash flows from operating
activitics” of approximately $508.8 million and a decrease in “Purchases of property and cquipment” of spproximately $114.0 miltion. The
increese in “Net cash flows from operating activities™ is primarily attributable to en improvement in net income that principally resulted from
approximately $689.8 million in merger texmination related expenses incurred during 2002 as discussed in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition end Results of Operations. The improvement in net income was offset by significantly less cash flaw geneteted
from changes in operating assets and liabilities in 2003 as compared to 2002. Cash flow from changes in operating assets and liabiltties was
ncgative $75.7 million during 2003 compared to $183.0 million during 2002. This decrease primarily resulted from an increased use of cash
related to prepayments made under our satellite service agrecments and reductions in sccounts payable and accrued expenses es a result of the
timing of certain payments. The decrease in “Purchases of property and equipment” was primarily attributable to reduced spending on the
construction of satcllites and the capitalization of less equipment under our lease programs.
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The following table reconciles free cash flow to “Net cash flows from operating activities.”

Fer the Years Ended D ber 31,

2004 2003 1882
(In thousands)
Free Cash Flow $ 20855 $253,762  $(369,015)
Add back:
Purchases of property and equipment 980587 321819 _ 435819
Net cash flows from operating activitics 51!00] i442 SS'TSlESI S 66,744

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, free cash flow was significantly impacted by changes in opcrating assets and
liabilities as shown in the “Net cash flows from operating activities" section of our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows included herein.
Operating asset and liebility balances can fluctuate significantly from period to period and there can be no assurance that frec cash flaw will not
be negatively impected by material changes in operating assets and liabilities in future periods, since thesc changes depend upen, among other
things, management’s timing of paymeats, inventory levels and cash receipts. In addition to fluctnations resulting from changes in operating
assets and liabilities, free cash flow can vary significantly from period to period depending upon, among other things, subscriber growth,
subscriber revenue, subscriber churn, subscriber scquisition costs, operating cfficiencies, increases or decreases in purchases of property and
equipment and other factors.

Impacts from our litigation with the networks in Florids, FCC rules governing the delivery of superstations and other fastors could cause us to
terminate delivery of network channels and superstations to a substantial number of our subscribers, which could cause many of those
customers to cancel their subscription to our other services. In the event the Coust of Appeals upholds the Miawai District Court’s network
Litigation injunction, and if we do not reach private scttlement agreements with additional stations, we will attempt to assist subscribers in
amranging alternative means to receive network channels, including migration to local channels by satellitc where available, and free off sir
antenna offers in other markets, However, we cannot predict with any degree of cenainty how many subscribers might ultimately cancel their
primary DISH Network programming as a result of icrmination of their distant network channels. We could be required to terminate distant
network programming to all subscribers in the event the plamtiffs prevail on their cross-appeal and we are permanently enjoined from
*~livering all distant network chennels. Termination of distant network programming to subscribers would resuit in a reduction in average
nthly reveauc per subscriber and a temporary increase in subscriber churn.

Our future capital expenditares could increase or decrease depending on the strength of the economy, strategic opportunitics or other factors.
Cash flows from operating activities. We typically reinvest the cash flow from operating activities in our business primanly to grow our
subscriber basc and to expand our infrastructure. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we reported net cash flows from

operating activities of §1.001 billion, $575.6 million and $66.7 million, respectively. Sec discussion of changes in net cash flows from
operating activities included in “Free cash flow” above.
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Cask, flows from investing activigies. Our investing activities gencraily include purchases and sales of marketable investment sccuritics and
cash used to grow our subscriber base and expand our infrastructure. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we reported net
cash flows from investing activitics of $1.078 billion, ncgative $1.762 billion and negative $682.4 miltion, respectively. The increase from
2003 to 2004 of spproximately $2.840 billion primarily resulted from an increase in net sales of marketable investment securities, and from a
reclassification of cash previously restricted for satellite insurance. The increase in net cash flows from investing activitics was partially offset
by increases in cash used for capital expenditurcs and our asset acquisition fram Gemstar (See Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statcrnents m lem 15 of this Anmual Report on Form 10-K).

The decrease from 2002 to 2003 of approximately $1.079 billion primarily resulted from an increase in net purchases of marketable investment
securities related to the investment of the net proceeds from our 2003 financings discussed below. In addition, cash flows from investing
activitics for the year cnded December 31, 2002 includes cash used for merger-related costs of appeoximatety $38.6 million. The decrease in
net cash flows from investing activities was partially offset by a decrease in purchases of property and equipment driven by reduced spending
on the construction of satellites and capitalization of less equipment under our new subscriber equipment lease program in 2003 as compared to
2002.

Cash flows from financing activities. Our fruancing activities include net proceeds related to the issuance of long-term debt, and cash nsed for
the repurchase or redemption of long-term debt and mortgages or other notes payable, repurchases of our Class A cammon stock and our 2004
dividend payment. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we reported net cash flows from financing activities of negative

$2.666 biltion, $994.1 million and $420.8 million, respectively.

.

The decreasc from 2003 to 2004 of approximately $3.660 biflion principally resulted from the following 2004 financing activities:

*  Effective February 2, 2004, we redecmed the remaining $1.423 billion outstanding principal smount of our 9 3/8% Senior Notes due
2009.

*  Effective October 1, 2004, we redeemed all of our $1.0 billion cutstanding principal amount of the 10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007,

*  During 2004, we repurchased approximately 25.9 million shares of our Class A common stock in open market transactions for a total
cost of approximately §809.6 million.

*  OnDececmber 14, 2004, we paid a cash dividend of $455.7 million to holders of our Class A and Class B common stock.
This decrease from 2003 to 2004 was parially offset by the following financing sources of cash:
*  OnOctwober 1, 2004, we sold $1.0 billion principal amount of our 6 5/8% Seaior Notes due 2014.
*  On August 25, 2004, we sold & $25.0 million 3% Convertible Subordinazed Note duc 2011 to CenturyTe! Service Group L.L.C. 4

In addition to the 2004 finscing activitics described sbove, the decrease in net cash flows from financing activities from 2003 to 2004 was
also partially duc to $1.178 billion in net cash flows received during 2003 from the issuance of long-term debt as described below.

The increase from 2002 to 2003 of epproximately $573.2 million principally resulted from the following 2003 financing activitics:
> OnJuly 21,2003, we sold 2 $500.0 miltion 3% Coavertible Subordinated Note due 2010 to SBC Communications, Inc.

*  OnOctober 2, 200_3, we sold (i) $1.0 billion principal amount of our § 3/4% Senibr Notes due 2008; (ii) $1.0 billion principal amount
of aur 6 3/8% Scnior Notes due 201 1; and (iii) $500.0 million principal amount of our Floating Rate Senior Notes duc 2008.

This increase from 2002 to 2003 was partially offset by the following financing uses of cash:
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»  Effective February 1, 2003, we redeemed all of the $375.0 million outstanding principal amounts of our 9 1/4% Senior Notes due
2006.

*  Effective Scptember 3, 2003, we redecmed $245.0 million of the $700.0 million oustanding principal amount of our 9 1/8 % Senior
Notes due 2009.

. Effective October 26, 2003, we redeemed all of the $1.0 billion outstanding principal amount of our 4 7/8% Convertible
Subordinated Notes due 2007.

»  During the fourth quarter of 2003, we repurchased approximately $201.6 million of the $1.625 billion prmclpal amount outstanding
on our 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009 in open market transactions.

*  During the fourth quarter of 2003, we repurchased shares of our Class A common stock in open market transactions for a total cost of
approximately $190.4 million.

This increase from 2002 to 2003 was alro partially offsct by the net cash received from the issuance and subsequent repurchase of our Series D
convertible preferred stock during 2002.

Other Liguidity Items

Subscriber turnover. Our percentage monthly subscriber churn for the year ended December 31, 2004 was approximately 1.62%, compared to
our pereentage subscriber churm for the same period in 2003 of approximately 1.57%. We belicve the increase in subscriber chum resulted from
2 number of factors, including but not limited to competition from digital cable, cable bounties, piracy, temporary customer service deficiencics
resulting from rapid expension of our installation, in-home service and call center operations, and from increasingly complex products, the
tamporary unavailability of Viacom programming, and the changes in promotional mix discussed below. Whilke we believe the impact of many
of these factors will dimsinish with time, there can be no assurance that these and other factors will not continue to contribute to relatively
higher churn than we have expericaced historically. Additionally, certzin of our promotions allow consumers with relatively lower credit to
come subscribers and these subscribers typically churn at a higher rate. However, thesc subscribers are also acquired at 2 lower cost resulting
s a smaller econpmic loss upon disconnect.

Effective February 1, 2004, we introduced our Digital Home Advantage program. Under this promotion, subscribers who lease equipment are
ot required 1o cater into annual of longer programming commitments. Therefore, Digital Hame Advantage subscribers may be more likely to
terminate during their first year of scrvice because there is no financial disincentive for them to terminate. Priar to introduction of this
promotion, & greater percentage of our new DISH Netwark subscribers entered into one or two year commitments, obligating them to pay
cancellation fees for early termination. However, we befieve that any impact on our overall economic retumn has been, and will continue 1o be,
mitigated in the near term by the acquisition of more DISH Network subscribers under our Digital Home Advantage promotion, whereby upon
cnstomner disconnect the equipment is returned and may be redeployed to future subscribers.

We currently offer local broadcast channels in approximately 155 markets across the United States. In 38 of those markets, two dishes are
necessary to receive all local channels in the market. SHVERA now requires, among other things, that all local broadcast channels delivered by
satellite to any particular market be available from a single dish within 18 months of the law’s December 8, 2004 effective date. Because we
had planned 10 transition all Joce! channels in any particular market to the same dish by 2008 rather than in the shorter transition period
mandated by SHVERA, satellite capacity limitations may force us to move the local channcls in as many s 30 markets to different satellites,
requiring subscribers in those markets to install a second or a different dish to continuc receiving their Jocal network channels. We may be
forced to stop offering local channels in some of those markets altogether.

The trensition of all local channels to the same dish could result in distuptions of service for & substantial number of our customers, and our
shility to timely comply with this requirement without incurring significant additional costs is dependent on, among other things, the succesaful
lamch and operation of one or more additional satellites. It is possible that the costs of compliance with this requirement could exceed

$100.0 miltion. To the extent some of those costs arc passed on to our subscribers, and because many subscribers may be wnwilling to install
second dish where one had been adequate, we expect that our subscriber churn could be pegatively impacted.
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In addition, if the FCC finds that our current “must carry” metheds arc not in compliance with the “must carry” rules, while we would attempt
to continue providing local network channels in all markets without interruption, we could be forced by capacity constraints to reduce the
number of markets in which we provide local channels. This could cause a temporary increase in subscriber churn and a small reduction in
average monthly revenue per subseriber.

Impacts from our litigation with the networks in Florida, FCC rules governing the delivery of superstations, and other factors could cause us to
terminate delivery of network channels and superstations to a substantial anmber of our subscribers, which could cause many of those
customers to cancel their subscription to our other services. In the event the Court of Appeals upholds the Miami District Court’s network
litigation injunction, and if we do wot reach private settlement agreements with additional stations, we will attempt to assist subscribers in
aranging alternative means to receive network charmels, including migration to local channels by saiellite where available, and free off air
antenna offers in other markews. However, we cannot predict how many subscribers might ultimately cancel their primary DISH Network.
programming as 2 result of termination of their distant network channcls. We could be required to terminate distant network programming to all
subscribers in the event the plaintiffs prevail on their cross-appeal and we are permanently enjoined from delivering all distant network
channels. Termination of distant network programming to subscribers would result in a reduction in average wonthly reveaue per subscriber
and a temporary increase in subscriber chum.

Increases in piracy or theft of our signal, or our competitors” signals, also could cause subscriber chumn to increase in future periods. We
continue to respond o compromises of our encryption system with security measures intended 10 make signal theft of our programming more
difficult. In ordes to combat piracy and maintain the fimctionality of active sct-top boxes, we are in the process of replacing older generation
smart cards with newer generation smart cards. We expect to complete the replacement of older generation smart cards during the sccond hatf
of 2005. However, there can be no assurance that these security measures or any future security measures we may implement will be effective
in reducing piracy of our programming signals. :

Additionally, as the size of our subscriber base continues to increase, cven if percentage subscriber chur remains constant, increasing mumbers
of gross new DISH Network subscribers are roquired to sustain net subscriber growth,

“wbscriber acquisition and retention costs. As previously described, we generally subsidize installation and all or 2 portion of the cost of
= hoStar receiver systems in order to attract new DISH Network subscribers. Our costs to acquire subscribers, and to a lesser extent our

. subscriber retention costs, can vary significantly from period to period and can causc material variability to our net income (loss) and free cash
flow. While there can be no assurance, we believe contimued tightening of credit requirements, together with promotions wailored towards
subscribers with maltiple receivers and advanced products such es digital video recorders and high definition receivers, will attract better long-
term subscribers. Our “Subscriber acquisition costs,” both in the aggregate and on a per new subscriber activation basis, or SAC, may
materially increase in the futare 10 the extent that we introduce other more aggressive pramotions if we determine that they are necessary to
respond to competition, or for other reasons.

Our equipment lease penetration increased during the year ended December 31, 2004 a5 compared to the same period in 2003. This reduced our
“Subscribar acquisition costs” and SAC for the current period, and resulted in an increase in capital expenditurcs. In the event we continug to
increase our equipment lease penetration, our SAC will continue to be positively impacted and our capital expenditures will contimue to
incresse. Although we belicve these increase in capital expenditmres have been, and will continue to be, mitigated by equipment returned from
disconnected customers that has been or will be redeployed, new compression technologics will incvitably render some portion of cur current
and future EchoStar receivers obsoletr, and we will incur additional costs, which may be substantial, to upgrade or replace these set-top boxes.

In 2a effort to reduce subscriber tumover, we offer various programs to existing subscribers including programs for new and upgraded
equipment. We generally subsidize installation and all or 2 portion of the cost of EchioStar receivers pursuant to our subscriber retention
programs. During the second half of 2004, we expanded our retention program by offering to leasc additional receivers to existing subseribers.
Our capital expenditures related to subscriber retention programs could increase in the future to the cxtent we increase penctration of ovr
existing subscriber equipment lease program,
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Cash necessary to fund retention programs and total subscriber acquisition costs are expected to be satisfied from existing cash and marketable
investment sccuritics balances and cash gencrated from operations ta the extent available. We may, however, decide to raise additional capital
in the future to meet these requirements. If we decided to raise cepital today, s variety of debt and equity funding sources would likely be
available 10 us. However, there can be no assurance that additional financing will be available on acceptable terms, or at all, if needed in the
future.
Obligations and Future Capital Requirements
Contractual obligations and off-balance sheet arrangements. We have never engaged in off-balance sheet financing activities. Funire
maturities of owr cutstanding debt and contractual obligations are summarized as follows:
Payments due by peried
Tetal 2005 2006-2007 20882008 Thezeafter
(12 thousands)
Long-term debt obligations $5471,153 § — —  $2,946,153  $2525,000
Satclhite-related obligatnons 2,231,363 184,909 546,664 432335 1,067,455
Capital lease obligation 286,605 28,463 41,043 49,687 167412
Operating lease obligations 84,000 24,873 40,822 15,746 2,559
Purchase obligations 1,449,183 1,233,437 91,729 98,060 25,957
Mortgages and other notes payable 45,130 16,599 7,842 4354 16,335
39,567,434 _S_I“fg&gl_ w $3,546,335 §3,804,718
Interest on Long-Term Debt
We have quarterly and semi-anmual cash interest requirements for our outsianding long-term debt securities (Sec Note 4 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in Itema 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for details), as follows:
Anwaal N
Quarterly/Semi-Ansusl Debi Sesvice ’ S
Payment Dotes Requirements > /
5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008 May 15 and November 15 $57,500,000
9 1/8% Senior Notes due 2009 January 15 and July 15 $40,711,461
3% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2010 June 30 and December 31 $15,000,000
Japuary 1, April 1,
Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2008 July I and October 1 $29,050,000
S 3/4% Senior Notes duc 2008 April 1 and October 1 $57,500,000
6 3/8% Senior Notes due 2011 April 1 and October 1 $63,750,000
3% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2011 June 30 and December 31 $ 750,000
6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014 April 1 and October 1 $66,250,000
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Interest accrues on our Floating Rate Seaior Notes duc 2008 based on the three month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™) phus 3.25%.
The interest rate at December 31, 2004 was 5.81%. Semi-annual cash interest requirements related to our 3% Convertible Subordinated Note
due 2011 commenced on December 31, 2004. Scani-annual cash intcrest requirements related to our 6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014 will
comumence on April §,2005. There are no scheduled principal payment or sinking fund requirements prior to maturity on any of these notes,

We also have periodic cash interest requiremeats for our outstanding capital lease obligation, mortgages and other notes payable. Future
maturities of the cash interest requircments for all of our outstanding long-term debt are sermarized as follows:

Paymestsdvebyperiod
Total 2085 2006-2007 2008-2009 Thereafier

(ln housands)
Long-term debt $1,927,018  $329.818  $661,023  $467,867 3468310
Capital lezse obligation, mortgages and other notes payable 132,741 22 515 39,612 32,108 38,506
Total $2059,759  §$352333 $700,635 $499,975 $506,816

Satellite-Related Obligations
Setellites under Construction. We have entered into contrects to construct four satellites, sec “Item 1 — Business — Our Satellites.”

*+  Douring July 2003, we entcred into a contract for the construction of EchoStar X, We anticipate construction to be completed and that
this satellite will be launched during the fourth quarter of 2005,

*  During December 2004, we entered into a contract for the construction of EchoStar XL Construction is expected to be completed
during 2007 and is contingent upon, among other things, Fnalization of the necessary bankruptcy court approvals. There can be no
assurance these approvals will be finalized or that the satellite will ultimately be launched. Future commitments related to this
satellite are included in the table above.

"+ During December 2004 and March 2005, we entered into contracts for the construction of two spot beam Ka-hand satcllites, which
are expected to be completed during 2008.

Satellites under Lease. We have also cutered into satellite service agrecments o lease capacity on five satellites, see “Item | — Business —
Our Satellites.”

*  Inconnection with the SES Americom agreement for the lease of the AMC-15 satellite discussed under Capital Lease Obligation
below, we are currently leasing all of the capacity on an existing in-orbit FSS satellite, AMC-2. Our Jease of this satellits will
continue at least until AMC-15 is placed in service at this location, which is expecied to occur during the second half of 2045.

*  During Februsry 2004, we entered info two sdditionsal saveilite service agreements for capacity on FSS satellites. The satellite under
the: first of these agreements, AMC-16, launched during the fourth quarter of 2004 and commenced commercial operations during the
first quarter of 2005. This tea-year satellite service agrecment is renewable by us on a year ta year basis following the initial term,

and provides us with certain rights to replacement satellites. In ction with this agy t, we prepaid $29.0 million during 2004
and are required to make monthly payments for this satellite for the ten-year period following commencement of commercial
operations.
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+  The satellitc under the sccond of these agreements is planned for launch during 2006 and is contingent upon, among other things,
obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. There can be no assurance that we will obtain these approvels or that the satellite will
ultimately be lannched. In connection with this sgreement, we prepaid $55.0 million during 2004 and are required to make monthly
payments for this satellite for the 15-year period following commencement of commercial operations. Future commitments related to
this satellite are incladed in the table above.

*  During Augast 2003, we cxercised our option under the SES Americom agreement for AMC-15 to also lease for an initiaf ten-year
term all of the capacity on & pew DBS satellite at an orbital location to be determined at a future date. In connection with this
agreement, we prepaid $20.9 million to SES Americom during 2004, We snticipate that this satellite will be launched during 2006.

As a result of our recent agreements with fixed satellite service providers and for the construction of EchoStar X, EchoStar X1, and the Ka-band
satellites, our obligations for payments related 10 satellites have increased substantially. In certain circamstances the dates om which we arc
obligated to make these payments could be delayed. These amounts will increase when we commence pryments for the {aunches of EchoStar
X1 and the Ka-band satcllites, and would further increase to the extent we procure insurance for our sateilites or contract for the construction,
launch ot lease of additional satellites.

Capital Lease Obligation

During Merch 2003, we entered into a satellite service agrocment with SES Americora for all of the capacity on a new FSS satellite, AMC-15.
The ten-year satellite service agreement for the new satellite is rencwable by us on a year to year basis following the initial term, and provides
us with certain rights to replacement satellites. We are required to make monthly payments 10 SES Americom for this satellite over the next ten
years beginning in 2005. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accovating Standards No. 13 (“SFAS 137), we have accounted for the
satellite component of this agreement as a capital lease (See Note 4 in the Notes to the Censolidated Financial Statements in Item 15 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-X). The commitment related to the prescnt value of the net futare minimum lease payments for the satelfite
component of the agreement is inctuded under Capital Lease Obligation in the table above. The commitment related to future mmimum
payments designated for the lease of the 105 degree orbital location and other executory costs is included under Satellite-Related Obligations in
the table above. The commitment related to the amount representing interest is included under Interest on Long-Term Debt in the table above.

curchare Obligations

Qur 2005 purchase obligations primerily consist of binding purchase orders for EchoStar receiver systems and refated equipment, and for
products and services rekated t the operation of our DISH Network. Our purchase obligations also include certain guaranteed fixed contractoal
commitments to purchase programming conteat. Qur purchase obligations can fluctuate significantly from pexiod to period due 10, among other
things, menagement’s control of inventory levels, and can meterially impact our futarc operating asset and lability balaaces, and our futurc
working capital requircments.

Programming Contracts

Tn the narmal course of business, we have also entered into numerous contracts to purchase programming comtent whereby our payment
obligations are fully contingent on the mumber of subscribers to which we provide the respective content. These programming commitments arc
not included in the table above. The terms of our contracts typically range from anc to ten years. Our programming expenses will continue to
increase to the extent we are successful growing our subscriber base. Programming expenses are included in “Subscriber-related expenses™ in
the accompanying consolidated statemnents of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
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Sareliite insurance. We currently do not carry insurance for any of our satellites. We believe we bave in-orbit satellite capacity sufficient to
expeditiously recover transmission of most programming in the event one of our in-orbit satellites fails. However, programming continuity
cannot be assured in the event of multiple satellite losses. Further, we depend on our EchoStar VIN satellite to provide local channels to over
40 markets until at lcast such time that our EchoStar X satellite i launched. In the event that EchoStar VIII experienced 2 total or sabstantial
failure, we could transfer many, but not all of those channels to other in-orbit satellites.

Future capital requirements. In addition to our DBS business plan, we are exploring business plans for FSS Ku-{extended) band and FSS Ka-
band satellite systems, inchuding licenses 1o operate at the 97, 109, 113, 117 and 121 degree orbital locations.

As aresult of expected penetration of our new and existing subsceiber equipment kease programs, we anticipate an increasc in capitalized
subscriber equipment during 2005. In addition, in order to suppost the continued increase in the mumber of local markets in which we offer
local network channels by satellite and for possible future broadband services, during 2005 we are constructing several new mini digital
broadcast opcrations centers. As previously discussed, on January 20, 2005, we agreed to purchase certain satellite assets from Rainbow DBS
Co., a subsidiery of Cablevision Systems Corporation, for $200.0 million. The transaction is subject to customary caaditions, including
regulatory approval by the FCC. As previously discussed, we expect our capital expendinires for 2005 to be higher than 2004 capital
expenditures of $980.6 miltion.

From time to time we cvaluate opportunities for strategic investments or acquisitions that would complement our current services and products,
enhaace our technical capabilitics or etherwise offer growth opportunities. Future material investments ot acquisitions may require that we
obtain additional capital. Also, as discussed previously, our Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to an edditional $1.0 billion of
our Class A common stock, which could require that we raise additional capital. There can be no assurance that we could raise all required
capital or that required capital would be available on acceptable terms.

Security Ratings

Our cusrent credit ratings are Ba3 and BB- on our long-term senior notes, and B2 and B with respect to our publicly traded convertible
~ubordinated notes, as rated by Moody’s [nvestor Service and Standard and Poor’s Rating Service, respectively. Debt ratings by the verious
ing agencies reflect cach agency’s opinion of the ability of issuers to repay debt obligations as they come due.

With respect to Moody’s, the Ba3 rating for our senior debt indicates that the obligations are judged to bave speculative clements and are
subject to substantial credit risk. For S&P, the BB- rating indicates the issuer is less vulnerable to nonpayment of interest 2ud principal
obligations than other speoulative issucs. However, the issuer faces major ongoing uncertaintics or exposure to adverse business, financial, or
economic conditions, which could fead 10 the obligor’s inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

With respect to Moody’s, the B2 rating for our publicly traded convertible subordinated debt indicates that the security is considered
speculative and is subject to high credit risk. For S&P, the B rating indicates the issuer is more vulnerable to nonpayment of interest and
principal obligations, but the issuer currently has the capacity to meet itz financial commitment on the obligation. In general, lower ratings
result in higher borrowing costs. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or bold securities and may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating orgenizstion. Each rating should be evalusted independently of any other rating.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated fmancial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make cstimates, judgmeats and
assumptions that affect amounts reported therein. Management bascs its cstimates, judgments and assumptions on historical expericnce and on
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstences. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making cstimates,
actual results reported in future periods may be affected by changes in those estimates. The following represent what we believe are the critical
accounting policics that may involve a high degree of cstimation, judgment and complexity. For a surmmary of our
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significant accounting policies, including thasc discusscd below, see Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item IS of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

*  Capitalized satellite receivers . Since we relain ownership of equipment provided pursuant (o our new and existing subscriber
equipment lcasc programs, we capitalize and depreciate equipment costs that would otherwise be expensed at the tme of sale. Such
capitalized costs are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the equipment, which is based upon, among other things,
management’s judgment of the risk of technological obsolescence. Because of the inherent difficulty of making this estimate, the
cstimated useful life of capitalized equipment may change based on, among other things, historical experience and changes in
technology as well as our response to competitive conditions.

. Acceuanting for investments in private and publicly-traded securities . We hold debt and equity interests in companies, some of
which are publicly traded and have highly volatile priccs. We record an investment impairment charge when we believe an
investment has expericaced a decline in valoe that is judged to be other than temporary. We manitar our investments for impairment
by considering current factors including economic environment, market conditions and the operational performance and other
specific factors relating to the business underlying the investment. Future adverse changes in these factors could result in losses or an
inability to recover the carrying value of the investments that may not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying velue, thereby
possibly requiring an impainment charge in'the futore,

. Veluation of Long-Lived Assets . We cvaluate the carrying value of long-fived asscts to be held and used, other then goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives, when events and circumstances warrant such a review. The carrying value of & long-lived asset
is congidered impaired when the anticipated undiscounted cash fiow from sach asset is less than its carying value. In that event, o
loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair vatue of the long-lived asset. Fair vatue is
determined primarily using the estimated cash flows associated with the asset under review, discounted at a rale commensurate with
the risk involved. Losses on long-tived asscts to be disposed of by sale are determined in a similar manner, except that feir values are
reduced for selling costs. Changes in estimates of future cash flows could result in a write-down of the asset in 2 future period.

v Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives . We cvaluate the carrying value of goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite Hives anmually in the fourth quartes, and also when events and circumstances warrant. We usc estimates of fair
value to determine the amount of impairment, if any, of recorded goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. Fair value is
determined primarily using the estimated furure cash flows, discoumted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved. Changes i our
estimates of future cash flows could result in a write-down of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives in a future period,
which could be material to our consolidated results of operations and financial position.

»  Smartcard replacement . We use conditional access technology, including embedding microchips in credit card-sized access cards,
or “smart cards,” to encrypt our programming so only those who pay caa receive it, Our signal cucryption has becn pirsted, aliowing
illega! receipt of aur programming, and our security systems could be further compromised in the future. Theft of our programming
reduces future potential revenue and increases our net subscriber acquisition casts. In addition, theft of our competitors’
programming can also increase our churn, Compromises of our encryption technology could also adversely affect our ability to
contract for video and audio services provided by programmers. To further combat pirecy and maintain the functionality of active
set-top baxes, we are in the process of replacing older generation smart cards with newer generstion smart cards. We have accrued a
liability for the replacement of smart cards in satellite receivers sold to and owned by subscribers based on the estimated number of
cards that will be needed to execute our plan. This estimate is based on 2 number of variables, including historical subscriber churn
trends and the estimated per card costs for smart card replacements. Changes in, among other things, the timing of the replacement
plan could result in increases or decreases in the smart card replscement reserve. We expect to complete the replacement of older
generation smart cards during the second half of 2005.

«  Allowance for DoanAcwinm . Management estimates the amount of required allowances for the potential nm—collcctjbﬂity of
accounts receivable based upon past collection experience and consideration of othes relevant fectors. However, past expericace may
not be indicative of foture collections and therefore

.
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additional charges could be incurred in the future to reflect differences between estimated and actual collections.

+  Imcome taxes . Our income tax policy is to record the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax bascs of
agse1s and linbilities and amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. We follow the guidclines sct forth in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes” regarding the recoverability of any tax assets recorded on the balance sheet and provide smy necessary valuation allowances
as required. Determining necessary valuation allowances requires us to make assessments about the timing of future events, including
the probability of expected future taxable income and available tax planming opportunitics. In sccordance with SFAS 109, we
periodically evaluate our need for & vahation allowance based on both historical evidence, including trends, and fiture expectations
in each reporting period. Puture performance could have 2 significant effect on the realization of tax benefits, or reversals of
valuation allowances, as reported in our results of operations. Reversing our cutrent recorded valuation allowance would have a
material positive impact on our “Net income (loss)” for future periods.

. Contingens liabilities . A significant amount of management jodgment is required in determining when, or if, an accrual should be
recorded for a contingency and the amount of such accrual. Estimates arc developed in consultation with outside counsel end are
based on an analysis of potential outcomes. Due to the uncertainty of determining the likelihood of & future event occiunring and the
potential financial statement impact of such an event, it is possible that upon further development or resolution of & contingency
metter, a charge could be recorded in a furnre period that would be material to our consolidated results of operations and financial
position.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004),
“Share Based Payment” (“SFAS 123®™) which (i) revises SFAS Ne. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123™) to
climinate the disclosure only provisions of that statement and the alternative to follow the intrinsic valuc method of accounting under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25™) and its related implementation
idance, and (i) requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments,

<luding grants of employee stock options, based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize that cost in its results of operations
over the period during which an employee is required to provide the requisite service in exchange for that award. The statement is effective for
financial statements as of the beginning of the first interim period that begins after June 15, 2005. Companies may ¢lect to apply this statement
either prospectively, or on & modified version of retrospective epplication under which financial statements for prior periods re adjusted on a
basis consistent with the pro forma disclosures required for those periods under SFAS 123. We are currently cvaluating which transitional
provision and fair value methodology we will follow. However, we expect that any expease associated with the adoption of the provisians of
SFAS 123® will have a material negative impact oo our results of aperations.

Seasonality

Our revenues vary throughout the year. As is typical in the subscription television service industry, the first half of the year genenally produces
fewer new subscribers than the second half of the year. Our operating results in any period may be affected by the incurrence of sdvertising and

promotion expenses that do not necessarily produce commensurate revenues until the impact of such advertising and promotion is realized in
future periodg.

Inflation

Inflation has not l;ntcx.ially lffecwd our operations during the past three years, We belicve that our ability to increase the prices charged for our
products and services in future periods will depend primarily on competitive pressures. We do not have any meterial backlog of our products.
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.arket Risks Associated With Financial Instrumeants

As of December 31, 2004, our restricted and mrestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable investment securities had s fair market value of
approximately $1.213 billion. Of that amouat, 3 total of approximately $1.039 billion was invested in: (a) cash; (b) debt mstrumeats of the U.S.
Government and its agencies; (¢) commercial paper and notes with an overall average maturity of less than one year and rated in one of the four
highest rating categorics by at least two nationally recognized statistical rating prganizations; and (d) instraments with similar risk
characteristics to the commercial paper described above. The primary purpose of these investing activities has been to preserve priucipal until
the cash is required to, among otber things, fand openations, make strategic investments and expand the business. Consequently, the size of this
pastfolio fluctuates significantly as cash is received and used in our business.

Our restricted and unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable investment securitics bad an average annual retum for the year cnded
December 31, 2004 of approximately 2.1%. A hypothetical 10.0% decrease in interest rates would result in & decrease of approximately

$4.2 million in ennual interest income. The valoe of certain of the investments in this portfolio can be impacted by, among other things, the risk
of adverse changes in securities and cconomic markets generally, as well as the risks related to the performance of the companies whose
commereial paper and other instruments we hold. However, the high quality of these investments (as 2ssessed by independent rating agencies),
reduces these risks. The vahie of these investmeats can also be impacted by interest rate fluctustions.

At December 31, 2004, all of the $1.039 billion was invested in fixed or varishle rate instruments or money market type accounts. While an
increase in interest rates would ordinarily adversely impact the fair market velue of fixed and variable rate investments, we normally hold these
investments to maturity. Consequently, neither interest rate fluctuations nor other market risks typically result in significant realized grins or
losses to this portfolio. A decrease in interest rates has the effect of reducing our futurc anoual interest income from this portfolio, since funds
wotld be re-invested at lower rates as the mstruments mature, Over time, any net percentage decrease in intercst rates could be reflected in e
corresponding net percentage decrease in our interest income. :

Included in our marketable securities postfolio balance is debt and equity of public and private companics we hold for strategic and financial
purposes. As of December 31, 2004, we held strategic and financial debt and cquity invéstments of public companics with a fair market valuc
of approximately $174.3 million. We may make additional strategic and financisl investments in debt and other equity securities in the fature.
The fair market value of our strategic and financial debt and equity investmeats can be significantly impacted by the risk of adverse changes in

~curities markets generally, as well as risks related 1o the performance of the companies whose securitics we have invested in, risks associated

th specific industries, and other factors. These investments are subject to significant fluctuations in fair market vahuc duc to the volatility of

the securities markets and of the underlying businesses. A hypothetical 10.0% edverse change in the price of ur public strategic debt end
equity investments would result in approximatety & $17.4 million decrease in the fair market vahue of that portfolio. The fair market value of
our strategic debt investments are currently not materially impacted by interest rate fluctuatioas due to the natare of these mvestments.

We currently classify all marketable fnvestment securitics as available-for-sale. We adjust the carrying value of our available-for-sale sceuritics
to fair market value and report the related temporary unrealized gains and losses as a scparatc component of “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” within “Total stockholders® equity (deficit),” net of related deferred income tax. Declines in the fair market value of a
marketable investment scourity which ere estimated to be “other than temporary” sre recognized in the consofidated statement of operations,
tbms establishing 2 new cost basis for such investment. We evaluate our marketable investment securities portfolio on a quarterly basis to
determine whether declines in the fair market value of thesc securities arc other than tempocary. This quarterly evatustion consists of
reviewing, smong other things, the fair market valuc of our marketable investmicnt scourities compared to the carrying smount, the historical
volatility of the price of each security and any market and compauy specific factors related to cach sccurity. Genorally, absent specific factors
10 the contrary, declines in the fair market vatue of investments below cost basis for 8 period of less than six months are considered to be
temparary. Declines in the fair market value of investments for a period of six to ninc months are evalusted on a casc by casc basis to
determine whether any companry or market-specific factors exist which would indicate that such declines are other than temporary. Declines in
the fair market value of investments below cost basis for greater than nine months are considered other than temporary and arc recorded as
charges to carnings, absent specific factors to the contrary.
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.5 of December 31, 2004, we had unrealized gains of approximately $51.8 million as a part of “Accumnlated other comprehensive income™
within *“Total stockholders' equity (deficit).” During the year ended December 31, 2004, we did not record any charge to camnings for other
than temporary declines in the fair market value of our marketable investment securities, and we realized nct losses of approximately

39.0 million oa sales of marketable and non-marketsble investment securitics. Realized gains and Josses are accounted for on the specific
identification method. During the twelve months eaded December 31, 2004, our portfolio generally, and our strategic investments particularfy,
has experienced and contimues to experieace volatility. If the fair market value of our marketablc sccuritics portfolio docs not remain sbove
cost basis or if we become aware of any market or compamy specific factors that indicate that the carrying value of certain of our securities is
impaired, we may be required to record charges to camings in future periods equal to the amount of the decline in fair market value.

We also have strategic cquity investments in certain non-marketable investmen! sccurities. We account for such uncousolidated investments
under cither the equity method or cost method of accounting. These securities are not publicly traded and accordingly, it is not practical to
regularly estimate the fair value of these investments, however, these investments are subject to an evaluation for other than temporary
impairment on a quarterly basis. This quarterly evaluation consists of revicwing, among other things, company business pians and current
financial statements, if available, for factors that may indicate an impairment of our investmeat. Such factors may include, but are not imited
to, cash flow concerns, material litigation, violations of debr covenants and changes in business strategy. The fair value of these mvestments is
not estimated unless there are identified changes in circumstances that are likely to have s significant adverse effect on the fair value of the
ipvestment. Our ability to realize value from our stratcgic investments in companics that are not publicly traded is dependent on the success of
their business and their ablity to obtain sufficient capital to execute their business plans. Since private markets are not as liquid as public
market, there is also increased risk that we will not be able to scll these mvestments, or that when we desire to sell them we will not be able to
obtain full value for them. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we had $90.4 million aggregate carrying amount of non-marketable and
unconsolidated strategic equity investments, of which $32.7 roillion was accounted for under the cost method. During the year ended
December 31, 2004, we did not recoed any impainuent charges with respect to these investments.

As of December 31, 2004, we estimated the fair vatue of our fixed-mate debt and mortgages snd other notes payable to be approximately

$5.924 billion using quoted market prices where available, and third party valuations ar discounted cash flow analyses when it was practicablc

to do so. The intcrest rates assumed in these discounted cash flow analyses reflect interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar

terms o borrowers of similar credit quality. The fair value of our fixed-rate debt and mortgages is affected by fluctuations in interest rates. A

hypothetical 10.0% decrease in assumed interest rates would increase the fair valuc of our debt by approximately $161.2 million. To the extemt

“~terest rates increase, our costs of financing would increase at such time as we are required to refinance our debt. As of December 31, 2004, 2
pothetical 10.0% increase in assumed interest rates would increase our annual interest cxpense by approximately $35.6 million.

We have not used derivative ﬁnanciﬂ instruments for hedging or speculative purposes.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are included in this report beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. CBANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, inctuding our Chief Exccutive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, we
cvaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of aur “disclosure controls and procedures™ (as defined in Rule 138-15(¢) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the cad of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
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- As part of our evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we identified certain

_«ficiencies in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that constitute » “significant deficiency” as defined by the Public
mpany Accounting Oversight Boerd’s Auditing Standard No. 2. This sigrificant deficiency resulted in part from the failure to maintain

accurste books and records identified by the Review described under “ltem 1 Description of Business — Recent Developments — Internal
Review and Filing of Purported Securities Class Action™. That Review reported oac instance in which one of gur executive officers in charge
of certain business functions directed the preparation in prior years of inaccurate documentation that was used to determine paymeuts made to a
vendar. We have also identified several other significant deficiencies, none of which individually or in the aggregate constituted a “material
weakness” in our internal control over financial reporting as of Decernber 31, 2004,

Management’s Report on Internal Controt Over Fipancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal controf over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasonabic assurance regarding the relisbility of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statcments for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

() pertain o the meintenance of records that, in ble detail, ac tely and fairly reflect our trensactions and dispositions of our
assets;

(i) provide reasonsble assurance that our transactions are recorded as necessary to perwnit preparation of our financial statements in
with gencrally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our mansgement and our directors; and

(iif) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of cur asscts
that could have 2 material effect an aur financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contraf over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of cffectivencss to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate becausc of changes in conditions, or
+hat the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may detcriorate.

Owr management conducted an evaluation of the effectivencss of our inteal control over financial reporting basod oa the framework ju
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
cvaluation, our management concluded that our intemnal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.

The scope of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fmancial reporting excludes the businesses and related
asscts of Gemstar’s Superstar/Netlink Group L.L.C. (“SNG™), UVTV distribution, and SpaceCom, which we acquired in 2 purchasc business
combination during 2004. Our consclidated total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 were approximately $7.151 billion, of which
the revenuss of SNG, UVTYV distribution and SpaceCom represented $59.0 million, or less than 1%. Our consolidated total assets as of
December 31, 2004 were $6.029 billion, of which the assets of SNG, UVTV distribution and SpaceCom represented $12.9 million, or less than
1%.

Our menagement's assessment of the cffectiveness of our internal contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by
XPMG LLP, an indcpeadent registered public sccounting firm, as stated in their sttestation report which is included herem.
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- Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

1¢ Board of Directors and Stockholders
EchoStar Communications Corporation:

We have andited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Repor: on Internal Control Over Financial

ing, that EchoStar Communications Corporation meintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-<Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). EchoStar Communications Carporation’s management is responsible for maintsining effective internal
coutrol over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectivencss of intemal contro] over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, cvaluating
management’s asscssment, testing and cvaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion_

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finencial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reparting inchudes those policies and procedurcs that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
rocords that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are vecorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with gencrally
accepied accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
managernent and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unautborized
acguisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstalements. Also, projections of any
cvzluation of effectiveness to future periods arc subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
“at the depree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's asscssment that EchoStar Communications Corporation mainteined cffcctive intcrnal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, s fairly stated, in afl material respects, based on criteria cstablished in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, EchoStar
Communications Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective intemal control over financial reporting 2s of December 31, 2004,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

Echostar Communications Corporation's assessment of the effectivencss of intemal control over financial reporting excludes the businesses
and related asscts of Gamstar's Superstar/Netliok Group L.L.C. (SNG), UVTV distribution, and SpaceCom, which were acquited in a purchase
business combination during 2004, Echostar Communications Corporation’s consolidated total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004
were epproximately $7.151 billion, of which the revenues of SNG, UVTV distribution and SpaceCom represented $59.0 million, or Iess than
1%. Echostar Communications Corporation’s consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2004 were $6.029 billion, of which the assets of
SNG, UVTYV distribution and SpaceCorm represented $12.9 million, or less than 1%.
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- We also have andited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidared T
alance sheets of EchoStar Communications Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the relsted consolidated )
wtements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders® equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 16, 2005 expressed an unqualificd opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 16, 2005
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PART I
.em 10, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The information required by this Item with respect to the identity and business experience of our directors will be st forth in our Proxy
Statement for the 2005 Annual Mecting of Sharcholders under the caption “Election of Directors,” which information is hereby incorporated
berein by reference.

The information required by this Item wath respect to the identity and busincss experience of our executive officers is st forth on page 22 of
this report under the caption “Exccutive Officers.”

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Sharcholders under the caption
“Executive Compensation and Other Information,” which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Mecting of Sharcholders under the captions
“Election of Directors,” “Equity Security Gwaership” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information,” which information is bereby incorporated
herein by reference.

Ttem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Sharcholders under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions,” which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

“*em 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The infonmation required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the caption
“Principal Accountant Fees and Services,” which information is hereby incorporated hercin by reference.

PART IV
Htem 15, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
() The following documents arc filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Siatements

Pape

Report of KPMG LLP, Independent Regisiered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 F3
Consolidated Stateraents of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and

2002 F4
Consolidated Staiements of Changes in Stockholders* Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 F-S
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 F6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Staternents F-7

(2) Financial Statemens Schedules
None. All schedules have been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits
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(a)*

3.1(b)*

32(a)*

32

41*

42*

4.3*

44*

4.5

4.7

4.8¢

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of EchoStar (incorporated by reference to Exbibit 3.1(a) on the Quarterly Report
ou Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quaster ended June 30, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of EchoStar (incorporated by reference to Exhbibit 3.1(b) on the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176). -

Articles of Incorporation of EDBS (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4(a) to the Registration Statement on Forra S4 of EDBS,
Registration No. 333-31929).

Bylaws of EDBS (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4(b) to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of EDBS, Registration
No. 333-31929).

Registration Rights Agreement by and between EchoStar and Charles W. Ergen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 of EchoStsr, Registration No. 33-91276).

Indeature relating to 10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007, dated as of November 12, 2002, betweea EDBS and U S. Bank Trust
National Association, as trustee {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the
year ended December 31, 2002, Commission File No.0-26176).

Indeature, relating to the 5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2008, dated as of May 31, 2001 between EchoStar and U.S.
Bank Trust National Association, as Trustee (incorparated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, Commission File No.0-26176).

Registration Righis Agreement, relating to the 5 3/4% Couvertible Subordinated Notes Duc 2008, dated as of May 31, 2001, by and
between EchoStar and UBS Warburg L.L.C, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter cnded June 30, 2001, Commission File No.0-26176).

Indenture, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated as of December 28, 2001 betweea EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, a3 Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 1o the Anrual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the
year ended December 31, 2001, Commissian File No. 0-26176).

Registration Rights Agreement, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated as of December 28, 2001, by and among
EDBS end Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown, Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston Cosporation, Lehman Brothers Inc. and UBS Warburg
L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31,
2001, Commission File No. 0-26176).

Indenture, relating to EDBS 5 3/ «% Senior Notes due 2008, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustec (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for
the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

Indenture, relating to EDBS 6 3/8% Senior Notes due 2011, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Back Trust

National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for
the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).
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“g* Indenture, relating to EDBS Floating Senior Notes due 2008, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the
quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File Na. 0-26176).

4.10* Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 2, 2003 among EDBS and the ather parties named berein (incosporated by
refercnce to Exhibit 4.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended Scptember 30, 2003, Cammission
File No. 0-26176).

411" 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

4.12* First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the Anmual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission Fik No. 0-26176).

413+ First Supplemental Indenture, relating o the 5 3/4% Senior Notes Due 2008, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

4.14* First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 6 3/8% Senior Notes Due 2011, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustec (incorporated by refercoce to Exhibit 4.14 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission File No, 0-26176).

4.15¢ First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the Floating Rate Senior Notes Due 2008, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS
and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustce (incorporatcd by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to the Annual Report on Form 10-
K far the year ended December 31, 2003, Commuission File No. 0-26176).

4.16% First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 10 3/8% Senior Notes Due 2007, dated as of December 34, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust National Assaciation, as Trustee {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 1o the Annual Report on Form 10-X for
the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

R4 Form of Satcllitc Launch Insurance Declarations (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1010 the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 of Dish Ltd., Registration No. 33-81234).

10.2¢ Manufacmring Agreement, dated as of March 22, 1995, between HTS and SCI Technology, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of Dish Ltd., Commission File No. 33-81234).

103*  EchoStar 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (incotporsted by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 of
EchoStar, Registration No. 33-91276).**

10.4* Echostar 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (incorparated by reference to Exhibit C to EchoStar's Definitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A dated March 23, 1999).*+

10.5* 1995 Non-cmployee Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on Farm S-
8 of Echostar, Registration Na. 333-05575).%*

10.6* 2001 Non-employee Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-
8 of Echostar, Registration No. 333-66490).**

10.7* 2002 Class B CEO Stock Option Plan (moorpmatcd | by mfmmcc 10 Appendix A to EchoStar’s Definitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 144 dated April 9, 2002).**

10.8* Apreement between HTS, ESC and EipressVu Inc., dated January 8, 1997, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18

;cé :13136) Anmal Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 1996, as amended, Comvmission File No. 6-
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10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

Agreement to FormANagraStz.r L.L.C,, dated as of June 23, 1998, by and besween Kudelski S.A, EchoStar and ESC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Annual Report ou Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 1998, Conumission
File No. 0-26176).

License and OEM Manufacturing Agreement, dated July 1, 2002, between EchoStar Satellite Corporation, EchoStar Technologics
Corporation and Thomsen multimedia, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, Commission File No. 0-26176).2%*

Amendment No. 19 to License and OEM Manufacturing Agreement, datad July 1, 2002, between EchoStar Sateflite Corporation,
EchoStar Technologies Corporation and Themson multimedia, Inc. (incarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Anaual
Report on Form 10-K of EchaStar for the year ended December 31, 2002, Commission File No.08-26176).

Satellite Service Agrecment, dated as of March 21, 2003, between SES Americom, Inc., EchoStar Satellite Corporation and
EchoStar Communications Corporatioa (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.] to the Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 1 to Satellite Service Agreement dated March 31, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Forma 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2003,
Commission File No.0-26176).

Satellite Service Agrecment dated as of August 13, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterty Repart on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-
26176).

Satellite Service Agreement, dated February 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, Commissien File No.0-
26176).

Amendment No. 1 to Satcllite Service Agreement, dated March 10, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchaStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, Commission
File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 3 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated February 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 103 o the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

Whole RF Chamel Service Agreement, dated February 4, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the querter ended March 31, 2004, Commission File No.0-
26176).

Lettcr Amendment to Whole RF Channe! Service Agreement, dated March 25, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004,
Commussion File No.0-26176).

Amendment Na. 2 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated April 30, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc, end EchoStar (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter caded June 30, 2004, Commission
File No.0-26176).
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"121*  Second Amendment to Whale RF Channel Service Agreement, dated May 5, 2004, between Telesat Canada and Echostar
(incorporated by refercnce to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2004,
Commission File Na.0-26176).

1022°  Third Amendment to Whole RF Channe! Service Agreement, dated October 12, 2004, between Telesat Canada and Echostar. ***

© 1023+ Amendment No. 4 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated October 21, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar. ***
10.24+  Amendment No. 3 to Satcllitc Service Agrecment, dalcd November 19, 2004 between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar ***

10.25 Amendment No. 5 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated November 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar. ***

1026+  Amendment No. 6 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated December 20, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar ***

21+ Subsidiaries of EchoStar Communications Corporation.

23.1- Conscat of KPMG LLP, Independent Auditors.

24.1« Powers of Attorney authorizing signature of Micheel T. Dugan, Cantcy Ergen, Raymand L. Fricdlob, Steven R. Goodbarn and C.
Michael Schroeder.

311 Section 302 Certification by Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
31.2¢ Section 302 Certification by Exccutive Vice President aind Chief Financial Officer.
32.1. Section 906 Centification by Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

32.2- Section 906 Certification by Exccutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.

Filed herewith.
*  Incorporated by reference.
Constitotes 2 management contract or compensatary plan or azangement.

***  Filed in redacted form since confidential treatment has been requested pursuent to Rule 24.b-2 for certain portions thereof, A
conforming electronic copy is filed herewith.
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. SIGNATURES

arsuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report w0 be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS
CORPORATION

By: /s/ DavidJ. Rayner
David 1. Rayner
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Date: March 16, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has beea signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the regiswant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatere Title Date
s/ Charles W. Ergen Chief Executive Officer and Chairman (Principal Executive Officer) March 16, 2005
Charles W. Ergen.
1s/ David J. Rayner Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal March 16, 2005
Financial and Accounting Officer)

David J. Rayner
I/ James DeFranco Director March 16, 2005
James DeFranco

David K. Moskowitz Director March 16, 2005
David K_ Moskowitz
M Director ~ Mazch 16, 2005
Michae! T. Dugan
* Director March 16, 2005
Cantey Ergen

. Director March 16, 2005

Raymond L. Friedlob

* Director March 16, 2005
Steven R. Goodbarn
¢ Directar March 16,2005
C. Michacl Schroeder
*By: /s David J. Rayner

David J. Rayner

Atomey-in-Fact
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

c Board of Directors and Stockholders
EchoStar Communications Corporation:

We bave audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of EchoStar Communications Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockbolders’ equity (deficit), and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinton on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
migstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles uscd and significant estimates made by management, as well as evahmting the overall
financis! statement presentation. We belicve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financisl statements referred to above preseat fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EchoStar
Communications Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. geaerally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness
of EchoStar Communications Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria estsblished in
Internal Control—Intcgrated Framework issued by the Committee of Spensoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0), and our
report dated March 16, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control
over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
“ “arch 16, 2005.
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.- ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable investment securities .
Trade accounts receivable, nct of allowance for uncollectible accounts of §9,542 and $12,185, respectively
Inventories, net
_Insurance receivable (Note 9)
Other current assets
Tatal current assets
Restricted cash and marketable investment securities
Cash reserved for satellite insurance (Nate 3)
Property and equipment, net (Note 3)
FCC authorizations
Intangible assets, net (Note 2)
Insurance reccivable (Note 9)
Other noncurrent assets, net (Note 2)
Total asscls

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current Liabilities :
Trade accounts paysble
Deferred revemue and other
Accrued programming
Other accrued expenses
Current portion of capital lcase and othex long-term obligations (Notc 4)
9 3/8% Senior Note s due 2009 (Note 4)
stal current liabilities

Long-tenm obligatioas, net of current portion:

10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007 (Note 4)

5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008

9 1/8% Scauior Notes due 2009 (Note 4)

3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010

Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2008

5 3/4% Senior Notes dor 2008

6 3/8% Semior Notes due 2011

3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 (Note 4)

6 5/8% Senior Note s duc 2014 (Note 4)

Capital leasc obligation, mortgages and other notes payable, net of current portion (Note 4)

Long-term deferred revenue, distribution and carriage payments and other long-term ligbilities (Note 2)
Total long-term obligations, net of current portion

Total liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9)

Stockholders® Equity (Deficit):

Class A common stock, 3.01 par value, 1,600,000,000 shares authorized, 249,028,664 and 246,285,633 shares

issued, 217,235,150 and 240,370,533 shares outstanding, respectively

Class B ct;rgmon stock, $.01 par value, 800,000,000 sharcs authorized, 238,435,208 shares issued and
outstanding

Class C common stock, $.01 par value, 800,000,000 sharcs suthorized, nonc oustanding

Additional paid-in capital

Non-cash, stock-based compensation

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Accumulated deficit

Treasury stock, at cost

sotal stockholders® equity (deficit)

Total liabilifics and stockholders” cquity (deficit)

As of December 31,

04

$ 704560 $1,290.859

251073 2,682,115
478310 345673
271581 155,147
106,000 —
101,784 99,321
2113308 4,573,115
57,552 19.974

— 176843
2,640,168 1876459
739326 711,562
240,186 13221

— 106,000
238737 107844

$6,020277 $7,585018
$ 247698 § 1T3.637
757302 514831
604934 366497
416869 478973
45,062 14,995

— 1413351
2,071,865 _ 2,972,284

— 1,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000
446,153 455000
500000 500,000
500000 500,000
1,000,000 1,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000

25,000 -
1,000,000 _
286,673 44321
277798 145931
6035624 _ 5645258
8,107,489 _ 8,617,542
2,490 2,463
2384 2,384
1,764973 1,733,805

— (1,180)
53418 80,991

(2,901,477)  (2,660,596)

(1,000,000) __(198391)

(2,078.212) {1,032,524)

$6,0292771 § 7,585‘018

b5 -8l




The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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e ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue:
Subscriber-related revenue
Equipment sales
Other

Total revenue

Costs and Expenses:
Subscriber-related expemses (exclusive of depreciation shown below — Note 3)
Satellite and transmission expenses (exclusive of depreciation shown below — Note 3)
Cost of sales — equipment
Cost of sales — other
Subscriber acquisition costs:
Cost of sales — subscriber promotion subsidies {exclusive of depreciation shown below —
Note 3)
Other subscriber promotion subsidics
Subscriber acquisition advertising
Total subscriber acquisition costs
Generul and administrative
Nan-cash, stock-based compensation (Note 7)
Depreciation and amortization (Note 3)
Total costs and expenses

Operating income (loss)

QOther income (expense):
Intcrest income
Interest expense, net of emounts capitalized
Merger termination related expenses (including $33,323 of interest expense)
Other
Tatal other income (expense)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision), net
Net income (loss)

Foreign currency wanslation adjustment

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities

Recognition of previously unrealized (gains) losses on available-for-sale securities included in net
income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) 10 common shareholders

Denominator for basic net income (Joss) per share — weighted-average common shares
outstanding

Denominator for diluted net income (loss) per share — weighted-average coramon shares
outstanding

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic net income (lost)
Diluted net income (loss)

For the Yesrs Laded D 3,
2004 2003 202
$6,677,370 $5,409,875 § 4429699
373,253 295409 348,629
100,593 34,012 42,497
17,151,216 5,739,296 _ 4,820,825
3,567,409 2,707,898 2,200,239
112,239 79322 62,131
305,313 194,491 227,670

33,265 3,496 6,466
459,006 502,656 439,863
925,195 628,928 574,750
143,685 180,484 154,036
1,527,886 1,312,068 1,168,649
397,718 332,723 319,915
1,180 3,544 11,279
502,501 398,206 372,958
6447911 5,031,748 4,369,307
703,305 707,548 451,518
42,287 65,058 112,927
(505,732)  (552,490)  (482,903)
— —  (689,798)
(13,482) 18,766 (170,680)
(476927) _ (468,666) (1,230,454
226378 238,882 (778,936)
(11,609) {14,376) (73,098)

§ 214769 § 224506 § (852,034)
291 1,348 —
6,284 71,480 (114,521)
(34,148) 1,966 117,124

$ 187,196 § 299300 § (849,431)
$ 214769 § 224,506 S (414,601)
464053 483,098 480,429
467,598 488,314 480,429

$ 046 046 $  (0.36)
$ 046 $§ 046 S (0.85)

The accompanying notes are am integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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- ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands, except per share emounts)
Accumulated
Deficit and
Nom-Cssk,  Accamulsted
Additionsl Stock- Other
Chass A 3nd B Common Steck Paid-In Based Camprebeasive  Treasery
Susued  Treasnry Omistsoding Amonxt  Capital  Compemsadon Income (Loxs) Stock Tetn}

Balance, December 31, 2001 479,451 — 479451 $4,794 $1,709,797 § _(25456)§ (2,466,907) $ — § (7177,772)
Repurchase of Scries D

Couvestible Preferred Stock — — —_ — —_ — 437,433 — 437,433
Issuance of Class A common

stock:

Exercise of stock options 1,417 — 1417 14 7,511 —_— —_ —_ 7,525

Employee benefits — — — —_ 3 — — — 3

Employee stock purchase plan 107 — 107 1 1,504 — — — 1,905
Forfeitures of defexred non-cash,

stock-based compensation — — — = (5520 1,911 — — (3,609)
Deferred stock-based .

compensation recognized - —~ - - — 14,888 — - 14,388
Reversal of deferred wax asset for

book stock-based

compensation that exceeded

the related tax deduction — - —_ —_ {6,964) —_ — — (6,964)
Chauge in unrealized holding

gains (Josses) on available-for-

sale securitics, net — — — — — — 2,603 — 2,603
Net income (loss) — — — —_ — — (852,034) — _ (852,034)
Balance, December 31, 2082 480975 — 480,975 $4.809 $1,706,731 ¥ (8,657 8 _(2,878,905) — $(1,176,022)
Issusnce of Class A common

Exercise of stock options 3,114 — 3,114 31 18,517 —_— — — 18,548

Bmployec benefits 566 — 566 6 16,347 —_ — —_ 16,353

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 66 — 66 1 1,889 — — — 1,890
Class A common stock

repurchases, at cost — (5915)  (5915) — — — —  (190391) {190,391)
Forfeitures of dzferred non-cash,

stock-based compensation — — — — (3933 5 — - (3.158)

_ Deferred stock-based

compensation recognized — — —_ —_ —_ 6,702 — — 6,702
Reversal of deferred tax asset for

book stock-based

compensation that excceded

the related tax deduction - — — ~  (5,746) — - — (5.746)
Change in vnrealized holding -

geins (losses) on available-for-

sale securitics, net — — —_ —_ — —_ 73,446 — 73,446
Foreign cumrency translation — — — — — — 1,348 — 1,348
Net income (loss) — — — _— — — 224 506 — 224 506
Balance, December 31, 2003 484,721 (5915) 478,806 $4,847 $1,733,805 § _ (1,180)§ (2,579,605) $ (190,391) $(1,032,524)
Issuance of Class A common

stock:

Exercise of stock options 2,175 — 2,175 21 14,448 —_ — — 14,469

Employee bencfits 478 — 478 5 16,250 — - — 16255

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 78 — 78 1 2,122 - - — 123
Class A common stock

repurchases, af cost — (25.879) (25879) — - - —  (809,609) (309.609)
Exercise of stock warrants 12 — 12 — —_ - — — —
Deferred stock-based

compensation recognized — — - — — 1,130 —- - 1,180

1ange in unrealized holding

gains (losses) on available-for-

sale securities, nct — — — — — — (27,864) — (27,364)
Foreign currency translation — — — —_ — — 291 - 291
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Reversal of deferred tax asset for
book stock-based
. . compensation that exceeded
the related tax deduction — —_ —_
ash dividend on Class A and
Class B common stock ($1.00

per share) - - - = — —  (455,650) —  (455,650)
Net income (loss) — — 214,769 — 214769

Balance, December 31, 2004 487!464 S3I!E) 455,670 341874 Slg@tg_?} $ — § (2848,059) gl!ooo!«»)gzlmgm

— 1652 — — - (1652)

The accompanymg nofes are an integral pant of these consolidated financial statements.
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. ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED N
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS N
(In thousands)
For the Years Ended Decenber 31,
2004 2003 2002
Cash Flows From Operating Activities: T
Net income (lass) §$ 214769 § 224,506 § (852,034)
Adjustments o reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization - 502,901 398,206 372,958
Equity in losscs (camings) of affiliates (5,686) 1,649 8,012
Realized and unrealized Josses (gains ) on investments 9,031 (19,784) 135,619
Non-cash, stock-based compensation recognized 1,180 3,544 11,279
Deferred tax expense (benefit) 5362 629 66,703
Change in valuation of contingent value rights, net of gain on extinguishment — - 19,645
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs 22,262 26,685 11,906
Recogaition of bridge commitment fees from reduction of bridge financing commitments — — 48,435
Cepitalized merger costs — — 56,474
Change in non-curront assets (114,705) (49,333) —
Change in long-terra deferred revenue, distribution and carriage paymeats and other long-tetm
liabilities 109,522 11,434 (20,924)
Other, nct 9,942 15,835 4,756
Chenges in current asscts and cument liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable, net (125,629) (14,178} (10,619)
Inventories (70,501) 18,620 69,709
Other current assets @475 (6,360) @79)
Trade accounts payable 76,152 (91,176) 18,014
Deferred revenue and other 211,161 71,074 84,333
Accrued programming and other accrued expenses 200,438 (14,670) 42,952
Net cash flows from operating activities 1,001,442 575,581 66,744
“ash Flows From Investing Activities: o
schases of marketable investment securities (1,932,789) (5,050,502) (5,770,963) ’
Sales of marketable wmvestment securities 4,096,005 3641939 5602398 -
Purchases of property and cquipment (980,587)  (321,819)  (435,819) .
Change in cash reserved for satellite insurance (Note 9) 176,843 {25,471) (29,304) '
Change in restricted cash and marketable investment securitics (10,918) (1,533) 1,288
Incentive payments under in-orbit satellite contract — Echo VI — — (8,441)
Capitalized merger-related costs — — (38,644)
Asset acquisition (Note 2) (238,610) — —
FCC auction deposits (26,684) — —_
Other (4,979 (4,484) (2,902)
Net cash flows from investing activities 1,078,281 {1,761 870} _ (682387)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Procoeds from issnance of Sexies D Convertible Prefarred Stock and contingent velue rights — — 1483471
Repurchase of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock and contingent value rights — —  {1,065,689)
Proceeds from issuance of 6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014 (Note 4) 1,000,000 —_ —_
Proceeds from issuance of 3% Convertible Subordinated Nates due 2011 and 2010, respectively
(Note 4) 25,000 500,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of Floating Rate Senior Nate s due 2008 — 500,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of 5 3/4% Senior Notes due 2008 — 1,000,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of 6 3/8% Senior Notes due 2011 — 1,000,000 —
Redemption of 10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007 (Note 4) {1,000,000) — —_
Redemption of 9 1/4% Senior Notes duc 2006 —  (375,000) —
Repurchase and partial redemption of 9 1/8% Setior Notes due 2009, respectively (Notc 4) (8.847)  (245,000) —
Redemption of 4 7/8% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2007 —  (1,000,000) -
Redemption aad repurchase of 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009, respectively (Note 4) (1,423,351)  (201,649) _
Classz A common stock repurchases (Note 6) (809,609)  (190,391) —
Deferred debt issuance costs (3,159) (12,500) (1,837)
Cash dividend on Class A and Class B commaon stock (Note 6) (455,650) — —
spayment of mortgages and other notes payable (6,998) (1,828) (4,549)
1 proceeds from Class A common stock options excrcised end Class A commen stock issued o
under Bmployee Stock Purchase Plan 16,592 20,438 9430 M
Net cash flows from financing sctivities (2,666,022) 994,070 420,832
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Net increase (decreasc) in cash and cash equivalents (586,299}  (192219)  (194,811)

.. - Cesh and cash equivalents, begiming of period 1,200,855 1483078 1,677,889
"sh and cash equivalents, end of period 5_104560 § 1290859 § 1,483,078

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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- ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Basiness Activities
Principal Business
EchoStar Communications Corporation (“ECC™) is a bolding company. Its subsidiaries (which together with ECC are referred to as
“EchoStar,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and/or “our”) operate two interrelated business units:
*  The DISH Network — which provides a direct broadcast saicllite (“DBS™) subscription television service in the United States; and
»  EchoStar Technologies Corporation (*ETC”) - which designs and develops DBS sct-top boxes, antennae and other digital equipment
for the DISH Network. We refer to this equipment collectively as “EchoStar receiver systems.” ETC also designs, develops and
distributes similar cquipment for international satetlite service providers.
Since 1994, we have deployed substantial resources to develop the “EchoStar DBS System.” The EchoStar DBS System consists of our Federal
Communications Commission (“FCC") allocated DBS spectrum, our owned and leased satellites, EchoStar receiver systems, digital broadcast
operations centers, customer service facilities, and certain other assets utilized in our aperations. Our principal business strategy is to continue

developing our subscription television service in the United States to provide consumers with a fully competitive alternative to cable television
service.

Organization and Legal Structure

The following table summarizes our organizational structore and cur principal subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004:

Referved to

Legal Entity Hertls As Parsat

EchoStar Communications Corparation ECC Publicly owned

FzhoStar Orbital Corporation EOC ECC -
JoStar Orbital Corporation [ EOCII EOC

_choStar DBS Corporation EDBS EOC

EchoStar Satellite L.L.C. ESLLC EDBS

Echosphers L.L.C. Echosphere  EDBS

EchoStar Technologies Corporation ETC EDBS

DISH Network Service LL.C. DNSLLC EDBS

As of December 31, 2004, all of our DBS FCC liceuses and nine of our in-orbit satellites were owned by a direct subsidiary of EDBS,
Contracts for the construction and laanch of EchoStar X, EchoStar X1 and our Ka-band satellites are beld in EOC I, a sister company to
EDBS. Our satellitc lcasc contracts are also held by a direct subsidiary of EDBS. Substantially all of our operations are conducted by
subsgidiaries of EDBS.

Significant Risks and Uncertaintles

Substantial Leverage . We are highly leveraged, which makes us vuherable to changes in general economic conditions. As of December 31,
2004, we had outstanding long-term debt (including both the current and long-term portions) totaling approximately $5.803 billion. We have
quarterly and semi-annuel cash interest requircments for atl of our outstanding long-term debt securities, a8 follows:
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Annesl
Quarterly/Semi-Aanusl Debt Service

Payment Dates Requirements
S 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008 May 15 and November 15 $57,500,000
9 1/8% Senior Notes due 2009 Jaouary 15 and July 15 $40,711,461
3% Convertible Subordinated Note duc 2010 June 30 and December 31 $15,000,000
Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2008 January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 $29,050,000
5 3/4% Senior Notes duc 2008 April 1 and October 1 $57,500,000
6 3/8% Senior Notes due 2011 April 1 end October 1 $63,750,000
3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 June 30 and December 31 $ 750,000
6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014 April 1 and October 1 $66,250,000

Interest accrues on our Floatmg Rate Semior Notes due 2008 based on the three month London [nterbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™) phus 3.25%.
‘The interest rate at December 31, 2004 was 5.81%. Semi-annual cash interest requirements related to our 3% Convertible Subordinated Note
due 2011 commenced on December 31, 2004. Semi-annual cash interest requirements related o our 6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014 will
commence on April 1, 2005. There are no scheduled principal payment or sinking fund requirements prior to maturity on any of these notes.
Our ability to mezt our debt service requirements will depend on, among other factors, the successfisl execution of our business strategy, which
is subject to uncertzinties and contingencies beyond our control.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

Effective January 1, 2004, we combined “Subscription television service” revenue and “Other subscribar-related revenue” into “Subscriber-
relsted revenue.” Addijonsily, “Equipment sales” and “Cost of sales — equipment™ now include non-DISH Network receivers and other
accessorics sold by our EchoStar Intemational Corporation subsidizry to intcrnational customers which were previously included in “Other”
revenue and “Cost of sales — other,” respectively. All prior period amounts were reclassified to conform 1o the current penod preseatation.
ertain other prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

We consolidate all majority owned subsidiaries and investments in entities in which we have controlling influence. Non-majority owned
nvestments are accounted for using the equity method when we have the ability to significantly influence the operating decisions of the
investee. Whea we do not have the ability to significantly influence the operating decisions of an investee, the cost method is used. For entities
that are considered variable interest entitics we apply the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 46-R, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entitics, and Interpretation of ARB No. 517 (“FIN 46-R™). Al significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of fimaucial statements in couformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP™) requires us
to make estimates and ptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and Kabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amonnts of revenues and expenses for edch reporting period. Estimstes arc used in
accounting for, among other things, allowances for uncollectible accounts, inventory allowances, self insurance obligations, deferred taxes and
related valuation all es, loss contingencies, fair values of financial instruments, fair value of assets and liabilitics acquired in business
combinations, asset impairments, useful lives of property end equipment, retailer commissions, progranmming expenses, subscriber lives
including those related to our co-branding and other distribution relatianships, royalty obligations and smart card replacement obligations.
Actual results may differ from previously estimated emounts. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions
are reflected in the period they occur.
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During the three months ended December 31, 2003, we recorded approximately $61.4 million to reduce our estimated royalty obligations
related to the production of EchoStar receiver systems. The following details the decrease in the financial statement line items affected by this
change in estimate (in thousands):

Cost of sales — equipment s (6,839)
Cost of sales — subscriber prometion subsidies (42,750)
Depreciation and amortization (5.937)
Property and equipment, net (5.341)
Inventories, net (505)
Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the majority of our forcign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar because their sales and purchases are predominantly
denominated in that cusrency, However, for our subsidiaries where the functional qurency is the local currency, we translate assets and
Liabilities into U.S. dollars at the period end exchange rate and record the translation zdjustments as a component of other compreheasive
income (loss), We translate reverues and expenses based on the exchange rates at the time such transactions arise, if known, or at the average
rate for the period. Transactions denominated in currencics other than the functional currency are recorded at the exchange rate at the time of
the transaction and are inchuded in other miscellaneors income and expense. Net transaction gains (Iosses) during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were
nol significant

Statements of Cash Flows Data

The following prescats our supplemental cash flow statement disclosure:

For the Years Ended Docember 31,
2004 2903 2002
(i thousands}

“ash paid for interest $431,785 $477,036 $500,879
pitalized intcrest 3,105 8,428 23,876
Cash received for interest 56,317 64,450 113,402
Cash paid for income taxes 3,302 11,646 8396
Forfcitures of deferred non-cash, stock-based compensation — 3,933 5.520
Assumption of net operating liabilitics in assct acquisition (Note 2) 25,685 — —
Assumption of liabilities and long-tenm deferred revemue (Note 2) 69,357 — -
Satellite fmanced under capital lease (Note 4) 286,605 — —
Reduction in satellite vendor financing (Note 3) 13,712 — —
Satcllite and other vendor financing 6,519 13,097 30,000

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We cousider all liquid investments purchesed with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Cash cquivalents as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of money market funds, corporate notes and commercial paper. The cost of these investments
approximates their fair market value.

Murketable and Non-Marketable Investmens Securities and Restricted Cask

We currently classify all marketable investment securities as available-for-sale. We adjust the carrying value of our available-for-sale securities
o fair market value and report the related temporary unrealized gains and losses as a scparate component of “Accunrulated other

ive income” within “Total stockholders™ equity (deficit),” net of related deferred income tax. Declines in the fair market value ofa
marketable investraent security which arc cstimated to be “other than temporary” are secognized in the consolidated statement of operations,
thus establishing a new cost basis for such investment We evaluate our marketable investment securities portfolio on 2 guarterly basis to
determine
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whether declines in the fair market velue of these securities are other tham terporary. This quarterly evaluation consists of reviewing, among
other things, the fair market value of our marketable investment securities compered to the carrying amount, the historical volatility of the price
of each security and any market and company specific factors rlated to each sccurity. Generally, absent specific factors to the contrary,
declines in the fair market value of investments below cost basis for 2 period of less than six months are cousidered to be temporary. Declines
in the fair market value of investments for a period of six to nine months are evaluated on a case by case basis to determine whether any
company or market-gpecific factors exist which would indicate that such declines arc other than temporary. Declines in the fair market value of
investments below cost basis for greater than nine months arc considercd other than temporary and arc recorded as charges to earnings, sbsent
specific factors to the conwrary.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had wnrealized gains of approximately $51.8 million and $79.6 million, respectively, as a part of
“Accumulated other comprebensive income™ within “Total stockholders’ equity (deficit).” During the year ended Decamber 31, 2004, we did
not record any charge to earnings for other than temporary declines in the fair market value of our marketable investment scuritics. During the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded aggregate cherges to eamings for other than temporary declines in the fair market value
of certain of our marketable investment securities of approximately $2.0 million and $117.1 million, respectively, and established & pew cost
bass for these sccurities. In addition, during the ycars ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we realized net Josses of approximatcly

$9.0 million and net gains of approximately $21.9 miltion and $11.6 million on sales of marketable and non-marketable investment securitics,
respectively. Realized gains and losses are accounted for on the specific identification metbod.

Our approximately $1.213 billion of restricted and unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable mvestment securities inchudes debt and
equity securities which we own for strategic and financial purposes. The fair market value of these strategic markeuble investment securities
aggregated approximately $174.3 million and $249.4 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Our portfolio generally, and our
strategic investments particularly, kas experienced and continues to experience volatility. If the fair market value of our strategic marketable
securities portfolio does not remain sbove cost basis or if we become aware of any market or company specific factors that indicate that the
carrying value of certain of our strategic marketable securities is impaired, we may be required to record charges 10 camings in furure periods
equal 10 the amount of the decline in fair market value.

We also bave strategic equity investments in certain non-marketable investment securitics. We account for such unconsolidated investments
~der cither the equity method or cost method of accounting. These sccuritics are not publicly traded and accordingly, it is not practical to
zularly estimate the fair value of these investments, however, these investments are subject to en cvaluation for other than temporary
impairment on & quarterly basis, This quarterly cvaluation consists of revicwing, amang otber things, compeny business plans and currcat
financial statements, if available, for factors that may indicate an impairment of our mvestment. Such factors may include, but are not limited
1o, cash flow concerns, matcris! litigation, violations of debt covenants and changes in business strategy. The fair value of these investments is
not estimated unless there are identified changes in circumstances that are likely to have v significant sdverse ¢ffect on the fair value of the
imvestment. Qur sbility to realizs value from our strategic investments in companics that are not publicly traded is dependent on the success of
their busincss and their ability to obtain sufficient capital to execute their business plans. Since private markets are not as liquid as public
markets, there is also fncreased risk that we will not be able to sell these investruents, or that when we desire to sell them we will not be eble 1o
obtain full value for them. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we had $90.4 million aggregate carrying amount of noa-marketable and
unconsolidated strategic cquity investments, of which $52.7 million is accounted for under the cost method. During the year ended
December 31, 2004, we did not record any impairment charges with respect 10 these investments.

Restricted cash and marketable investment securitics, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, includes, among other
things, cash end marketable investment securities set aside as collateral for our letiers of credit.
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The major components of marketable investment securities and restricted cash are as follows:

Restricted Cash and Marketable
Marketuble } ¥ Secarities
As of D ber 31, As of December 31,
. 2003 2064 3063
{in thousnds)

Govearnment bonds $ 214,683 $1,258,366 § 46,111 $ 18,431
Corporate notes and bonds 84,093 620,782 8,969 -
Corporate equity securitics 149,496 111,687 — —
Commcrcial paper — 499,086 — —
Asset backed obligations 2,801 192,194 — —
Restricted cash — 2,472 1,543

$ 451,073 $2,682,115 § 57,552 § 19974

As of December 31, 2004, marketable investment securitics and restricted cash include debt securities of $228.5 miltion with contractual
maturities of one year or less and $128.2 million with contractual maturities between one and three years. Actual maturities may differ from
contractual maturities as a result of our ability to scll these securitics prior to maturity.

Inventories

Inventories arc stated at the lower of cost or market value. Cost is detesmined using the first-in, first-out method. Proprietary products are built
by contract manufacturers to our specifications. We depend on a few mamufacturers, and in some cases & single manufactarer, for the
production of our receivers and many compounents of our EchoStar receiver systems. Manufactured inventories inchude materials, labor, freight-
in, royalties and manufecturing overhead. Inventories consist of the following:

A3 of December 31,
2004 2003
(In thousands)

aished goods — DBS $159,350 $103,274
Raw materials 68,144 32,693
Work-in-process — service repair 40,720 15,000
Work-in-process 11,112 9,577
Consignment 2,644 1,373.
Inventory allowance (10,389 (6,770
Tnventories, net $271 581 SlSSlM?

Property and Equipment

Property and cquipment are stated at cost. Cost includes capitalized intercst of appraximately $3.1 million, $8.4 million and $23.9 million
daring the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The costs of satellites under construction, including certain amounts
prepaid under our satellite service sgreements (Notc 9), are capitalized during the construction phase, assuming the eventual successful lunch
and in-arbit operation of the satellite. If a satellite were to fail during taunch or while in-orbit, the resultant Joss would be charged to expense in
the period such loss was incurred. The amount of any such loes would be reduced to the extent of insurance proceeds estimated to be received,
#f any. Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over lives ranging from one to forty years. Repair aod maintenance costs arc cherged to
expense when incurred. Renewals and betterments are capitalized.
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Long-lived Assets

We account for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144™). We review our long-lived assets and identifisble intangible assets for
impairment whenever cvents ar changes in circumstances indicare that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Based on the
guidance under SFAS 144, we evaluate our satellite fleet for recoverability as an asset group. For assets which are held and used in aperations,
the asset would be impaired if the carrying value of the asset (or asset group) excecded its undiscounted fumure net cash fiows. Once an
irpeirment is determined, the actual impainment is reported as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value es estimated using
discomnted cash flows. Asscts which are to be disposed of arc reparted at the lower of the carrying amount or fair vahue {ess costs to sell. We
consider relevant cash flow, estimated future operating results, rends and other availsble information in assessing whether the carrying value
of assets are recoverable.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We account for our goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwill end Other Intangible Assets™ {"SFAS 1427), which requires goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives not be
amortized, but to be tested for impairment annually or whenever indicators of impairments arisc. Intangible assets that have finite lives
continue 10 be amortized over their estimated useful lives. Our intangible assets consist primarily of FCC licenses. Generally, we have
determined that our FCC licenses have indefinite useful lives due to the following:

*  FCC spectrum is a nan-depleting assct;
+  Existing DBS licenses are integral to our business and will contribute to cash flows indefinitely;

*  Replecement satellite applications are generally authorized by the FCC subject to certain conditions, without substaatial cost under a
stable regulatory, legislative and legal environment;

* Maintenance expenditures in order to obtzin future cash flows are not significant;
«  DBS licenses are not technologically dependent; and

« Weintend to use these assets for the foreseeable foture.

In accordance with the guidance of EITF Issue No. 02-7, “Unit of Accounting for Testing Impairment of Indefinite-Lived Intangible

Asset,” (“EITF 02-T") we combine all our indefinite life FCC licenscs into & single unit of accounting. The analysis encompasses future cash
flows from satellites transmitting from such licensed orbital locations, including revenue attributable to programming offerings from such
sateflites, the direct operating and subscriber acquisition costs related to such programming, and future capital costs for replscement satcllites.
Projected revenuc and cost amounts included current and projected subscribers. In conducting our annual impairment test in 2004, we

determined that the estimated fair value of the FCC licenses, calculated using the discounted cash flow analysis, exceeded their carrying
amount.

During March 2004, we cntered into an agre with Gemstar-TV Guide International, Inc_ (“Gemstar”) for use of cestain Gemstar
inteflectus] property and technology, use of the TV Guide brand on our interactive program guides, and for distribution arrangements with
Gemster 1o provide for the launch and carriage of the TV Guide Channel as well as the extension of an cxisting distribution agreement for
carriage of the TVG Network, and acquired Gemstar's Superstar/Netlink Group LLC (“SNG™), UVTV distribution, and SpaceCom businesscs
and related assets, foran aggregate cash payment of $238.0 million, plus transaction costs. We further agreed ta resolve all of our outstanding
litigation with Gemstar. These transactions were entered into contemporaneousty and
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accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (“SFAS 141™).

Based on an independent third -party valuation, the purchase consideration was allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets and
Habilitics as follows (in thousands):

Current assets § 1,184
Property and equipment 3,749
Intangibic asscts 260,546
Total assets acquired : ’ £265,479
Current liabilities (26,269)
Long-term liabilities ' (690)
Total Lizbilitics assumed 6,869
Net assets acquired $238,610

The total $260.5 million of acquired intangible assets resulting from the Gemstar transactions is comprised of contract-based intangibles
totaling spproximately $187.2 million with estimated weighted-average useful fives of twelve years, and customer relationships totaling
spproximately $73.3 million with estimated weighted-average useful lives of four ycars.

The business combinstion did not have a material impact on our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 and would aot
have materially impacted our results of operations for these periods had the business combination occurred on January 1, 2004. Further, the
business combination would rot have had a matcrial impact on our results of operations for the comparable periods in 2003 and 2002 had the
business combination occurred on January 1, 2002.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, our identifiable intangibles subject 10 amortization consisted of the following:

Asof
December 31, 2064 Drcember 31, 2603
Assets  Amortizados Assets Amertization
(In houcands)

Coniract based $223873 § (46851) $36668 $ (21,767)
Customer relationships 13298 (13.493) — —
Technology based 17.181 (17.181) 17,181 as6.221)
Total 3314&52 3 5Z7é22) $ 53;349 $ (43938

Arnonization of these intangible assets recorded on a straight line basis over an average finite useful lifc primarily ranging from approximately
four to twelve years, was $33.5 million and $10.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The aggregate
smartizstion expense is estimated to be approximately $35.7 million for 2005, $34.5 million for 2006, $34.0 million for 2007, $20.3 million for
2008 end $15.5 million for 2009.

The excess of our investments in consolidated subsidiarics over net tangible and intangible assct value at acquisition is recorded as goadwill.
We had approximately $3.4 million of goodwill as of Deceznber 31, 2004 and 2003 which arose from a 2002 acquisition. In conducting our
annual impuirment test in 2004, we detcrmined that the carrying amount of our goodwill was not impaired.
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Smart Card Replacement

We use conditional access techmology, including embedding microchips in credit card-sized access cards, or “smart cards,” to encrypt the
programming we wansmit to subscribers so that only those who pay for service can receive our programming. Thefi of cable and satellite
programmming has been widely reported and our signal encryption has been pirated and could be further compromised in the future. In order to
combat piracy and maintain the functionality of active set-top boxes, we are in the process of replacing older generation smart cards with newer
gencration smart cards. We have accmed & lisbility for the replacement of smart cards in satellite receivers sold to and owned by subscribers
based on the estimated number of cards that will be needed to execute our plan. This estimate is based on & mumber of variables, inchiding
historical subscriber churn trends and the estimated per card costs for smart card replacements. We expect to complete the replacement of older
peacration smart cards during the second half of 2005.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had accrued $48.2 million and $74.6 million, respectively, for replacement of thesc smart cards. This
accrual is included in “Other accrued expenses” in our consolidated balance sheets. Charges recorded to “Subscriber-related expenses™ in our
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) totaled $2.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2002, There
was no additional expense recorded for smart card replacements during 2004 and 2003. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
approximately $13.4 million and $6.2 million, respectively, were charged against the smart card accrual for the replacement of older generation
smart cards. This liability will be reduced further as smart card replacements occur. During 2004, we reduced “Subscriber-related expenses™ by
approximately $13.0 million to reduce our accrual for the replacement of smart cards. This reduction primarily resulted from a decrease in oor
estimate of the number of older satellite receivers that will be active when we exchange smart cards.

Long-Term Deferred Revenue, Distribution and Carriage Payments

Cenain programmers provide us up-front payments. Such amounts are deferred and in accordance with EITF Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by
a Customer (Inctuding & Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received fram a Vendor”™ (“EITF 02-16") and are recognized es reductions to
“Subscriber-related expenses” on a straight-line basis over the relevant remaining contract term (up to 10 years). The cwrrent and long-term
portions of these deferred credits are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets in “Deferred revenue and other” and “Long-term deferred
revenue, distribution and carriage payments and other long-term labilitics,” respectively.

—uring the year ended December 31, 2004, we made cash payments, assumed certain lisbilitics and entered into agreements in exchange for
equity interests in certain entities. We accounted for the equity interests received in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-
B, “Accaunting by & Grantee for an Equity [nstrument to be Received in Conjunction with Providing Goods or Services™ (“EITF 00-8") and
recorded approximately $77.3 million related to the fair value of these equity interests in “Other noncurrent assets” as of December 31, 2004.
‘We account for these unconsolidated investments under either the equity method or cost method of accounting. Approximately $56.5 million
value of these equity interests has been recorded as a deferred credit and will be recognized as reductions to “Subscriber-related expenses™
ratably as our actual costs are incurred under the related agreements in acrordance with the gnidance under EITF 02-16. These deferred credits
have been recorded as a component of “Long-term deferred revenue, disaibution and carriage payments and other long-term lisbilities” in our
consolidated balence sheets.
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Income Taxes

We establish a provision for income taxes currently payable or receivable and for income tax amounts deferred to future periods in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109). SFAS 109 requires that deferred
tax assets or liabilities be recorded for the estimated future tax effects of differences that exist between the book ind tax bases of agsets and
lisbilitics. Deferred tax assets are offset by valuation allowances in accordance with SFAS 109, because we believe it is more Likely then not
that such net deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Fair Valge of Financial Instruments

Fair market valucs for our publicly traded debt securities are based on quotcd market prices. The fair values of our privately placed 3%
Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2010 end 2011, end mortgages and other notes payable are estimated using third-party valuations or
discounted cash flow anslyses when it is practicable to do so. The intcrest rates assumed in such discounted cash flow analyses reflect interest
rates currently being offered for Joans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality.

The following 1able summarizes the book and fair values of our debt facilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003:

As of December 31, 2004 Asef ber 31, 2003
Bouk Valee  Fair Value  Book Valee _Falr Valee
i (In thoussnds)

9 3/8% Scuior Notes due 2009* —_ — 1423351 1,498,077
10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007* —_ — 1,000,000 1,100,000
5 3/4%, Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008 1,000,000 1,023,750 1,600,000 1,035,000
9 1/8% Scruior Notes due 2009 446,153 490,768 455,000 509,031
3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 500,000 465,000 500,000 500,000
Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2008 500,000 518,125 500,000 520,625
5 3/4% Senior Notes due 2008 1,000,000 1,012,500 1,000,000 1,011,250
4 3/8% Scaior Notes due 2011 1,000,000 1,047,506 1,000,000 1,025,000

: Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 25,000 22,500 — —
v 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014 1,000,000 1,012,500 — —
Capital lease obligation, mortgages and other notes payable 331,735 331,735 59,32 59,322
Total 5¥802!883 5924378 6!937!673 755205

* The 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009 and the 10 3/8% Senior Notes duc 2007 were redeemed February 2, 2004 and October 1, 2004,
respectively.

Due to their short-term nature, book value approximates fair value for cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, net of allowance
and current liabilities for the periods ending December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Deferred Debt Issaance Costs
Costs of issuing debt arc generally deferred and amortized to interest expense over the terms of the respective notes (Notc 4).
Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue whea an amangement exists, prices are determinable, collectibility is reasonably assured and the goods or services have
been delivered. Revenue from our subscription television.services is recognized when programmung is broadcast to subscribers. Subscriber fees
for multiple set-top receivers, digital video recorders,
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equipment reatsl and other services are recognized as revenue, r;mnthly as earned. Revenue from advertising sales is recognized whea the
related services are performed. Payments received from subscribers in advance of the broadcast or service period are recarded as “Deferred
revenue” in the consolidated belance sheets until earned. Revenue from equipment sales is recognized upon shipment to customers.

Contemporaneous with the commencement of sales of co-branded services pursuant to our agreement with SBC Communications, Inc.
(“SBC”) during the first quarter of 2004, revenue from equipment sales to SBC and development and implementation fees received from SBC
is deferred and recognized ratably over the estimated average co-branded subscriber life. Revenue from instaliation and certain other services
performed at the request of SBC is recoguized upon completion of the services.

Accounting for our new subscriber promotions which include programming discounts falls under the scope of EITF Issuc No. 01-9,
“Accounting for Consideratior Given'by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reselier of the Vendor’s Capital Products)™ (“EITF 01-9™). In
accordance with EITF 01-9, programming revenucs under these promotions are recorded at the discountcd monthly rate charged to the
subscriber. Sec Subscriber Acquisition Costs below for discussion regarding the accounting for costs under these promations.

Subscriber-related expenses

The cost of telcvision programming distribution rights is generally incurred on a per subscriber basis and various upfront carriage payments are
recognized when the related programming is distributed to subscribers. The cost of television programming rights to distribute live sporting
events for 8 scason or tournament is charged to expense using the straight-line method over the course of the season or tournament.
Programming costs are included in “Subscriber-related expenses” in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss). “Subscriber-related expenses” also include costs incurred in connection with our in-bome scxvice and call center operations, overhead
costs associated with our installation business, copyright royalties, residual commissions, billing, lockbox, subscriber retention and other
variable subscriber expenses. These costs are recognized as the services are performed or as incurred.

Contemporancous with the commencement of sales of co-branded services pursuant to our agreement with SBC during the first quarter of
2004, “Subscriber-related expenses™ also include the cost of sales and expenses from equipment sales, direct costs of instalation and other
services related 1o that relationship. Cost of sales fram equipment sales to SBC are deferred and recognized over the estimated average co-

mded subscriber life. Expenses from installation and ccrtain other services performed at the request of SBC arc recogmized as the services are
aformed :

Subscriber Acquisition Costs

Subscriber acquisition costs in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) consist of costs incurred to acquire
new subscribers through third parties and our direct customer acquisition distribution channel. Subscriber acquisttion costs include the
following linc items from our consolidated statcments of operations and comprehensive income (loss):

*  “Cost of sales ~ subscriber promotion subsidies " includes the cost of EchoStar receiver systems sold to retailers and other distributors
of our equipment and receiver systems sold directly by us to subseribers.

*  “Other subscriber promotion subsidies” includes net costs related to promotional incentives and costs related to installation.

*  “Subscriber acquisition advertising ” inctudes advertising and marketing expenses related to the acquisition of new DISH Network
subscribers. Advertising costs gencrally are expensed as incurred.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, our significant subscriber acquisition promotians were as follows:
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Digital Home Advantage - Effective February 1, 2004, our Digital Home Advantage promotica provided new Iease subscribers up to four
installed EchoStar receivers, incloding various premium models, with & qualifying programming subscription. The subscriber is required to pay
amonthly rental fec for each Jeased receiver, but is not required to agree to a minimum Jease period. The subscriber must provide & valid major
credit card, their social security oumber, have an acceptable credit score, and pay 8 one-time set-up fee of $49.99. The subscriber receives a
$49.95 credit on their first month’s bill. Effective October 19, 2004, the promotion was expanded whereby the consumer may agree to cither a
one or (wo year commitment in exchange for receiving the benefits of our Digital Home Protection Plan, an optional extended warranty
program, without charge for one or two years, respectively. Since we retain ownership of equipment installed pursuant to the Digital Home
Advantage promotion, equipment costs are capitalized and depreciated over a period of up 1o four years. Although there can be no assurance as
to the ultimate duration of our current equipment lease promotion, we expect it to continue through at least July 31, 2005.

Free Dish — Effective February 1, 2004, our Free DISH promotion provided new subscribers with a choice of up to three instafied EchoStar
receivers, including one premium receiver model for $49.99. The subscriber receives a $49.99 credit on their first month's bill. Ta be eligible,
subscribers must provide a velid major credit card, their social security number, have an acceptable credit score, and make a one or two year
commitment to subscribe to a qualified programming package, depending on the set-top box models sclected by the subscriber, Certain
advanced products, including digital video recorders and high definition receivers, require additional upgrade fees. The Free Dish pramotion
ended on January 31, 2005.

Free for All - Effective February 1, 2004, our Free for All promotion provides new subscribers who purchase one or two installed receiver
systems for $149.00 or $199.00, respectively, 2 monthly credit of $10.00 for 15 or 20 months, respectively. The subscriber must subscribe to a
qualifying programming package and provide their social security number. Effective February 1, 2005, new subscribers under our Free for All
promotion who purchasc one or two receiver systems and subscribe to a qualifying programming package receive a monthly credit of $5.00 for
30 or 40 months, respectively. Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate duration of the Free for All promatian, we expect it to
continue through at least July 31, 2005.

Accounting for dealer sales under our promotions fall within the scape of EITF 01-9. In accordance with that guidance, we characterize
amounts paid to our independent dealers as consideration for cquipment installation services and for equiproent buydowns (commissions and
rebates) as a reduction of revenue. We expense payments for cquipment mstallation services as “Other subscriber promotion subsidies.” Our
~yments for equipment buydowns represent a partial ar complete refurn of the dealer’s purchase price and are, therefore, netted against the

sceeds received from the dealer. We report the net cost from our various sales promotions through our independent dealer network as a
component of “Other subscriber promotion subsidies.” No net proceeds from the sale of subscriber relsted equipraent pursuant to our
subscriber acquisition promotions are recognized as revenue. Accordingly, subscriber acquisition costs are generally expensed 2s incurred
except for under our equipment lease promoticn wherein we retain title to the receiver and certain other equipment resulting in the
capitalization and depreciation of such equipment cost over its estimated useful life.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs totaled $40.0 million, $32.4 mitlion and
$33.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We epply the intrinsic value method of accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issuedto

Employees,” (“APB 257) end related intexpretations in accounting for our stock-based compensation plans, which are dcsu-ipcd moce fully in
Note 7. Under APB 25, we generally do not recognize compensation cxpense on the grant of options under our Stock Incentive Plan because
typically the option tcrms are fixed and the exercise price equals or exceeds the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. We

apply
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the disclosure only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting end Disclosure of Stock-Based
Compensation,” (“SFAS 1237).

Pro forma mformation regarding net income and carnings per share is required by SFAS 123 and has been determined as if we had accounted
for our stock-based compensation plans using the fair value method prescribed by that statement. For purposes of pro forms disclosurcs, the
estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expensc over the optious’ vesting period on e straight-line basis. All options zre initially
assumed to vest. Compensation previously recognized is reversed to the extent applicable to forfeitures of unvested options. The following
table fllustrates the effect on net incume (loss) per share if we had accounted for our stock-based compensation plans using the fair value
method:

For the Yesrs Ended 31,
2004 2003 2002
(Io thousandx, cxcept par share amountx)
Net income (loss) to comman shareholders, as reported $214,769 $224, 506 $(414,601)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense inctuded in reported net income {loss), net of
related tax effects 1,139 3,420 . 10,884
Deduct: Total stock-based employce compensation expense determined under fair value based
method for all awards, net of related tax effects (20,515) {26,138) 24,427)
Pro forms net income (Joss) to common sharchoiders §195393 5201788  3(428144)
Basic income (loss) per share, s reported $§ 046 § 046 S (0.86)
Diluted income (loss) per share, as reported $ 046 $ 046 §  (0.86)
Pro forma basic income (loss) per share $ 042 $ 042 3  (0.89)
Pro forma diluted income (loss) per share $ 042 $ 041 s (0.89)

For purposcs of this pro forme presentation, the fair valuc of cach option grant was estimated at the date of the grant using 2 Black-Scholes
~ution pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

For the Years Ended Dacewber 31,

20 2003 200
Risk-free interest rate 3.69% 332% 4.14%
Volatility factor 33.26%. 71.08% 71.96%
Expected term of options in years 54 6.7 6.7
Weighted-average fair value of options granted 5 1166 $ 2038 $ 1508

During December 2004, we paid a ene-time dividend of $1 per outstanding share of our Class A and Class B commmon stock (Note 6) for the
first time in our company’s history. We do not intend to pay additional dividends on our common stock and sccordingly, the dividead yicld
percentage is zero for all periods. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for usc in estimating the fair value of traded
options which have no vesting restrictions and arc fully transferable and so, our estimate of fair vatue may differ from other valuation models.
Further, the Black-Scholes model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions and because changes in the subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value cstimate, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of stock-
based compensation awards.

During 2004, in accardance with the guidance under SFAS 123 for selecting assumptions to use in an option pricing model, we reduced our
estimate of cxpected volatility hased upon a re-evaluation of the variability in the market price of our publicly traded stock. Historically, we
have relied on the variability in our daily stock price since inception to derive our estimate of expected volatility. Upon review of this :
variability in our stock price over more recent periods, we believe unadjusted historical experience is a relativety poor predictor of our futurs
expectation of volatility. Accordingly, we specifically identificd extraardinary cvents in cur history which resutted in irregular movements in
our stock price, and bave disregarded the relatcd periods in calculating our historical average annual
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volatility. This adjustment, wogether with changes in the intervals of our regular historical price obscrvations, contributed to the reduction in our
estimated volatility factor.

We will continue to evaluate our assumptions used to derive the cstimated fair value of gur options es new events or changes in circumstances
become known.

Basic and Diluted Net Income (Lass) Per Share

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Eamings Per Sharc” (“SFAS 128”) requires eatitics to prescnt both besic cammgs per
share (“EPS™) and diluted EPS. Basic EPS cxcludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) availabie to commmon shareholders
by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if
stock options wert exercised and convertible securities were converted to common stock.

We recorded a net loss attributeble 1o common gharcholders for the years ending December 31, 2002. Therefore, common stock equivalents
and convertible securities are excluded fram the computation of diluted eamings (loss) per share for that period since the effect of inclading
them is anti-dilutive. Since we reported net income attributable to common shareholders for the year ending December 31, 2004 and 2003, the
potential dilution from stock options exercisable into commeon stock for these periods was computed using the treasury stock method based on
the average fair market valuc of our Class A coramon stock for the period. The following able reflects the basic and diluted weighted-average
shares outstanding used to calculate basic and diluted eamings per share. Eamings per share amounts for all periods are presented below in
accordance with the requirements of SFAS 128,

For the Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
{In thousands, except pex share datx)

Numerator:
Net income (loss) $214,769  $224506  $(852,034)
Gain on repurchase of Series D Convestible Preferred Stock — — 437,433
Mumerator for basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share $214,769  $224,506  $(414,601)

momivators
Denominator for basic net income (loss) per common share — weighted-average common shares

outstanding 464,053 483,098 480,429
Impact of dilutive options cutstanding 3,545 5216 —
Denominator for diluted net income (loss) per common share —~ weighted-average common shares

outstanding 467,598 438314 480429
Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic net income (loss) per share $ 046 S 046 3 (0.86)

Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 046 $ 046 $ (0.86)
Shares of Class A commas steck issunble wpon coaversion of:

4 7/8% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2007 — — 22,007

S 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008 23,100 23,100 23,100

3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 6,866 6,866 —

3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 399 — —

As of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 there were approximately 10.9 million, 10.1 miltion and 209 million options for shares of Class A
common stock outstanding, respectively, not included in the above denominator as their effect is entidilutive. Our § 3/4% Convertible )
Subordinated Notes due 2008, and our 3% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2010 and 2011 are not included in the diluted EPS calculation
as the effect of the
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conversion of the notes would be ami-ditutive. Of the options outstanding as of December 31, 2004, options to purchase approximately
7.0 miltion shares were outstanding under o long torm incentive plan. Vesting of these options is contingent upon mecting certain longer-term
goals which have not yet been achieved. As such, the long-term incentive options are not inchuded in the diluted EPS calculation. :

New Accounting Pronouncements

In Decomber 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004),
“Share Based Payment” (“SFAS 123®") which (i) revises SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123") w0
climinate the disclosure only provisions of that statement and the alternative to follow the intrinsic value method of accounting under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (“*APB 25™) and its relsted implementation
guidance, and (ii) requires a public entity to measuse the cost of comployee services received in cxchange for an award of equity instruments,
including grants of employee stock options, based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize that cost in its resalts of operations
over the period during which an employee is required to provide the requisite service in exchange for that award. The statement is effective for
financial statements as of the beginning of the first interim period that begms after Junc 15, 2005. Companics may clect 1o apply this statement
cither prospectively, or on a modified version of rotrospective application undes which financial statements for prior periods are adjusted on a

" basis consistent with the pro forma disclosures required for those periods under SFAS 123. We are currently evalusting which transitional
provision and fair value methodalogy we will follow. However, we expect that any expense associated with the adoption of the provisions of
SFAS 123® will have a material negative impact on our results of operatians.

3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

Depreciable
Life . _AsefDecember 31,
_(In Years) 084 803
{In thougands)
EchoStar I 12§ 201,607 § 201,607
hoStar [ 12 228,694 228,694
—choStar 11 12 234,083 234,083
EchoStar IV 4 78,511 78,511
EchaStar V . 12 210,446 210,446
EchoStar V] 12 246,022 246,022
EchoStar VII 12 177,000 177,000
EchoStar VI 12 175,801 189,513
EchoStar [X 12 127376 127376
AMC-15 satellite acquired under capital lease (Note 4) 10 330,300 —_
Fumiture, fixtares and equipment 2-10 664,778 613,789
Buildings and improvements 540 159,662 147,191
Equipmeat Jeased to customers 34 1,045,949 543,954
Tooling and other 15 14,191 5,100
Land — T 29,583 21,024
Vehicles 7 3414 3,445
Construction in progress — 273,153 86,490
Total property and equipment § 4201,070 § 3,120,245
Acgunmlated depreciation (1,560,902) (1,243,786)
Property and equipment, net $2,640,168 § 1876459

Construction in progress consists of the following:
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As of December 31,
004 208
(In tiousands)
Progress amounts for satellite construction, including certain amounts prepaid under satellite service agreements,
launch, and launch insurance $202,687 $24,303
Software related projects 36,848 35,148
Other ) 33,618 27,039
Construction in progress $273,153 $36,490
Depreciation and amortization expense consists of the following:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2004 Py 2002
(in thonsamds)
Equipmeut leased to customers 3$210,432 §138,637 $130,760
Satellites 134,619 145,232 128,155
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 110,272 93,030 92,180
Identifiable intangibles asscts subject to amortization 33,939 10,346 11,123
Buildings and improvements 4,675 - 4,098 3399
Tooling and other 8,964 6,863 1341
Total depreciation and amortization $502,901  $398206 3372958

Cost of sales and operating expense categories included in our sccompantying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
{loss) do not include depreciation expense related to satellites or Digital Home Advantage equipment.

Our Satellites

e presently have twelve owned or leascd satcllites in geostationary orbit approximately 22,300 miles above the equator. Each of the eight

3S sateflites (EcboStar | through EchoStar VIII) and one FSS Kw/Ka-band satellite (EchoStar IX) we own and operate hes & minimum desipn
afe of at least 12 years. Our satellite flcet is & major component of our Echostar DBS System. While we belicve that overall our satellite flect is
in general good health, during 2004 and prior periods, certain satellites within our flect have experienced various anomalies, some of which
have had a significant adverse impact on their commercial operation.

EchoSior Temd I}

EchoStar I and II carreatly operate at the 148 degree orbital location. Each of thesc Series 7000 class satellites designed and manufactured by
Lockheed Martin Corporation, has 16 transponders that operate at approximately 130 watts of power. While both satellites are curreatly
functioning properly in orbit, similar Lockheed Scries 7000 class satellites owned by third partics bave expericuced total in-osbit faifure, While
we currently do not have sufficient information available to reach any conclusions as to whether other satellites of the Scrics 7000 class might
be at increased risk of suffering & similar malfunction, no telemetry or other data indicates EchoStar 1 or EchoStar It would be expecied to
experience a similar failure. EchoStar 1 and T are each equipped with 24 Traveling Wave Tube Amplifiers (“TWTA”), of which 16 are
required o support the transponders authorized for operation on cach satellite. Prior fo 2004, failures or reduced capabilities on a single TWTA
on each of EchoStar I and II left each satellite with 23 usable TWTAs. While we don't expect a large number of additional TWTAs to fail in
any year, it is likely that additional TWTA failures will occur from time to time in the funre, and that those failures may impact commercial
operetian of the satellites. We will continuc to cvaluatc the performance of EchoStar I and EchoSter [ as new events or changes in
circumstances become kmown.
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EchoStar IlT

EchoStar III currently operates at the 61.5 degree orbital location. During Jamuary 2004, a TWTA pair on this satellite failed, resulting in a loss
of service on onc of our licensed transponders. An additional TWTA pair failed in March 2004. Including the scvea TWTA pairs that
malfunctioned in prior years, these anomalics have resulted in the failure of a total of 18 TWTAS on the satellite to date. While originally
designed to operate a maximum of 32 transponders at approximatety 120 watts per chanmel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at over
230 watts per chanacl, the satcllitc was equipped with a total of 44 TWT As 10 provide redundancy. EchoStar I1f can now operate 2 maximum
of 26 transponders, but due to redundancy switching limitations and specific channel suthorizations it currently can only operate an 18 of the
19 FCC suthorized frequencies we utilize at the 61.5 degree west orbital location. While we don't expect a large number of additional TWTAs
to fail in any year, it is likely that additional TWTA failures will occur from time to time in the future, and that those failures will fusther
impact commercial operstion of the satellite. We will coptinue to evahuate the performance of EchoStar IT1 as new events or changes in
circumstances become known.

EchoStar IV

EchoStar IV is currently located at the 157 degree orbital location. Prior to 2004, this sateflite experienced failurcs with the deployment of its
solar arrays and with 38 of its 44 transponders (including spares), and further experienced anomalies affecting its thermal systems and
propulsion systems. Scveral years ago, we filed a $219.3 million insurance claim for a total loss under the launch insurance policies covering
this satellite. On March 4, 2005, we agreed to settle this claim (Note 9). On September 4, 2004, the south solar array on EchoStar IV deployed
fully and appears to be producing nominal current. There can be no assurance that further material degradation, or total loss of use, of EchoStar
IV will nat occur in the immediate future. As of December 31, 2003, EchoStar IV was fully depreciated.

EchoStar V

EchoStar V is currently located at the 119 degree orbital location. This satellitc is equipped with a total of 96 solar array strings, 92 of which
arc required to assurc full power availability for the 12-year design life of the satellite. Prior to 2004, EchoStar V experienced anomalies
resulting in the loss of 4 solar array strings. During March 2004, EchoStar V lost au additional solar array string, reducing solar wrTsy powes to

wroximately 95% of its original capacity. While originally designed to operate a maxinyum of 32 transponders at approximately 110 watts per
-uannel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximstely 220 watts per channel, the solar array enomalies may prevent the use of
some of those transponders for the full 12-year design lifc of the satcllite. In addition, momentum wheel anomalies previously expericnced
resulted in more rapid use of fucl and 2 conresponding minor reduction of spacecratt life. An investigation of the anomalies is contimuing, Untit
the root causes are finally determined, there can be no assurance that foture anomalies will not cause further losses which could impact
commercial opcration of the satellite. EchoStar V is not currently carrying any traffic and is being utilized as an in-orbit spare. We will
continue to evaluate the performance of EchoStar V 2s ncw cvents or changes in circumstances become known. Increased fucl use resulting
from commerrial operation of the spacecralt or other events and circumstances would requirc us to reduce the remaining depreciable life of
EchoSuar V.

EchoStar V7

EchoStar VI currently operates at the 110 degres orbital location. This sateflite has 32 transponders that operate at approximatcly 120 watis per
channel, switchable 1o 16 transponders operating at approximately 240 watts per channel, The satellite has & total of approximarely 112 solar
array swrings and approximately 106 are required 1o assure full power availability for the estimated 12-year design life of the sateflite. Prior to
2004, EchoStar VT lost a tatal of 3 soler array strings. During April 2004 and again in July 2004, EchoStar V1 experienced anomalies resulting
in the loss of two additional solar array strings, bringing the total number of string losses to five. An investigation of the solar array anomalies,
none of which have impacted commercial operation of the satellite or are expected to reduce the estimared design life of the satellite to less
than 12 years, is continuing. Until the root cause of these anomalies is finally determined, there can be no assurance future anomalies will not
cause further losses which could impact commercial operation of the satellite. We will continue to cvaluate the performance of EchoStar V1 as
new cvents or changes in circumstances become known.
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EchoStar V11

EchoStar VI currently operates at the 119 degree orbital location. This satellite has 32 transponders that operate at approximately 120 watts per
channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximately 240 watts per channel. EchoStar VII also includes spot-beam technology
which cnables us 1o increase the mumber of markets where we provide local channels, but reduces the number of video channels that could
otherwise be offered across the entire United States. Bach transponder can transmit multiple digital video, audio and dats channels. During
March 2004, our EchoStar VIT satellite lost a solar array circuit. EchoStar VI was designed with 24 solar array circuits and needs 23 for the
spacecraft to be fully operational at end of life. While this anomaly is not expected to reduce the estimated design life of the satellite to less
than 12 years and has not impacted commercial operation of the satellite to date, an investigation of the anomaly is contiming. Until the root
causes are finally determined, there can be no assurance future anomalies will not cause further Josses which could impact commercial
operation of the satellite. We will continue to evaluate the performance of EchoStar VII as new events or changes in circamstances becotne
mown.

EchoStar VIl

EchoStar VIII currently operates at the 110 degree orbital location. This satellite has 32 transpanders that operate at approximately 120 wans
per channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximatety 240 watts per charmel. EchoStar VIII also includes spot-beam
technology. During June 2004, EchoStar VILI experienced an anomaly which affected operation of one of the primary gyroscopes on the
satellite. A spare gyroscope has been switched in and is pesforming nominally. EchoStar VI was originally configured with three primary, and
one spare, gyroscope. Further, an anomaly previously cxperienced has resulted in certain gyroscopes being utilized for aggregate periods of
tire substantially in excess of their originally qualified limits in order 10 maintain nominal spacecraft operations and pointing. An investigation
is underway 10 determine the root cause of the anomaly and to develop procedures for continued spacecraft operatian in the cvent of fotare
gyroscope anomalies. In January 2005, EchoStar VIII experienced a faukt within one of the computer components in the spacecraft control
dlectronics. The system is operating nominally on one processor with limited backup capacity. An investigation is underway to determine the
root cause of this anomaly and whether any permanent degradation or loss of redundancy has occurred. While these anomalics are not expected
to reduce the estimated design life of the satellite 1o less than 12 years and have not impacted commercial operation of the satellite 1o date, until
the root causes of the anomalies are determined, there can be no assurance future anomalies will not cause Josses which could impact
smmercial operation of the satellite.

EchoStar VI is equipped with two solar arrays which convert solar energy into power for the satellite. Those arrays rotate continmously to
maintain optimal exposure to the sun. During 2003, EchoStar VIII experienced anomalies that temporarily belied rotation of each solsr array.
Both arrays are currently fully functional, but rotating in a mode recommended by the satelfite manufacturer which allows full rotation bt is
different than the originally prescribed mode. An investigation of the solar srray anomalies, none of which have impacted commercial
operation of the satellite, is continuing. Until the root cguse of these anomalics is finally determined, there can be no assurance future
anamaties will not cause losses which could impact commercial operation of the satellite.

During 2003, a single battery cell on EchoStar VLI exhibited reduced capacity. There are 72 battery cells on EchoStar VIII and all loads can be
maintained for the full desiga life of the satelfite with up to two battery cells fully failed. An investigation of the battery ccll anomaly, which
has not impacted commercial operation of the satellite, is underway. Until the root cause of the anomaly is determined, there can be no
assurance future anomalies will not cause losses which could impact commercial operation of the satcllite.
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We depend on EchoStar VI to provide local channels to over 40 markets until at least such time as owr EchoStar X satellite is successfully
1aunched which is currently expected during the fourth quarter of 2005 (Note 9). In the event that EchoStar VIIT experienced a total of
substantial failure, we could transfer many, but not all, of those channels to other in-orbit satellites.

We were required to make in-orbit incentive payments in the aggregatc amount of $15.0 million over a period of 14 years from launch as part
. of the purchase price for EchoStar VIIL These in-orbit incentive payments may be reduced in the event that certain anomalies are experienced

by the satellite. Following launch of EchoStar VIII, we recognized the total amount of these in-orbit incentive payments by increasing the

amount capitalized for the satellite. As a result of the anomalics cxperienced by the satellite to date, we determined that payment of these in-

orbit incentives was no longer probable and reduced our remaining estimaed obligation of approximazely $13.7 million to zero as

December 31, 2004 by reducing the emount capitalized for the satellite.

EchoStar IX

EchoStar IX currently operates at the 121 degree ocbital location. This satellite has 32 Ku-band transponders that operate at approximately 110
watts per channel, along with transponders that can provide services in Xa-Band (2 “Ka-band payload”). EchoStar IX provides expanded video
and audio chammcls to DISH Network subscribers who iustall a specially-designed dish. The Ka-band spectrum is being used to test and verify

potential future broadband initistives and to implement those services.

SFAS 144 requircs a Jong-lived asset or asset group to be tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that its
carrying amount may not be recoversble. Based an the guidance under SFAS 144, we evalnate our satellite fleet for recoverability as an asset
group. While certain of the anomalies discussed above, and previously disclosed, may be considered to represent a significant adversc change
in the physical condition of an individual satellite, based on the redundancy designed within each satellite and considering the asset grouping,
these anomalies (none of which caused a loss of service for an extended period) are hot considered to be significant events that would require
evaluation for impeirment recognition pursuant to the guidance under SFAS 144. Should any ope satellite be abandoned or determined to have
no service potential, the net carrying amount would be writien off.

We currently do not carry insurance for any of our in-orbit satellites. To satisfy insurance covenants related to our 9 3/8% Scaior Notes duc
09 and 10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007, we previously classified an amount equal to the depreciated cost of five of our sateliites as cash
served for satellite insurance on our consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2003, this amount totaled approximasely
$176.8 million. During 2004, we redeemed all of these Notes (Note 4) and are no langer subject to these insurance covenants. Since the
indentures for our remaining outstanding notes do not have covenants requiring satellite insurance, we reclassified the remaining smount of the
reserve to cash and cash equivaleats during the fourth quarter of 2004.

We believe we have in-orbit satellite capacity sufficient to expeditiously recover transmission of most programming in the event onc of our in-
orbit setcllites fails. However, programming continuity cannot be assured in the event of multiple satcllite losses.

4. Long-Term Debt
9 3/8% Semior Notes due 2009 and 10 3/8% Senior Notes duc 2007

Effective Febraary 2, 2004, we redeemed the remainder of our outstanding 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009. In accardance with the terms of the
indenture goveming the notes, the remaining $1.423 billion principal amount of the notes was repurchased at 104.688%, for a total of
approximately $1.490 billion. As a result of this rederaption,
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We have been discharged and released from our obligations under the related indenture. The premium paid of approximately $66.7 wmillion,
along with unamortized debt issuance costs of approximately $10.8 million, was recorded as charges to carnings and is included in fmterest
expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprebensive income (loss).

. Effective October 1, 2004, we redeemed all of our outstanding 10 3/8% Semior Notes due 2007. In accordance with the terms of the indenture
goverming the notes, the $1.0 billion principal amount of the noteg was redecmed at 105.188%, for & total of approximately $1.052 billion. As 2.
result of this redemption, we have been discharged and released from onr obligations under the related indenture. The premium paid of
approximatcly $51.9 million, along with unamortized debt issnance costs of approximately $4.1 million, wzs recorded as chearges to camings
and is included in interest expense in the consolidat=d statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

§ 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008

The 5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes mature May 15, 2008. Interest accrues at en annual rate of 5 3/4% and is payable semi-annually in
cash, in arears on May 15 and November 15 of each year.

The 5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes are general unsecured obligatians and junior in right of payment to:
+  all existing and future senior obligations;
¢ all of our secured debts to the extent of the valne of the assets securing those debts; and

« all existing and future debts and other liabilities or our subsidiaries.

Except under certain circumstances requiring prepayment premiums, and in other Limited circumstances, the 5 3/4% Couvertible Subordinated
Notes were not redeemeble at our option por to May 15,2004, Beginning May 15, 2004, the § 3/4% Convertible Subordmated Notes became
subject to redemption, at our option, in whole or in part, #f redemption prices decreasing annually from 103.286% to 100% on May 15, 2008,
tngether with accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the redemption date.

[he 5 3/4% Convertibie Notes, unless previously redecmed, are convertible at the option of the holder mny time after 90 days following the date
of their original issuance and prior to maturity into shares of our Class A common stock at a conversion price of $43.29 per share.

The indenture related to the 5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes (the “5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes Indenture™) contains certain
restrictive covenants that do not impose material limitations on us.

In the cvent of a change of control, as defined in the § 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes Indenture, we will be required to make an offer to
tepurchase all or any part of the holder’s 5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes at & purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principat
amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to the daie of repurchase.

9 1/8% Senior Notes due 2009

The 9 1/8% Senior Notes mature January 15, 2009, Interest accrues at an annual ratc of 9 1/8% and is payable semi~annually in cash, in arrears
on Jaguary 15 and July 15 of cach year.

Effective September 3, 2003, we redeemed $245.0 million principal amount of our 9 1/8% Senior Notes due 2009, fully exercising our optional
partial redemption sight. During the second quarter of 2004, we repurchascd in open market transactions approximately $8.8 million principal
amount of our 9 1/8% Semior Notes due 2005. The approximate $1.1 million difference between the market price paid and thciprincxpnl amount
of the notcs, together with approximately $0.1 million of unamortized debt issuance costs related to the notes repurchased during 2004, were
recorded as charges to eamings and are inchided in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss). The outstanding principal amount of the notes afier the redemption and repurchase is $4462 million. Asa portion of the 9 1/8% Seniar
Notes remains outstanding as of December 31,
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2004, we continue to be subject to the terms of the retated indeatures until such time as the 9 1/8% Senior Notes are fully redeemed.

The 9 1/8% Senior Notes are guaranteed by substantially all subsidiaries of EDBS on 2 senior basis. The 9 1/8% Scaior Notes are general
unsecured senior obligations which:

< rank senior with all of EDBS’ future subordinated debt; and

«  rank junior to eny of EDBS” secured debt to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt.

Except under certain circumstances requiring prepayment premiums, and in other limited circumstances, the 9 1/8% Semior Notes are nat
redeemable at our option prior to January 15, 2006, Thereafier, the 9 1/8% Senior Notes will be subject o redemption, at our option, im whole
or in part, at redemption prices decreasing from 104.563% during the year commencing fanusry 15, 2006 to 100% on or after January 15,
2008, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the redemption date.

The indenture related to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes (the “9 1/8% Senior Notes Indenmare™) contains restrictive covenants that, among other things,
impose limitations on the ability of EDBS and its restricted subsidiaries to:

*  incur additional indebtedness or enter into sale and Icascback transactions;

*  pay dividends or make distribution on EDBS” capital stock or repurchasc EDBS' capital stock;
= make certain investments;

»  create hens;

«  enter into transactions with affiliates;

»  merge or consolidate with another compeany; and

«  transfer 2nd sell asscts

In the event of a change of control, as defined in the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Indenture, we will be required 1o make an offer to repurchase all or
any part of a holder's 9 1/8% Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, together with accrued
and unpeid interest thereon, to the date of repurchase.

3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010

On July 21, 2003, we sold $500.0 million principal amount of the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 which mature July 21, 2010 fo
SBC Communicatious, Inc. (“SBC") in & privately negotiated transaction. Interest accrues at an annual rate of 3% and is paysble semi-annually
in cash, in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each year.

The 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 is convertible into approximately 6.87 million shares of our Class A common stock at the
option of SBC at $72.82 per share, subject to edjustment in certain circumstences.

The 3% Convertible Subordinated Nate due 2010 is:
+  general unsecured obligations;
*  ranked junior in right of payment with all of our existing and future scnior debt;
*  ranked cqual in right of payment to our existing convertible subordinated debt; and

. nnkcd cqual in right of payment to all other existing and future indebtedness whenever the instrument expressly provides that such
indebtedness ranks equal with the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010.

‘u': im.imhm: selated to the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 contains certain restrictive covenants that do not impose material
.nitations on us,
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" In the event of & change of conirol, as defined in the related indenture, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase all or any part of the
bolder’s 3% Convertible Subordinated Note duc 2010 at a purchase price equal to :
-
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100% of the aggregaie principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid interest thercon, to the date of repurchasc. Commencing
July 21, 2008, we may redeem, and SBC may require us to purchase, all or a portion of the note without premium.

Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2008

On October 2, 2003, we sold $500.0 million principal amount of Floating Rate Senior Notes which mamre October 1, 2008. Interest accrues at
a floating rate based on three month LIBOR plus 3.25%, and is payable quariexly in cash in arrears on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1
of each year, commencing Jamuary 1, 2004. The imterest rate at December 31, 2004 was 5.81%. The proceeds, along with proceeds from our §
3/4% and 6 3/8% Senior Notes, were used primarily to repurchase or redeem all or a portion of our outztanding 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009
and other outstanding debt securities, and for general corporate purpases.

The Floating Rate Seniar Notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time beginming October 1, 2005 at redemption prices decreasing
from 102% during the year commencing Cctober 1, 2005 to 100% on or after October 1, 2007. Prior to October 1, 2005, we may also redeem
up to 35% of each of the Floating Rate Senior Notes at prewmiums specified in the indenture with the net cash proceeds from certain equity
offerings or capital contributions.

The Floating Rate Senior Notes are:

*  general unsecured semor obligations of EDBS;
*+  ranked equally in right of payment with all of EDBS’ and the guarantors’ existing and future unsecured senior debt;

«  ranked effectively junior to our and the guarantor’s current and future secured senior indebtedness up to the value of the collateral
securing such indebtedness.

The indenture related to our Floating Rate Senior Notes (the “Floating Rate Senior Notes Indenture™) contains restrictive covenants that, among
“her things, impese limitations on the ability of EDBS and its restricted subsidiaries to:

+ incur additional indebtédness or enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

*  pay dividends or make distribution on EDBS' capital stock or repurchasc EDBS’ capital stock;
*  make cerain investments;

*  create liens;

s enter imo transactions with affiliates;

*  merge or consolidate with another company; and

= trensfer and sell assets

In the event of 4 change of control, as defined in the related indenture, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase all ot any part of 8
holder’s Floating Rate Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, togcther with accrued and
unpaid interest thereon, to the date of repurchase.

5 3/4% Senior Notes due 2008

On October 2, 2003, we sold $1.0 billion principal amount of our 5 3/4% Sepior Notes which mature October 1, 2008. Interest accrues at an
annual rate of 5 3/4% and is payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on April 1 and October § of cach year, commencing April 1, 2004, The
proceeds, along with proceeds from the Floating Rate Scnior Notes and the 6 3/8% Senior Notes, were used primarily to repurchase of redeem
all or a portion of our outstanding 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009 and other outstanding debt securities, and for general corporate purposes.

The 5 3/4% Senior Notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time at a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount
plus a “make-whole” preminm, as defined in the related indenture, together with accrued and
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wmpaid interest. Prior to October 1, 2006, we may also redeem up to 35% of each of the § 3/4% Senior Notes at specified premiums with the net
cash proceeds from certain equity offerings or capital contributions.

The 5 3/4% Senior Notes are:

»  general unsecured seniar obligations of EDBS;
¢ ranked equally in right of payment with all of EDBS’ and the guarantors® existing and future unsecured senior debt;

*  ranked effectively junior to oor and the guarantor’s current and future secured senior indebtedness up to the value of the collateral
securing such indebtedness.

The indeature related to the 5 3/4% Senior Notes (the “5 3/4% Seniar Notes Indenture™) contains restrictive covenants that, among other things,
impose limitations on the ability of EDBS and its restricted subsidiaries to:

*  incur additional mdcbicdness or enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

» pay dividends ar make diswibution on EDBS’ capital stock or repurchase EDBS’ capital stock;
* make certain investments;

*  create liens;

*  cater into transactions with affiliates;

= merge or copsolidate with another company; and

»  trensfer and sell assets

In the event of a change of control, as defined in the related indenture, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase all or any part of a
holder’s § 3/4% Scnior Notes at a purchese price equal to 101% of the sggregate principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, to the date of repurchase.

6 3/8% Senior Notes due 2011

On October 2, 2003, we sold $1.0 billion principal amount of our 6 3/8% Senior Notes which mature October 1, 2011. Interest accrues at an
mnnusl rate of 6 3/8% and is payable semi-annually in cash in arears on April 1 and October 1 of cach year, commencing April 1, 2004. The
proceeds, along with proceeds from the Floating Rate Senior Notes and the 5 3/4% Senior Notes, were nged primarily to repurchase or redecm
all or a portion of our cutstanding 9 3/8% Scnior Notes due 2009 and other outstanding debt securities, and for general corporate purposes.

The 6 3/8% Semiar Nates will be redecmable, in whole or in part, at any time af a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount
plus & “make-whole™ premium, as defined in the related indenture, together with accrued and unpaid imterest. Prior to October 1, 2006, we may

also Tedeem up 1o 35% of cach of the 6 3/8% Senior Notes at specified preminms with the net cash proceeds from centain equity offezings or
capital contributions.

The 6 3/8% Senior Notes are:

«  general unsecured senior obligations of EDBS;
+  ranked equally in right of payment with all of EDBS’ and the guarantors' existing and future unsecured senior debt;

+  ranked effectively junior to our and the guarantor’s current and future secured senior indebtedness up to the value of the collateral
securing such mdebtedness.

The indenture related to the 6 3/8% Senior Notes (the “6 3/8% Senior Notes Indenture™) contains sestrictive covenanty that, among other things,
“pose limitations on the ability of EDBS and its restricted subsidiaries to:

»  incur additional indebtedness or enter tuto sale and leaseback transactions;




pay dividends ar make distribution on EDBS” capitsl stock or repurchase EDBS’ capital stock;

make certain investaents;
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* create liens;

«  center into transactions with affiliates;

* merge or consolidate with anather company; and
¢ transfer and sell assets

In the cvent of a change of control, as defined in the related indenture, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase sll or any part of a
holder’s 6 3/8% Senior Notes at a purchese price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid
intezest thereon, to the date of repurchase.

3% Comvertible Subordinated Nate due 2011

On August 25, 2004, we sold $25.0 million principal amount of the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 which mature August 25,
2011 to CenturyTel Service Group, LLC (“CTL™) tn a privately negotiated transaction. Interest accrues at an annual rate of 3% and is payable
semi-annually in cash, m arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each year, commencing December 31, 2004.

The 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 is convertible into approximately 398,724 shares of our Class A common stock at the option
of CTL at $62.70 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances.

The 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 is:
*  general unsecured obligations;
_+ renked junior in right of payment with all of our existing and firture senior debt;
« rmnked equal in nght of payment to our existing convertible subordinated debt; and

« ranked equal in right of payment to all other existing and future indebtedness whenever the instrument expressly provides that such
indebtedness ranks equal with the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011.

The indenture related to the 3% Canvertible Subordinated Note due 2011 contains certai restrictive covenants that do rot impose material
limitations on us.

In the event of a change of control, &s defined in the related indenture, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase all or any part of the
holder’s 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 at a purchase price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amaunt thereof, together
with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to the date of repurchase. Commmencing August 25, 2009, we may redeem, and CTL may require us to
purchase, all or a portion of the note without premium.

6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014

On October 1, 2004, we sold $1.0 billion principal amount of our 6 5/8% Seaior Notes which mature October 1, 2014 in a private placement to
qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Sccurities Act of 1933. Interest accrues at an snoual ratc of 6 5/8% and 18
payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing April 1, 2005. The proceeds, together with
available cash, were used to redeem all of our outstanding 10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007.

We have agreed to offer to exchange the 6 5/8% Scnior Notes for new issues of identical debt scurities registered under the Securities Act of
1933,

The 6 5/8% Scnior Notes will be redeemable, in whele or in part, at any time at a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount
plus a “mske-whole™ premium, as defined in the related indenture, together with accrued and unpaid interest. Prior to October 1, 2007, we may
also redecm up 10 35% of each of the 6 5/8% Senior Notes at specified premiums with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings or
capitel coatributions.

she 6 5/8% Senior Notes are:
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*»  general masecured senior obligations of EDBS;
«  ranked equally in right of payment with all of EDBS” and the gnarantors® existing and future unsecured senior debt;
¢ ranked effectively junior to our and the guarantor's current and future secured senior indebtedness up to the value of the collateral
securing such indebtedness.
The indenture related to the § 5/8% Senior Notes (the “6 5/8% Senior Notes Indenture™) contains restrictive covenants that, among other things,
impose limitations on the ability of EDBS and its restricted subsidiaries to:
*  incur additional indebtedness or eoter into sale and leascback transactions;
+  pay dividends or make distribution on EDBS’ capital stock or repurchase EDBS’ capital stock;
*  make certain investments;
¢ create liens;
*  enter into transactions with affiliates;
*  merge of consolidate with another company; and
» transfer and sell assets.
In the event of a change of control, as defined in the related indenture, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase all or any part of a
holdee’s 6 5/8% Scmior Notes at a purchase price equal 1 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, 1o the date of repurchase.
. N
apital Leese Obligation, Morigeges and Other Notes Payable S
Capital lease obligation, mortgages and other notes payable consists of the following:
As sf December 32,
2084 2803
(In thoysands)
AMC-15 satellitc financed under capital Jease obligation $286605 § @ —
8.25% note payable for BchoStar IV satcllite vendor financing due upon resolution of satellite insurance claim
(Note 3) 11,327 11,327
8% note payable for EchoStar V1I satellite vendor financing, payable over 13 years from launch 13,549 14,302
8% note payable for EchoStar VI satellite vendor financing (Note 3) — 14,381
8% note peyeble for EchoStar IX satellite vendor financing, payable over 14 years from faunch 9,587 10,000
Mortgages and other unsecured notes payable due in installments through August 2020 with interest ratcs ranging
from 2% to 10% 10,667 9,312
Total $331,735 $ 59322
Less current portion _(506) (14999
Capital lease obligation, mortgages snd other notes payable, net of current portion 5286673 $ 44327
Capital Lease Obligation
During March 2003, we entered into a satellite service agreement with SES Americom for all of the capacity on a new Fixed Satelli_le Service
('FSS™) satellite, AMC-15, which successfully lunched during the fourth quarter of 2004 and commenced commercial operations i Jamary
2005. In comnection with this agreement, we prepaid $50.0 million to SES Americom during 2003. The ten-year satellite service agreement for
the new satelite is renewable by us on & year to year basis following the initial term, and provides us with certain rights to replacement
stcllites. We arc required 1o make monthly paymeats to SES Americom for this satellite over the next ten years beginning in 2005. In
accordance with Statement of Financial
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Accounting Standards No. 13 (“SFAS 13"}, we have accounted for the satellite component of this agrecment as a capital lease. We did not
recognize any depreciation on the satellive acquired under this capital lease during 2004,

Future minimum lease payments wmder this capital Jease obligation, together with the prescnt value of the net minimum lease payments as of
December 31, 2004 are a5 follows:

For the Year Ending December 31, 2005 $ 56,600
2006 52,000
2007 52,000
2008 52,000
2009 52,000
Theresfier 254,656
Total mmimum lease pryments 519,256
Less: Amount represcuting lease of the orbital location and estimated executory costs (primarily insurance and maintenance)

including profit thereon, included in total minimum lease payments (113,690)
Net mininnum lecase payments 405,566
Less: Amount representing interest (118961
Present value of net minimum lease payments 286,605
Less: Current portion (28,463)
Long-tcrm portion of capital lease obligation $ 258,142

Future maturities of our outstanding long-term debt, inctuding the current portion, are summsrized as follows:

Paymests due by period

Tt _2005 20062007 = 20082089 ~  Thereafter

. (in Sousands)
Long-term debt obligations $5471,153 $§ — § —  $2946,153  $2,525,000
“wpital lease obligation, mortgages and other notes payable 331,735 45,062 48,885 54,041 183,747
sl Sangs 506 SEES  BO0IN SR8

S. Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2004, we had net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL's™) for federal income tax purposes of spproximately $3.346 billian
and credit carryforwards of approximately $9.2 million. The NOL’s begin to expire in the year 2011 and capital logs and credit carryforwards
will begin to expire in the year 2006.

Dusing 2004 and 2003, we decreased our vahuation allowznce by approximately $76.8 million and $83.0 million, respectively, as 8 result of a
decrease in net deferred tax assets each year, During 2002, we increased our valuation allowance by approximately $277.9 million to fully
offset all net deferred tax assets. Included in this increase is $210.8 million relating to deferred tax assets generated during 2002 and

$67.1 million relating to the balance of the net deferred tax asset that was not offsct by a valuation allowance at December 31, 2001.

The Federal NOL includes amounts related to tax deductions totaling epproximately $270.0 miflion for exercised stock options. The tax benefit
of these deductions has becn allocated directly to contributed capital and has been offset by a valuation allowance.

During 2004 and 2003, stock option compensation expenses related to the 1999 Incentive Plan, for which an estimated deferred tax benefit was
previously recorded, exceeded the actual tax deductions allowed. Tax charges associatod with the reversal of the prior tax benefit have been
allocated to additional paid-in capital in accordance with Accounting Principals Board Opinicn No. 25, “Accomting for Stock Issued 1o
Employees.” During 2004 and 2003, charges of $2.2 and $6.4 million, respectively, were made to additiona! paid-in capital.
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The components of the (provision for) benefit from income taxes are as follows:

Fer the Years Ended L
2004 20 2002
(In thousands)

Carrent (provision) benefit:
Fedenal $ (53) 8 (41 § —
State (5.824) (13,608) (5.279)
Foreign (428) 39 o9

(6,775) (14,488) (7,354)
Deferred (provision) benefit:
Federal . (75,306) (71,31B) 224,452
State (6,313) (11,579} (12,333)
Decrease (increase) in valuation allowance 76,785 83,009 (277,863)

(4,834) 112 (65,744)
Total benefit (provision) $(11,609) 3(14376) $ (73,098)

The actual tax provisions for 2004, 2003 and 2002 reconcile to fhe amounts computed by applying the statutory Federal tax rate to income
before taxes as follows:

Fou the Years Eaded Deceraber 31,

2004 2003 2002
(% of pre-tx (jncorme) Joss)

Statutory rate (35.0) (35.0) 35.0
State income taxes, net of Federal bencfit (3.5) (6.8) (1.5)
Contingent value rights — - ©09)
Forcign taxes and income not U.S. taxable {0.8) — 0.2)

‘ock optian compensation ©.6) (12 0.7 Pl

ferred tax asset adjustment for filed returns 23 37 [PA}) : B
Cumnlative change in effective state tax rate — — 4.1 e
Intangible amortization and other (1.5) (1.5) (0.6)
Decrease (increase) in valuation allowance 34.0 348 (35.D
Total benefit (provision) for income taxes (5.1) 6.0) {9.4)

The temporary differences, which give rise to deferred tax assets and Babilitics as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, are as follows:
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As of December 31
20 08
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
NOL, credit and other carryforwerds $1,221,236 § 1,188,537
Unrealized losses on investments 53,923 111221
Accrued expenses 23,858 32,639
Stack compensation 15,122 16,967
Equity method investments — 1,076
Deferred revenue 70,286 33,288
Other 12,742 12,279
Tota! deferred tax assets 1,397,167 1,396,007
Valuation allowsnce (1,001,974) _(1,111,834])
Deferred tax asset afier valuation allowance 395,193 284,166
Deferred tax liabilities:
Equity method investments (17.128) —
Depreciation and amortization (385,847)  (288,539)
State taxes net of federal effect (12,108) (8,503)
Other (24D 246)
Totel deferred tax linbilities (415330) _ (297.288) .
Net deferred tax asset (liability) s 52‘132) 3 (13,129
Current portion of net deferred tax asset (liability) $ 21318 § 37,783
Noncurreat portion of net deferred tax asset (lisbility) (41,455) (50,905)
Total nct deferred tax asset (liability) $_Qo13n §_(13,122)

<. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Commeon Stock

The Class A, Class B and Class C common stock are equivalent in all respects except voting rights. Holders of Class A and Class C common
stock are entitled to one voie per share and holders of Class B common stock are entitled to 10 votes per share. Each share of Class B and
Class C comman stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into onc share of Class A common stock. Upon a change in control of ECC,
cach holder of outstanding shares of Class C common stock is entitled to 10 votes for each share of Class C common stock held. Our principal
stockholder owns all outstanding Class B common stock and, together with all other stockholders, own outstanding Class A common stock.
There are no shares of Class C common stock outstanding.

Common Stock Repurchase Programs

During the fourth quarter of 2003, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an aggregate of up to $1.0 billion of our Class A
common stock. During 2004 and 2003, we purchased approximately 25.9 million and 5.9 million shares of our Class A common stock,
respectively, for approximately $809.6 million and $190.4 million, respectively. As of July 15, 2004, we had completed this sharc repurchasc
plan, having purchased a total of 31.8 million sharcs of our Class A common stock for z total of $1.0 billion.

Effective August 9, 2004, our Board of Directors suthorized the repurchase of an sggregate of up to an additional $1.0 billion of our Class A
common stock pursuant to a ncw share repurchase plan. As of December 31, 2004, we had not repurchased any shares under this plan. Our
share repurchase program does not require us to acquire any specific number or amount of securitics and may be terminated at any time.
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Cash Dividend

On December 14, 2004, we paid 2 onc-time cash dividend of $1.00 per share, or approximately $455.7 million, on ontstanding shares of our
Class A and Class B common stock to shercholders of record at the close of business on December 8, 2004,

7. Stock Compensation Plans
Stock Incentive Plans

We have adopted stock incentive plans to atract and retain officers, directors and key employecs. We currently have 80.0 million shares of our
Class A common stock reserved for granting awards under our 1995 Stock Incentive Plan and an additional 80.0 million sheres of our Class A
common stock for granting awards under aur 1999 Stock Incentive Plan. In general, stock options granted through December 31, 2004 have
inchuded exercise prices not less than the fair market value of our Class A common stock at the date of grant, and vest, as detenmined by our
Board of Directors, generally at the rate of 20% per year.

During 1999, we adopted an incentive plan under our 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, which provided certain key craployees a contingent incentive
inchiding stock options and cash. The payment of these incentives was contingent upon our achievement of certain financial and other goals.
We met certain of these goals during 1999. Accordingly, in 1999, we recorded approximately $178.8 million of deferred compensation related
to post-grant appreciation of options to purchase approximately 4.2 miflion shares. The related deferred compensation, net of forfeitures, was
recognized over the five-year option vesting period. During the year ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recognized expense of
$1.2 million, $3.5 million and $11.3 million, respectively, under the 1999 inccative plan. There is no remaining deferved compensation to be
recognized under this plan.

Effective January 26, 2005, we adopted a long-term, performance-based stock incentive plan (the “2005 LTIP™) within the tezms of our 1999
Stock Incentive Plan to pravide incentive to our executive officers and certain other key employees upon schicvement of specified long-term
busincss objcctives. Employecs participating in the 2005 LTIP may elect to receive a one-time award of (i) an option to acquire 8 specified
~nmber of shares priced at market value on the date of the awards, expected to be March 31, 2005; (i) rights to acquire for no additional
asideration a specified smaller mumber of shares of our Class A common stock; or (fii) a correspoading combination of a lesser number of
uption shares and such rights to acquire our Class A common stock. The options and rights will vest at a varying rate over a scven year period;
provided, however, that none of the options o rights will vest if we fil to schicve the specified long-term performance goal. We will record
the related compensation when achievernent of this performance goal becomes probable, if ever. Such compensation, if recorded, would likely
result in material noo-cash, stock-based compensation cxpense in our consolidated statements of opcrations and comprehensive income (loss).

We report all pon-cash compensation based on stock option appreciation as & single cxpense category in our zocompanymg cmsolida.ted
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The foliowing teble represents the other expense categories in our consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income
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‘ (ioss) that would be affected if non-cash, stock-based compensation was allocated to the same expense categorics as the base compensation for
key employees who participate in the 1999 incentive plan.

Feor the Yeurs Ended Decemsber 31,
L. _ B 2002
‘ ) (In thonsands)
Subscriber-related s 51 $ 34 s 729
Satellitec and transmission . ’ 69 359 (¢}
Gencral and administrative 1,060 3,151 10,557
Total non-cash, stock-based compensation $ 1180 $ 3544 $11279

Options to purchasc an additional 7.0 million shares are outstanding as of December 31, 2004 20d were granted with exercisc prices equal to
the fair market vahue of the underiying shares on the dsic they were issned during 1999, 2000 and 2001 pursuaat to a fong-term mcentive plan
under our 1995 Stock Incentiveé Plan. The weighted-average exercise price of these options is $8.90, Vesting of these options is coatingeat
upon mecting certain longer-tenm goals which heve not yet been achieved. Consequently, no compensation was recorded during the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 related to these long-term options. We will record the related compensation at the achievement of
the performance goals, if ever. Such compensation, if recorded, would likely result in material non-cash, stock-bascd campensation expense in
our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

A summary of our stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

2004 L us 2002

Welghtod- Welghted- Welghted-

Average Aversge Average

Exercise Exercive Exercix

_Optias Price Optians Price Options Price
Qptions outstanding, beginning of year 17,735818 § 16359 20874925 § 1397 22,793,593 $ 13.18
Granted '4,223,000 31.64 1,354,500 2993 532,088 20.76
Fyercised (2,154,498) 6.64 (3,010,713) 5.75 (1,392,218) 530
feited 2,125,104) 19.70 { 1,482,894) 15.67 1,058,538 12.20
Uptions outstanding, end of year 17,679,216 21.03 17,135,818 16.59 20,874,925 13.97
Exercisable at end of year 5‘607‘416 2590 5,5?_5;437 19.45 6&25i708 13.62

Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 are as follows:
Optlens O ding Optisns Exercissble
Number Weighted- Number
Outstanding Average Weighted- Exercisable ‘Weighted-
asof Remainiog Aversge Axef Average
December 31, Ceatractusl Exercise December 31, Exercive
2004¢ Life Price 2004 Price

$2.12500 § 3.00785 538251 1.96 3 234 538,251 H 234

$5.48625 $ 600000 7,291,371 4.02 6.00 1,393,371 6.00

$10.20315 § 19.18000 1,665,594 457 13.92 750,594 1L.71

$22.70325 § 28.88000 1,384,300 7.26 27.62 348,300 26.63

$30.75000 § 3950000 5,374,700 812 32.82 1,526,300 34.88

$48.75000 § 5275000 278,000 4.89 49.64 220,000 49.19

$60.12500 §  79.00000 1,141,000 531 65.77 829,600 64.44

$2.12500 $ 79.00000 17,679,216 5.61 21.03 5!607,416 2590

*  These amounts inchude approximately 7.0 million shares outstanding pursuant to the Long-Term Incentive Plan.
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8. Employee Benefit Plany

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During 1997, the Board of Directors and sharcholders approved an employee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP™), effective begimming October 1,
1997. Under the ESPP, we are authorized to issne a total of 800,000 shates of Class A common stock. Substantially all full-time cmployees
who have been employed by us for at least one calendar quarter are eligible to participate in the ESPP. Employee stock purchases are made
through payroll deductions. Under the terms of the ESPP, employees may not deduct an amount which would permit such employec to
purchase our capital stock under all of our stock purchase plans at a rate which would exceed $25,000 in fair merket vatue of capital stock in
any one year. The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the closing price of the Class A common stock on the Jast business day of each
calendar quarter in which such shares of Class A common stock are deemed sold to an employee undes the ESPP. The ESPP shall terminate
upon the first to eccur of (i) October 1, 2007 or (i) the date on which the ESPP is terminated by the Board of Directors. During 2004, 2003 and
2002 cmployees purchased approximatcly 78,000, 66,000 and 107,000 shares of Class A common stock through the ESPP, respectively.

401 (k) Employee Savings Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) Employee Savings Plan (the “401(k) Plan") for cligible employees. Vohintary employce contributions to the 401(k) Plan
may be matched 50% by us, subject to 2 maximum annual contribution by us of $1,000 per cmployec. Forfeitures of unvested participant
balances which are retained by the 401(k) Plan may be used to find matching and discretionary contributions. We did oot recognize any
cxpense related to matching 401(k) contributions during the year ended December 31, 2004 as 401(k) Plan forfeitures were sufficient to find
all of the company matching contributious. Expense recognized related to matching 401(k) contributions, net of forfeitures, totaled
approximately $632 thousand and $993 thousand during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We also may make an
annual discretionary contribution to the plan with approval by our Board of Directors, subject to the-meximum deductible limit provided by the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. These contributions may be made in cash or in our stock. Discretionary contributions, net of
forfeitures, were approximately $12.8 million, $15.4 million and $16.9 million relating to the 401(k) Plan years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

.- Commitments and Contingencies
Commritments

Future maturities of our contractual obligations are summarized as follows:

Psyments due by period
Total 2085 2006-2007 2008-2009 Thereafter
(In thousands)
Satellite-related obligations $2,117,673  § 171,126  $519,632 $407,175  §1,013,740
Operating lease obligations 84,000 24,873 40,822 15,746 2,559
Purchasc obligations 1,449,183 1,233 437 91,729 98,060 25957
Total 33650856 $L435436 $652,183  $520981  $1042256

Satellite-Related Obligations
Satellites under Construction. We have entered into contracts to construct four new satellites.

During July 2003, we entered into a contract for the construction of EchoStar X, a Lockheed Martin A2100 class DBS satcllitc. We anticipate
construction to be compieted and that this satellite will be lmunched duning the fourth
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quarter of 2005. EchoStar X wiil cnable better bandwidth utilization, provide back-up protection for our existing local chanmel otj{edngs,
capacity to potentially offer local channels in additional markets, and could allow DISH Network to offer other value-added services.

During December 2004, we entered into a contract for the construction of EchoStar X1, a Space Systems Loral FS1300 class DBS satellite. In
connection with this agrecment, we obtained an option for the construction of other additional satellites. Construction is expected w be
completed during 2007 and is coatingent upon, among other things, the finalization of the neccssary bankruptcy court approvals. There can be
1o assurance that these approvals will be finalized or that the satellite will ultimately be Isunched. Future commitments related to this satellite
arc included in the table above. EchoStar X1 will caable betier bandwidth utilization, provide back-up protection for our existing offerings, and
could allow DISH Network to offer other valne-added services.

During December 2004 and March 2005, we entered into contracts for the construction of two Lockheed Martm A2100 class spot beam Ka-
band satellites, which are expected to be completed during 2008. These satellites will enable better bandwidth utilization and could allow DISH
Network to offer other valuc-added services including 2-way broadband and video.

Satellltes under Lease. In addition to our lease of the AMC-15 satellite (Note 4), we have also d into satellite service ngr s to kease
capacity on four other satellites.

In conmection with the SES Americom agrecment discussed under Capital Lease Obligation (Note 4), we are currently leasing all of the
capacity on an existing in-orbit FSS satellite, AMC-2, at the 105 degree orbital location. Our lease of this sateflite will continue at least until
AMC-15 is placed in service at this location, which is expected to occur during the second half of 2005, We use the capacity on AMC-2 to
provide local network channels.

During February 2004, we entered imto two additional satellite service agreements for capacity on FSS satellites. The satellite under the first of
these agreements, AMC-16, launched during the fourth quarter of 2004 and commenced commercial openations during the first quarter of 2005.
We could usc this additional satellite, which is currently located at the 85 degree orbital Jocation, as backup for AMC-15, and may also utilize
the satellite to offer local network channels in additional markets, together with satellite-detivered high-speed interet services. This ten-year
satellite service agreement is rencwable by us on 2 year to year basis following the initial term, and provides us with certain rights to

lacement satellites. In connection with this agreement, we prepaid $29.0 million during 2004 and are required to meke monthly payments
- this satcllitc for the ten-year period following commencement of commercial operations.

The satellite under the second of these agreements is planned for launch during 2006 and is contingent upon, among other things, obtaining
uccessary regulatory approvals. There can be no assurance that we will obtain these approvals or that the satellite will ultimately be lannched.
This additional satellite could allow DISH Network to offer othet value-added services. In connection with this agrecment, we prepaid

$55.0 million during 2004 and arc required to make monthly payments for this sateflite for the 15-year petiod following commencement of
commercial cperations, Future commitments related to this satellite arc imcluded in the table abave.

During August 2003, we exercised our option under the SES Americom agreement for AMC-15 to also laase for an initial ten-year term alt of
the capacity on a new DBS satellitc at an orbital location to be determined at a future date. In connection with this agreement, we prepaid $20.9
million to SES Americom during 2004. We anticipate that this satellite will be lmunched during 2006 and could be used as additional backup
capacity and to offer other value-added services.

As a result of our recent agreements with fixed satellite service providers and for the construction of EchoStar X, EchoStar X1, and the Ka-band
satellitcs, our obligations for payments related to satellites have increased substantially. In certam circumstances the dates on which we are
obligatcd to make these payments could be delayed. These amounts, will increese when we .
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commence payments for the taunches of EchoStar X1 and the Ka-band satellites, and would further increase to the extent we procure insurance
for our satellites or contract for the constructian, launch or lease of additional satellites.

Purchase Obligations

Our 2005 purchase obligations primarily consist of binding purchasc orders for EchoStar recciver systems and related equipment and for
products and services related to the operation of our DISH Network. Our purchase obligations also include certain guaranteed fixed contractual
commitments to purchase programming content.

Programming Contracts

In the normal course of business, we have also entered into numerous contracts to purchase programming content whereby our payment
obligations are fully contingent on the number of subscribers to which we provide the respective content. These programmung commitments are
not incladed in the table above. The terms of our contracts typically range from one to ten years. Our programming expenses will continue to
increase to the extent we are successful growing our subscriber base. Programming expenses are included in “Subscriber-related cxpenses”™ in
the sccompanying consclidated stateraents of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Rent Expense
Totel rent cxpense for operating leases approximated $59.1 million, $32 2 million and $17.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Patents and Intellectual Property

Many cntities, including some of our competitors, now have and may in the future obtain patents and other intellectual property rights that
cover or affect products or services directly or indirectly related to thosc that we offer. We may not be aware of all patents and other intellectual
property rights that our products may potentially infringe. Damages in patent infringement cases can include a tripling of actual damages in

*rinin cases. Further, we cannot estimate the extent to which we may be required in the future to obtain licenses with respect to patents held by

acrs and the availability and cost of any such licenses. Various parties have asserted patent and other intellectual property rights with respest
1o corupouents within our direct broadcast satellite system. We cannot be certain that these persons do not own the rights they claim, that our
products do nat nfringe on these rights, that we wonld be able to obtain licenses from these persons on commercially reasonsble terms or, if
we were unable to obtsin such licenses, that we would be able to redesign our products to avoid infringemeat.

Contingencies
Distant Network Litigation

Until July 1998, we oblaincd feeds of distant broadcast network channels (ABC, NBC, CBS and FOX) for distribution to our customers
through PrimeTime 24. In December 1998, the United States District Court for the Southem District of Flotida in Miami entered a nationwide
permznent injunction requiring PrimeTime 24 to shut off distant network channcls to many of its customers, and henceforth to scll those
channels to consumers in accordance with the injunction.

In October 1998, we filed a declaratary judgment action against ABC, NBC, CBS and FOX in the United States District Court for the District
of Colorado. We asked the Court to find that our method of providing distant network programming did not violate SHYIA and hence did not
infringe the networks’ copyrights. In November 1998, the networks and their affiliste association groups filed a complaint against us m Mismi
Federal Court alicging, among other things, copyright infringement. The Court combined the case that we filed in Colorado with the case in
Miami and transferred it to the Miami Federal Court.
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In February 1999, the networks filed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, Preliminary Injunction and Contempt Finding sgainst
DirecTV, Inc. in Miami related 1o the delivery of distant network channels to DirecTV customers by satellite. DirecTV sctiled that lawsuit with
the networks. Under the terms of the settfement between DirecTV and the networks, some Direc TV customers were scheduled to lose access to
their satellite-provided distant network channels by July 31, 1999, while other DirecTV customers wese to be disconnected by December 31,
1999. Subsequently, substantially all providers of satellite-delivered nctwork programming other than us agreed to this cutoff schedule,
although we do not know if they adhered to this schedule.

In April 2002, we reached a private scttlement with ABC, Inc., one of the plaintiffs in the litigation, and jointly filed a stipulation of dismissal
In November 2002, we reached a private settiement with NBC, another of the plaintiffs in the litigation and jointly filed a stipulation of
dismissal. On March 10, 2004, we reached a peivate settlement with CBS, snother of the plaintiffs in the litigation and jointly filed a stipulation
of dismissal. We have also reached private settiements with many independent stations and station groups. We were unable to reach a
settlement with five of the original eight plaintiffs — Fox and the mdependent affiliate groups associated with cach of the four networks.

A trial took place during April 2003 and the District Court issued a final judgment in June 2003. The Distict Court found that with one
exception our current distant network qualification procedures comply with the law. We have revised our procedures to comply with the
District Court’s Order. Although the plaintiffs asked the District Court to enter an injunction preciuding us from selling any Jocal or distant
network programming, the District Court refused. While the plaintiffs did not claim monctary damages and none were awerded, the plaintiffs
were awarded approximately $4.8 million in attorneys* fees. This amount is substantially lcss then the amount the plaintiffs sought. We ask the
Court to reconsider the award and the Court has vacated the fee award. When the award was vacated, the District Court also allowed us an
opportunity to conduct discovery conceming the amount of plaintiffs’ requested fees. The parties have agreed to postpone discovery and an
evidentiary hearing regarding attorney’s fees uatil aftcy the Court of Appeals rules on the pending appeal of the Court’s June 2603 final
judgment. It is not possible to make a firm assessment of the probable outcome of plaintiffs* ourstanding request for fees.

The District Court’s injunction requires us to use a computer model to re-qualify, as of Fanc 2003, all of our subscribers who receive ABC,

NBC, CBS or Fox programming by sateHite from a market other than the city in which the subscriber lives. The Court also invalidated all

waivers historicelly provided by netwark stations. These waivers, which have been provided by stations for the past several years through a

third party automated system, allow subscribers who belicve the computer model improperty disqualified them for distant network chammels o

.. metheless receive those channels by satellite. Further, even though SHVIA provides that certain subscribers who received distant network
annels prior 1o October 1999 cen continue to receive those channels through December 2004, the District Court terminated the right of our

. grandfathered subscribers to continue to receive distant network channels.

We believe the District Court made a number of errors and appealed the decision. Plaintiffs cross-appealed. The Court of Appeals granted our
Tequest to stay the injunction until our appeal is decided. Oral arguments occurred during February 2004. 1t is not possible to predict how or
when the Court of Appeals will rule on the merits of our appeal.

In the cvent the Court of Appeals upholds the injunction, and if we do not reach private settlement agreements with additional stations, we will
attempt (0 assist subscribers in ammanging altemative means to receive network channcls, including migration to local channels by satellite
where svailable, and free off air antenns offers in other markets. However, we cannot predict with any degree of certainty how many
subscribers would cancel their primary DISH Network programming as a resakt of termination of their distant network channels. We could be
required to terminate distant network programming 1o all subscribers in the event the plaintiffs prevail on their cross-appeal and we are
permanently enjoined from delivering all distamt network channels. Termination of distant network
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programming to subscribers would result, among other things, in 2 reduction in average monthly revenue per subscriber and a temporary
increase in subscriber churn.

Satellite Insurance

Several years ago, we filed 2 5219.3 million insurance claim for a total loss under the lzumch insurance policies covering our EchoStar IV
satellite. The satellite insurance consists of scparate substantially identical policies with different carriers for varying amounts that, in
combination, create 4 total insured amount of $219.3 million. The insurance camiers include La Reunion Spatiaie; AXA Reinsurance Company
(/s AXA Corponate Solutions Reinsurance Company), United States Aircraft Insurance Group; Assurances Generales De France LAR.T.
(AGF); Certain Underwriters st Lloyd’s, London; Great Lakes Reinsurence (UK.) PLC; British Aviation Insurance Group; i i
(previously Storcbrand), Hannover Re (a/k/a International Hamnover); The Tokjo Marine & Fire Insurance Company, Lid;; Marham Space
Consortium (2/k/a Marham Consortium Management); Ace Global Markets (a/k/a-Ace London); M.C. Wetkins Syndicate; Goshawk Syndicate
Management Ltd.; D.E. Hope Syndicate 10009 (Formerly Busbridge); Amlin Aviation; K.J. Coles & Others; HR. Dumas & Others; Hiscox
Syndicates, Ltd.; Cox Syndicate; Haywerd Syndicate; D.J. Marshall & Others; TF Har; Kiln; Assitalia Le Assicorazioni D'Halia S_P.A. Roma;
La Fondiaria Assicurazione S.P.A., Firenze; Vittoria Assicurazioni S.P.A., Milano; Ras — Riunione Adriatica Di Sicurta SP.A_, Milano;
Societa Cattolica Di Assicurazioni, Verano; Siat Assicurazione E Riassicurazione S.P.A, Genova; E. Patrick; ZC Speciaity Inswrance; Lloyds
of London Syndicates 588 NIM, 1209 MEB and 86} MEB; Generali France A ssurances; Assurance France Aviation; and Ace Bermuda
Insurance Ltd.

The insurance carvicrs offered us a total of approximately $88.0 million, or 40% of the total policy amount, in sctttement of the EchoStar IV
insurance claim. We rejected this scttiement offer and submitted onr claim to arbitration pursuant to the terms of the insurance policies.

On March 4, 2005, we agrecd (o settle our insurance claim and related claims for accrued interest end bad faith with all camiers who agree to
pay their proportionste share of an aggregate net amount of $240.0 miltion. We retained title to and use of the EchoStar IV satellite. Payment
from each settling carrier is due on or before April 26, 2005, with intercst commencing 1o accrue on April 12, 2005. Currently, we have
received signed agreements back from insurers representing over 90% of the aggregate amount. While we belicve the remaining insurers will
cach rign the agreement shortly, the arbitration will continue with respect to any insurers who decline to settle.

.emstar

During October 2000, Starsight Telecast, Inc., a subsidiary of Gemstar-TV Guide Imtemational, Inc. (“Gemstar™), filed a suit for patent
infringement against us and certain of our subsidiaries in the United States District Court for the Western District of North Carolina, Asheville
Division,

In December 2000, we filed suit against Gemstar-TV Guide (and certain of its subsidiarics) in the United States District Court for the District
of Colorado alleging violations by Gemstar of various federal and state anti-trost laws and laws governing unfair competition. Gemstar filed
laims alleging infring t of additional patents and asseried new patent infringement counterclaims.

In February 2001, Gemstar filed additional patent infringement actions against us in the District Court in Atlanta, Georgia and with the ITC.
We settled all of the litigation with Gemstar during 2004 (Note 2).

Superguide -

During 2000, Superguide Cortp. (“Superguide™) filed suit against us, DirecTV and others in the United States District Court for the Western
District of North Carolina, Asheville Division, alleging infringement of United States Patent Nos. 5,038,211, 5,293,357 and 4,751,578 which
relate 10 certain elecronic program guide fanctions, including the use of clectremic program guides to control VCRs. Superguide sought
injunctive and declaratory relief and damages in an
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unspecified amount. We examined these patents and believe that they are not infringed by any of our products or services.

On summary judgment, the District Court ruled that none of the asscried patents were infringed by us. These rulings were appealed to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. During February 2004, the Federal Circuit affinmed in part and reversed in part the
District Court's findings and remanded the case back to the District Court for further proceedings. Based zpon the scttlement with Gemstar
discussed above, we now have-an additional defcnse i this case based upon & license from Gemstar. We will continue to vigoronsly defend
this case. In the event that a Court ultimately determines that we infringe on amy of the patents, we may be subject to substantial damages,
which may include treble damages and/or an injunction that could require us o materially modify certain user-friendly electronic programming
guide and related features that we currently offer to consumers. It is not possible to make a firm assessment of the probabie outcome of the suit
or to determine the extent of any potential ability or damages.

Broadcast Innovation, L.L.C.

InN ber of 2001, Broadcast Innovation, L.L.C. filed a lawsuit sgainst us, DirecTV, Thomson Consumer Electronics and others in Federal
District Court in Denver, Coloradn. The suit alleges infringement of United States Patent Nos. 6,076,094 (“the ‘094 patent™) and 4,992,066
(“the ‘066 patent”). The ‘094 patent relates o certain methods and devices for transmitting and receiving data along with specific formatting
information for the data. The ‘066 patent relates to certain methods and devices for providing the scrambling circuitry for a pay television
system on removable cards. We examined these patents and believe that they are not infringed by any of our products or services.
Subsequently, DirecTV and Thomson settied with Broadcast Inmovation leaving us as the ouly defendant.

During January 2004, the judge issucd an otder finding the ‘066 patent invalid In August of 2004, the Court ruled the ‘094 invalid in a parailel
case filed by Broadcast Innovation against Charter and Comcast. Our case is stayed pending the appeal of the Charter case. We intend to
continue to vigorously defend this case. In the event that a Court ultimately determines that we infringe on any of the patents, we may be
subject to substantial damages, which may include treble damages and/or an injunction that could require us to materially modify certain uscr-
friendly features that we currently offer to consumers. It is not possible to make a firm assessment of the probeble outcome of the suit or to
determine the extent of any potential liability or damages.

¥o Inc.

During January 2004, TiVo Inc. filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. The suit alleges
infringement of United States Patent No. 6,233,389 (“the ‘389 patent™). The “389 patent relates to certain methods and devices for providing
what the patent calls “time-warping.” We have examined this patent and do not believe that it is infringed by any of our products ot services.
During March 2005, the Court denied our motion to transfer this case to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.
We intend to vigorously defend this case. In the event that a Court ultimately determines that we infringe this patent, we may be subject to
substantial damages, which may include treble damages and/or 2n injunction that conld require us to materially modify certain user-friendly
features that we curently offer to consumers. It is not possibie to make a firm assessmeat of the probable outcome of the suit or to determine
the extent of any potential liability or damages.

Acacia

In June 2004, Acacia Media Technologies filed 2 lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Narthern District of California.
The suit als0 named DirecTV, Comcast, Charter, Cox and a number of smaller cable companies as defendants. Acacis is an intellectual
property holding company which seeks to license the patent portfolio that it has acquired. The suit alleges infringement of United States Patent
Nos. 5,132,992, 5,253,275, 5,550,863, 6,002,720 and 6,144,702 (herein after the 992, 275, ‘863, ‘720 and “702 patents, respectively). The
‘992, *863, *720 and ‘702 patents have been asserted against us.
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The esserted patents relate to various systems and methods related to the transmission of digital deta. The ‘992 and *702 patents have also been
asserted against scveral internet adult content providers in the Umited States District Court for the Central District of California. On July 12,
2004, that Court issued 3 Markman ruling which found that the ‘992 and “702 petents were not as broad as Acacia had conteaded.

Acacia’s various patent infringement cascs have now been consolidated for pre-trial purposes in the United States District court for the
Northem District of California. We intend to vigorously defend this case. In the event that a Court ultimately determincs that we infringe on
any of the pateats, we may be subject to substantial damages, which may include reble dsmages and/or an injunction thet could require us to
materially modify certain user-friendly features that we currently offer to consumers. It is not possible to make a firm assessment of the
probable outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any potential Liability or damages.

California Action

A purported class action relating to the use of terms such as “crystal clear digital video,” “CD-quality audio,” and “on-screen program guide,”
and with respect to the number of channels available in various programming packages was filed against us in the California State Superior
Court for Los Angeles County in 1999 by David Pritikin and by Consumer Advocates, a nonprofit unincorporsted sssociation. The complaint
alleges breach of express warranty and violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Civil Code Sections 1750, et seq., and the
California Business & Professions Code Sections 17500 & 17200. A hearing on the plaintiffs’ motion for class certfication and our motion for
summary judgment was held during 2002. At the hearing, the Court issued a preliminary ruling denying the plaintiffs’ motion for class
certification. However, before issuing a final ruling on class certification, the Court granted our motion for summary judgment with respect to
all of the plaintiffs’ claims. Subsequently, we filed a motion for attorneys’ fecs which was denied by the Court. The plaintiffs filed a notice of
appeal of the court’s granting of our motion for summary judgment and we cross-appealed the Court’s ruling on our motion for attomeys” fees.
During December 2003, the Court of Appeals affirmed in part; and reversed in part, the lower court’s decision granting summary judgment
our favor. Specifically, the Court found there were tnable issues of fact whether we may have violated the allcged consumer statutes “with
representations concerning the number of channels and the program schedule ” However, the Court found no triable issue of fact as to whether
the representations “crystal clear digital video™ or “CD quality™ audio constituted a cause of action. Moreover, the Court affirmed that the
“reasonable consumer” standard was applicable to each of the alleged consumer statutes, Plaintiff argued the standard should be the “least
sophisticated” consamer. The Court also affirmed the dismissal of Plaintiffs” breach of warranty claim. Plaintiff filed a Petition for Review

“th the California Supreme Court and we responded. During March 2004, the California Supreme Court denicd Plaintiff’s Petition for L.

.view. Therefore, the action bas been remanded to the trial court pursuant to the instructions of the Court of Appeals. Hearings on class
certification were canducted on December 21, 2004 and on February 7, 2005. The Court denied Plaintiffs motion for class certification on
February 10, 2005. It is uncertain whether the Plaintiff will appeal this decision. Therefore, it is not possible to make an assessment of the
probable outcome of the litigation o to determine the extent of any potential Liability.

Retailer Class Actions

We have been sued by retailers in three separate purported class actions. During October 2000, two separate lawsuits were filed in the
Arapshoe County District Court in the State of Colorado and the United States District Court for the District of Colorade, respectively, by Air
Communication & Satellite, Inc. and John Delong, et al. on behalf of themselves and a class of persous similarly situated. The plaintiffs arc
atterpting to certify nationwide classes on behalf of certain of our satellite hardware refailers. The plaintiffs are requesting the Courts to

- declare certain provisions of, and changes to, allcged agreements between us and the retzilers invalid and wenforceable, and to sward damages

for lost incentives and payments, charge backs, and other compensation. We are vigorously defending against the suits and have asserted a
variety of comnterclaims. The United States District Court for the District of Colorado stayed the Federal Court action to allow the partics to
pursue a comprehensive adjudication of their dispute in the Arapahoe County State Court. Jolm DeJong, dva Nexwave, and Joseph Kelley,
d/b/a Keltronics, subsequently intervened in the
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Arspahoe County Coun action as plaintiffs and proposcd class representatives. We have filed a motion for summary judgment on all counts
and against all plaintiffs. The plaintiffs filed 2 motion for additional time 1o conduct discovery to ensbie them to respond to our motion. The
Court granted a limited discovery period which ended November 15, 2004. The Court is hearing discovery related motions and we expect the
Court to follow with a briefing schedule for the motion for summary judgment. I is not possible 10 make an assessment of the probable
outcome of the litigation or to determine the extent of any potential liability or damages.

Sarellite Dealess Supply, Inc. (“SDS”™) filed a 1awsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas during
September 2000, on behalf of itself and a ¢lass of persons similarly situated. The plaintiff was attempting to certify a nationwide class on behalf
of sellers, installers, and servicers of satellite equipment who contract with us and who allege that we: (1) charged back certain fees paid by
members of the class to professional installers in violstion of contractual terrs; (2) manipulated the accounts of subscribers to deny peyments
to class members; and (3) misrepresented, to class members, the ownership of certain equipment related to the provision of our satellite
television service. During September 2001, the Court granted our motion to dismiss. The plaintiff moved for reconsideration of the Court’s
order dismissing the casc. The Court denied the plaintif's motion for reconsideration. The trial court denied our motions for sanctions against
SDS. Both partics perfected appeals before the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. On appeal, the Fifth Circnit upbeld the dismissal. The Fifth
Circuit vacated and remanded the District Court’s denial of our motion for sanctions. The District Court subsequently issued a written opinion
containing the same findings. The only issue remaining is our collection of costs, which were previously granted by the Court.

StarBand Shareholder Lawswit

During August 2002, a limited grovp of sharcholders in StarBand, a broadband laternet satellite venture in which we invested, filed an sction in-
the Delaware Court of Chancery against us and EchoBand Corporation, together with four EchoStar executives who sat o the Board of
Dircctors for StarBand, for alleged breach of the fiduciary duties of due care, good faith and loyalty, and also against us and EchoBand
Corporation for aiding and abening such alleged breaches. Two of the individual defendants, Charles W, Ergen and David K. Moskowitz, arc
members of our Board of Directors. The action stems from the defendants’ involvement as directors, and our position as s sharcholder, in
StesBand. During July 2003, the Court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss on all counts, The Plaintiffs sppealed. On April 15, 2004, the
Delaware Snpreme Court remanded the case instructing the Chancery Court to reevaluate its decision in Jight of a recent opinion of the
Delaware Supreme Court, Tooley v. Donaldson, No. 84,2004 (Del. Supr. April 2, 2004). Plaintiffs filed a motion to amead their complaint

‘hich was denied by the Court. The Plaintiffs appealed the denial of their motion to amend and the appeal is pending. It is not possible to make

-irm assessment of the probable outcome of the litigation or to determine the extent of any potential liability or damages.

Enron Commercial Paper Investment Complaini

During November 2003, an action was commenced in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York, against
approximately 100 defendants, including us, who invested in Enron’s commercial paper. The complaint afleges that Enron’s October 2001
prepayment of its commercial paper is a voidable preference under the bankruptcy laws and constitutes a fraudulent conveyance. The complaint
allcges that we received voidable or fraudulent prepayments of spproximatety $40.0 million. We typically invest in commercial paper and
potes which are rated in one of the four highest rating caregories by at least two nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. At the
time of our investment in Egron commercial peper, it was considered to be high quality and cansidered to be a very low risk. The defendants
have moved the Court to dismiss the case on grounds that Enron’s complajot does not adequately state a kegal claim. Those motions are
currently under consideration by the Court. 1t is 100 early to make an assessment of the probable outcome of the litigation or o determine the
extent of any potential liability or damages.

Bank One
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During March 2004, Bank One, NA. (“Bank One") ﬁled suit against us and one of our subsidiaries, EchoStar Acceptance Corporation
(“EAC}, in the Court of Common Pleas of Franklin County, Ohio alleging breach of a duty to indemnify. Bank One alleges that EAC is
contractually required to indemnify Bank Onc for 2 scttlement it paid to consumers who entered private label credit card agreements with Bank
One to purchase sale!lm:eqmpmentm the late 1990s. Bank One alleges that we entered into 3 guaraptes wherein we agreed to pay any
indernmity obligation incurred by Bank One. During April 2004, we removed the case to federal court in Columbus, Ohio, We deay the
aliegations and intend to vigorously defend against the claims. We filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint which was granted in part and
denied in part. The Court granted our motion, agrecing we did not owe Bank One a duty to defend the underlying lawsuit. However, the Court
denied the motion in that Bank One will be allowed to attempt to prove that we owed Bank One a duty to indemnify. The case is currently in
discovery. It is too early in the litigation to make an assessment of the probable cutcome of the litigation or to determine the extent of any
potential liability against us.

Church Communications Network, Inc.

During August 2004, Church Communications Network, Inc. (“CCN”}) filed suit against EchoStar Satellite L.L.C. (“ESLLC™) in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Alsbama. CCN contends that our contractual relationship with Dominion Video Satellite, Inc.,
a direct broadcast provider that airs only Christian programming, coastitutes s breach of 2 commercial television services agreement between
ESLLC and CCN (the “CCN Agreement™). Further, CCN contends that our reluctance to disclose the confidential provisions of the
Dominion/EchoStar agreement warrant causes of action for negligent misrcpresentation, intentional misrepresentation, and non-disclosure. We
filed a motion to dismiss CNN"s complaint, or alternatively to transfer the case 16 a Colorade court. The Court denied our motion to dismiss,
but granted our motion to transfer. As & result, the action wes transferred to the United States District Court for the District of Colorado.
Thereafter, we filed 8 motion to dismiss the case m the Colarade court. The motion to dismiss is currently pending before the Court and the
case is currently i discovery.

Although the CCN Agreement specifically hmits damages to $500,000, CCN initially sought §1.5 millian. As this case progressed, CCN
initially increased the amount of its alleged damages to over $3.0 million and has recently indicated that it is now secking damages in excess of
$15.0 million. As this is currently in early discovery it is not possible to make 2 finn assessment of the probable outcome of the Iitigation or to
determine the extent of any potential liability or damages.

* sendi

In January 2005, Vivendi Universal, S.A. (“Vivendi™), filed suit against EchoStar Communications Corporatio in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New Yotk alleging that we have anticipatorily repudiated or are in breach of an alleged agreement between
EchoStar and Vivendi pursuazt to which we arc allegedly required to broadcast a music-video channel provided by Vivendi. Viveadi's
comphml seeks i m]uncuve and declaratary relief, and damages in an unspecified amount. Vivendi bas since filed a motion for a preliminary
injunction, in which it asks the Court to order us to broadcast the Vivendi music-video channel during the pendency of the litigation aad to pay
Vivendi for the provision of its music-video channel. We intend to vigorously defend this cage. In the event that a Coust determines that
Vivendi is entitled to a preliminary injunction, we may be required to broadcast the Vivendi music-video channel during the pendency of the
Htigation, which would impact the bandwidth that we have available to broadcast other services. In the ovent that a Conrt ultimately detenuines
that we have & contractua) obligation 10 broadcast the Vivendi music-video channe] and that we are in breach of that obligation, we may be
required to broadcast the Vivendi music-video chammel and be subject to substantial damages. It is not possible to make a firm asscssment of
the probable outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any potential lishility or damages.

Fox Sports Direct
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During June 2004, Fox Sports Direct (*Fox™) sued us in the United States District Court Central District of California for alleged breach of
contract. During October 2004, we reached a settlement with Fox for an immaterial amount.
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Other

In addition to the above sctions, we arc subject to various ather legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business. In
our opinion, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to any of these actions is unlikely to materially affect our financial position, results of
operations or hquidity.

Reauthorization of Satellite Home Viewer Improvememt Act

We currently offer local broedcast chennels in approximately 155 markets across the United States. In 38 of those markets, two dishes are
necessary to reccive all local channels in the market. SHVERA now requires, among other things, that all local brosdcast channels delivered by
satellite 1o any particular market be available from a single dish within 18 months of the law’s December 8, 2004 effective date. Because we
had planned to transition all local channels in any particular market to the same dish by 2008 rather than in the shorter transition period
mandated by SHVERA, satellite capecity limitations may force us to move the local channels in as many as 30 markets to different satellitcs,
requiring subscribers in those markets w install a second or 2 different dish to continue receiving their Iocal network channels. We may be
forced 10 stop offering local channels in some of those markets altogether. '

The transition of all local channels to the same dish conld result in disruptions of service for a substantial number of onr customers, and our
ability to timely comply with this requirement without incurring significent additional costs is dependent on, among other things, the successful
1aunch and operation of one or more additional satellites, It is possible that the costs of compliance with this requirernent conld exceed

$100.0 million. To the extent some of thase costs are passed on to our subscribers, and because many subscribers may be nnwilling to instal 2
sccond dish where one bad been adequate, we expect that our subscriber churmn could be negatively impacted. It is too early to make a firm
determination of the cost of campliance.

10. Segment Reporting
Financial Data by Business Unit

atement of Financisl Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of sn Enterprise and Related Information” (“SFAS 1317)
establishes standards for reporting information about operating scgments in ammual financial statcments of public business enterprises and
requires that those enterprises report sclected information about operating segments in interim financial reports issued to shareholders.
Openating scgments are components of an enterprise sbout which separate financial information is available and regularly evaluated by the
chief operating decision maker(s) of an enterprise. Under this definition we currently operate as two business units. The All Other column
consists of revenus from other satcllite services and expenses from other operating segments for which the disclosure requirements of SFAS
131 do not apply.
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EcheStar
DISH Techuelogies AN Ceasolidated
Network Corparaties Other Elminadens Total
- (Ia thousands)
Year Ended December 31,2002
Total revenue $4,544550 § 169,674 S113445 S (6,844) 34820825
Depreciation and amortization 328,495 1,114 37,349 — 372,958
Total costs and expenses 4,158,324 136,387 81,440 (6,844) 4,369,307
Interest income 111,593 — 1,334 - 112,927
Interest expense, net of amounts capitelized (482,512) (188) (203) —  (482,903)
Income tax benefit (provision), net (75.253) 4233 (2,078) — (73,098)
Net inceme (loss) (916,607) 37440 27133 —  (852,034)
Year Ended December 31, 2003
Total revenue $5518,183 § 131,684 $ 97983 $ (8,554) $5,739,296
Depreciation and emortization 347,331 6,717 44,158 —_ 398,206
Tatal costs and expenses 4,852,543 115,012 72,747 (8,554) 5,031,748
Interest income 64,750 —_ 308 — 65,058
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized (551,768) (161) (s61) —  (552,490)
Income tax benefit (provision), net (12,604) (1,085) (687) — (14,376)
Net income (loss) 182,809 15,445 26,252 — 224,506
Year Ended December 31, 2004
Total revenue $6,926,528 § 125881 §107,675 § (8,868) $7,151,216
Depreciation and smortization 446,822 6,718 49,361 _ 502,901
Total costs and expenses 6,222,175 154,147 80,457 (8,868) 6447911
Interest income 41,7117 - 570 — 42287
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized (504,612) (133) (987) — (505,132)
Income tax benefit (provision), net (11,464) (385) 240 — (11,609)
Net incorne (loss) 215,582 (28,767) 27,954 — 214,769
Geographic Information and Transaction with Major Customers
United
—Swmtes ~ Esrepe __ Tod
(In thousands)

Long-lived assets, including FCC authorizations
2003 $2,588,707 $12535  $2,601,242
2004 $3,604,675  $15005 33,619,680
Revenue
2002 $4,750,782  $70,043  $4,820,825
2003 $5,675£ 78 364&18 $5l739£96
2004 $7,091,723 $59,493  $7,151,216

bk sedowr salaocwtess

Revenues are attributed to geographic regions based upon the location from where the salc originated. United States revenuc includes
transactions with both United States and Intemationa! customers. Europe revenue includes transactions with customers in Europe, Africa and
the Middle East. Revenues from these customers are inchuded within the All Other operating scgment.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, United States revenue included export sales to one international customer which

totaled $125.3 million, $127.6 million and $169.1 million, respectively. These international sales accounted for approximately 1.8%, 2.2% and
3.5% of our total revame during each of the years
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11. Valustion and Quslifying Accounts

Our valuation and quelifying accounts as of Decembar 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2002:
Assets:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Lo loss reserve

Reserve for inventory

Year ended December 31, 2003
Assets:

Alowance for doubtful accomnts
Reserve for inventory

Year ended December 31, 2004:
Assets:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserve for inventory

12. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Jr quarterly results of operarions are summarized as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2003:
Total revenue

Operating income (loss}

Net income (loss)

Basic income per sharc

Diluted income per share

Year ended December 31, 2004;
Total revenue

Operating income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Basic incame per share

S
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ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Revenues from these customers are included within the EchoStar Technologies
Balance at Charged to
Beghming of Cests and Bajance st
Year Ex Deductions End of Year
(In thousands)

$ 22770 § 53967 $(57.573) § 19,164
1,581 109 {1,700) —

13,247 7,420 (10,700) 9,967

§ 19,164 § 61,351 $(68,330) § 12,185

9,967 1,703 (4,900) 6,770

$ 12,185 § 66289 §5(68932) § 9,542

6,770 8428 (4,809) 10,389

i
For the Three Monthks Ended .
March 31 Jame 8 Septcmber 38 December 31
{in thousands, except per share data)
(Onandited)

$1,359,048 $1414,567 $1452295 $1,513386
178,748 222,993 160,485 145322
57,917 128,793 35,116 2,680

H 012 § 027 § 007 S 0.01

H 012 § 026 $ 007 $ 0.01
$1,579,796 $1,777,713 §1,862,613 $1,931,094
122,166 184,017 194,924 202,198
(42,886) 85,316 102,261 70,078
3 0.09) $ 018 § 022 3§ 015
H 0.09) § 018 § 022 § 0.15

Diluted income per share

13. Related Party Transactions

We own 50% of NagraStar LLC (“NagraStar™), 2 joint venture that is our exchusive provider of security access devices. Nagra USA, 2
subsidiary of the Kudelski Group, owns the other 50% of NagraStar. NagraStar purchases these security
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access devices from NagraCard SA, 2 Swiss company which is also a subsidiary of the Kudelski Group. Because we are not required to
consolidate NagraStar, but we do have the ability to significantly influence its operating policics, we sccounted for our investment in NagraStar
under the equity method of accounting for all periods prescated. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we purchased
from NagraStar approximately $123.8 million, $68.4 million and $56.2 million, respectively, for security access devices. As of December 31,
2004 and 2003, amounts payable to NagraStar totaled $22.7 million and $7.7 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, we were
committed o purchase approximately $92.5 milfion of scourity access devices from NagraStar. Approximately $22.8 million of these
commitments had been accrued for as of December 31, 2004 on our consolidated balance sheets.

14. Subsequent Events
Cablevision Satellite Acquisition

On January 20, 2005, we agreed to purchase certain satellite asscts from Rainbow DBS Co., a subsidiary of Cablevision Systems Corporation
for $200.0 million. Specifically, we have agreed to purchase Rainbow 1, a direct broadcast satellite located at 61.5 degrees West Longitude,
together with the rights to 11 DBS frequencies at that location. The satellite includes 13 transponders, up to 12 of which can be operated in
“spot beam™ mode. Also, as part of this transaction, we will scquire ground facilities and related assets in Black Hawk, S.D. The transaction is
subject 1o customary conditions, including regulatory approval by the FCC. There can be no assuramee that such approval will be obtained.

Settlement of EchoStar IV Arbitration

On March 4, 2005, we agreed to settle our insurance claim and refated claims for acorued interest and bad faith with all carriers who agres 1o
pay their proportionate share of an aggregate net amount of $240.0 milkien. We retained title to and use of the EchoStar IV satellite. Payment
from each scttling carrier is due on or before April 26, 2005, with interest commencing 10 acarue on April 12, 2005. Cutrently, we have
received signed agreements back from insurers representing over 90% of the aggregate amount. While we believe the remaining insurers will
cach sign the agreement shortly, the arbitration will continue with respect to any insurers who decline to settle.

Amounts payable to us in excess of our previously recorded $106.0 miltion receivable will be recognized in income durmg the period i which
- * respective insurers sign the settiement agreement. See Note 9 for more information relating to the undertying insurance claim and our
* wastorical accoumting for that claim. .
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Index to Exhibit

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of EchoStar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(z) on the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter eaded June 30, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of EchoStar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) on the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

Articles of Incorporation of EDBS (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4(z) to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of
EDBS, Registration No. 333-31929).

Bylaws of EDBS (incorparated by reference to Exhibit 3.4(b) to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of EDBS, Registration
No. 333-31929).

Registration Rights Agreement by and between EchoStar and Charles W. Ergen (incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit 4.8 1o the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 of EchoStar, Registration No. 33-91276).

Indeature relating to 10 3/8% Senior Notes due 2007, dated as of November 12, 2002, between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Annuel Report on Form 108-K of EchoStar for the
year ended December 31, 2002, Commission File No.0-26176).

Indenture, relating to the 5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2008, dated as of May 31, 2001 between EchoStar and
US. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, Commission File No.0-26176).

Registration Rights Agreement, relating ta the 5§ 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes Duc 2008, dated as of May 31, 2001, by
and between EchoStar and UBS Warburg L.1.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, Commission File No.0-26176).

Indcnture, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated as of December 28, 2001 between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust

National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the Anmual Repart on Form 10-K of EchoStar for

the year ended December 31, 2001, Commission File No. 0-26176).

Registration Rights Agreement, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated as of December 28, 2001, by and among
EDBS and Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown, Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston Corporstion, Lehman Brothers Inc. and UBS Warburg
L.L.C. (incorporated by seference to Exhibit 4.18 to the Anrual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended
December 31, 2601, Cammission File No. 0-26176).

Indenture, relating to EDBS 5/ «% Senior Notes due 2008, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U S. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for
the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

Indenture, relating to EDBS 6 3/8% Senior Notes due 2011, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for
the quarter ended Septamber 30, 2003, Commissian File No.0-26176).
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49* Indenture, relating to EDBS Floating Senior Notes due 2008, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustee (incorperated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the
quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

410*  Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 2, 2003 among EDBS and the other parties named herein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission
File No.0-26176).

411+ 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar far the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

412* First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust Netional Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended Deeember 31, 2003, Commission File No. 8-26176).

4.13* First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 5 3/4% Senior Notes Duc 2008, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, ss Trustee {incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 4.13 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

4.14* First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 6 3/8% Senior Notes Due 2011, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustse (mcorparated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to the Anuual Report on Form 10-K for
the year cnded December 31, 2003, Conmission File No. 0-26176).

4.15* First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the Floating Rate Seniar Notes Due 2008, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS
and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to the Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2003, Comnmission File No. 0-26176).

4.16* First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 10 3/8% Senior Notes Duc 2007, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustee {incorparated by roference to Exhibit 4.16 to the Annnal Repart on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

¢ Form of Satellite Launch Insurance Declarations (incorparated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Staterment on
Form §-1 of Dish Lid., Registration No. 33-81234).

10.2¢ Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of Masch 22, 1995, between HTS and SCI Technology, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of Dish Ltd., Commission File No. 33-81234).

10.3* EchoStar 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 of
EchoStar, Registration No. 33-91276).**

10.4* Echostar 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit C to EchoStar’s Definitive Proxy Statemeat on
Schedule 14A dated March 23, 1999).4+

10.5* 1995 Non-employee Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-
8 of Echostar, Registration No. 333-05575).**

10.6* 2001 Non-cmployee Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement oa Form S-
8 of Echostar, Registration No. 333-66490).%*

10.7* 2002 Class B CEO Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to EchoStar’s Definitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A dated April 9, 2002).%¢

10.8* Agreement between HTS, ESC and ExpressVu Inc., dated Jamaary 8, 1997, as amended (fncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18

to the ‘)knnuel Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 1996, as smended, Commission File No. 0-
26176).
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10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

JIT

10.18*

10.19*

1020*

Agreement 10 Form NagraStar L.L.C,, dated as of June 23, 1998, by and between Kudelski S.A., EchoStar and ESC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 1998, Commission
File No. 0-26176). .

License and OEM Manufacturing A greement, dated July 1, 2002, berween EchoStar Satellite Corporation, EchoStar Technologies
Corporation and Thomson multimedia, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Farm 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, Commission File No. 0-26176).4%*

Amendment No. 19 to License and OEM Manufacturing A greement, dated July 1, 2002, between EchoStar Satellite Carporation,
EchoStar Techmologies Corporation and Thomson multimedia, Inc. (incotporated by reference 1o Exhibit 10.57 w the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 2002, Commission File No.0-26176).

Satellite Service Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2003, between SES Americom, Inc., EchoStar Satellite Corporation and
EchoStar Communications Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterty Report an Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2003, Commission File No 0-26176).

Amendment No. 1 to Satellite Service Agreement dated March 31, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2003,
Commission File Ne.0-26176).

Satellite Service Agreement dated as of August 13, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report an Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the guarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-
26176).

Satellite Service Agreement, dated February 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, Commission File No.0-
26176).

Amendment No. 1 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated March 10, 2004, between SES Americam, Ine. and EchoStar (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterty Report an Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter eaded March 31, 2004, Commmission
File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 3 to Setellite Service Agreement, dated February 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 1o the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

Whole RF Channel Service Agreement, dated February 4, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, Commission File No.0-
26176). .

Letter Amendment to Whole RF Chamnet Service Agrecment, dated March 25, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

Amcndment Ne. 2 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated April 30, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and BchoStar (’mcoq.)m:atcd
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the querter ended Junc 30, 2004, Commission
File No.0-26176).
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0.21*  Sccond Amendment to Whole RF Channel Service Agreement, dated May S, 2004, between Telesat Canada and Echostar
(incorporated by reference to Exdiibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report o Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

1022+ Third Amendment to Whole RF Chiannel Service Agreement, dated October 12, 2004, betwoen Telesat Canada and Ecbostar, ***

1023+ Amendment No. 4 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated October 21, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar. ***

10.24~  Amendment No. 3 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated November 19, 2004 between SES Americon, Inc. and EchoStar ***

10.25- Amcndment No. § to Satellite Service Agreement, dated November 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar. ***

10.26- Amendment No. 6 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated December 20, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar *+*

21 Subsidiaries of EchoSter Communications Corporation.

2.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Auditars.

24.1- Powers of Attarncy authorizing signature of Michzel T. Dugan, Cantey Ergen, Raymond L. Friedlob, Steven R. Goodbarn and C.
Michae] Schroeder.

k)W L Section 302 Certification by Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

31.2- Section 302 Certification by Exccutive Vice President and Chicf Financial Officer.

21 Section 906 Certification by Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

32.2- Section 906 Certification by Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.

Filed herewith.
* Incorporated by reference.

Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Filed in redacted form sinoe confidential treatment bas been requested prrsuant to Rule 24.b-2 for certain portions thereof. A
conforming electromic copy is filed herewith.
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Exhibit 1022

" clesat Canada
1601 Telesat Court
Gloucester, Ontario
K1B 5P4

October 12, 2004
VIA FACSIMILE ONLY: *** (Originals to follow by courier)

EchoStar Satellite L.L.C.

9601 S. Meridian Blvd
ENGLEWOOD, Colorado 80112
USA.

Attn:  Charles W. Ergen, President and Chief Executive Officer
EchoStar DBS Corporation, its sole member

Dear Mr. Ergen:

Re: Third Amendment to the Whole RF Channel Service Agreement Between Telesst Canada (“Telesat™)
and EchoStar Satellite L.L.C. (“EchoStar”) Dated as of February 4, 2004 (the “Anik F3 Agreement”)

Telesat acknowledges and agrees that the Anik F3 Agreement shall be amended by adding the
following subsection 4.10 to Article 4.0: ***

All capitalized terms pot defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed 10 them in the Amik F3 Agrecment. Except as expressly modified
_herein, the Anik F3 Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with jts terms and conditions.

case acknowledge EchoStar’s agreement with the above amendment by signing where indicated below.
Yours tuly,

TELESAT CANADA

By:
Paul D. Bush
V P., Broadcasting & Corporate Development

By:
Jennifer E. Perkins
VP, Law

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

ECHOSTAR SATELLITE LL.C.
By: EchoStar DBS Corporation, its solc member

By:
Charles W. Ergen
President and Chief Executive Officer

**+Cextain confidential portions of this exhibit were amitted by means of redscting a portion of the text. Copies of the exhibit containing the
redacted portions have beea filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission subject 10 2 request for confidential treatment

bs(-12%
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pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Sccurities Exchange Act.
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Exhibit 10.23
AMENDMENT #4 TO SATELLITE SERVICE AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT #4 (“Amendment #4™) to the Satellite Service Agreement effective as of March 21, 2003, 25 amended by
Amendment #] cffective as of July 10, 2003, and Amendment #3 effective as of Febraary 19, 2004 (collectively the “Original Agreement™),
between SES Americom, Inc., as agent for SES Americom California, Inc. (for the period prior to the In-Service Date) and SES Americom
Calorado, Inc. (for the peried on and after the In-Service Date), an the one hand, and EchoStar Satellite L.L.C. (“Customer”) *** is made
cfective as of October 21, 2004 (the “Amendment #4 Effective Date™). All references to “SES Americom” hercin shall include SES Americom
California, Inc., SES Americom Colorado, Inc., and SES Americom, Inc. as agent for cach. Defined terms used in this Amendment #4 have the
meanings specified herein or in the Original Agreement The Original Agreement as amended by this Amendment #4 is referred to as the
“Agrecment”.

SES Americom and Customer agree to amend the Original Agreement in accordance with the terms and conditions st forth below. ***

(4) General . Except as expressly modified herein, the Original Agrecment shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms
and conditions.

This Amendment #4 contains the complete and exclusive understanding of the parties with respect to the subject marter hereof and
supersedes all prior negotiations and agreements between the partics with respect thereto.

ECROSTAR SATELLITE L.L.C. SES AMERICOM, INC,, a5 agert for SES AMERICOM
CALIFORNIA, INC.
By: EchaStar DBS Corporation, its and SES AMERICOM COLORADQ, INC.
sole member
By: By:
(Signature} (Signai
Name: Name:
“vped or Printed Name) (Typed or Printed Name)
Title: Titke:

*¥
1-

¢#**Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of redacting a portion of the text. Copies of the exhihjt containing the
redacted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchenge Commission subject to a request for confidential treatment
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act.




Exhibit 10.24
AMENDMENT #3 TO SATELLITE SERVICE AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT #3 (“Amendment #3”) to the Sarellite Service Agreement for AMC-16 effective as of February 19, 2004, as
amended by Amendment #1 effective as of March 10, 2004, and Amendment #2 effective as of April 30, 2004 (collectively the “Original
Agreement”), between SES Americom, Inc., as agent for SES Americom California, Inc. (for the period prior tn the In-Service Date) and SES
Americom Colorado, Inc. (for the period on and after the In-Service Datc), on the one hand, and EchoStar Satellite L.L.C., formerly known as
EchoStar Satzllite Corporation (“Customer”) *** is made effective as of November 19, 2004 (the “Amendment #3 Effective Date”). All
references 10 “SES Americom™ herein shall inclade SES Americom California, Inc., SES Americom Colorado, Inc., and SES Americom, Inc.
as agent for cach. Defined terms used in this Amendmeat #3 have the meanings specified herein or in the Original Agreement. The Original
Agreement as amended by this Amendment #3 is referred to as the “Agreement™.

SES Americom and Customer agree to amend the Original Agrecment in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth below. *+¢

{4) Genera) . Except as expressly modificd herein, the Original Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms
and conditions.

This Ameadment #3 contains the complete and exclusive understanding of the parties with respoct to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes all prior negotiations and agreements between the parties with respect thereto.

ECHOSTAR SATELLITE L.L.C. SES AMERICOM, INC.,, as agent for

SES AMERICOM CALIFORNIA, INC. and

By: EchoStar DBS Carporation, its ; SES AMERICOM COLORADO, INC.
sole member
By: By:
(Signature) (Signature)
Name: Name:

“vped or Printed Name) (Typed or Printed Name)
Title: Title:

-1-

***Certain confidental portians of this cxhibit were omitted by means of redacting 2 portion of the text Copics of the exhibit containing the
redacted portions have been filed separately with the Securitics and Exchange Commission subject to a request for confidential reatment
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act.
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Exhibit 1025
AMENDMENT #5 TO SATELLITE SERVICE AGREEMENT

THI5 AMENDMENT #5 (“Amendment #5™) to the Sateflite Service A greement effective as of March 21, 2003, as amended by
Amendment #1 effective as of Jnly 10, 2003, Amendment #3 cffective as of February 19, 2004, and Amcndment #4 effective as of
November 19, 2004 (collectively the “Original Agreement™), between SES Americom, Inc., as ageat foc SES Americom California, Inc, (for
the period prior to the In-Service Date) and SES Americom Colorada, Inc. (for the period on and afier the In-Service Date), on the one hand,
and EchoStar Satcllite L.L.C. (“Customer”) *** is made effective as of November 19, 2004 (the “Amendment #5 Effective Date™). All
references to “SES Americom” herein shall include SES Americom California, Inc., SES Americom Colorado, Inc., and SES Americom, Inc.
a5 agent for each. Defined terms used in this Amendment #5 bave the meanings specified herein or in the Original Agreement. The Original
Agreement as amended by this Amendment #5 is refemred to as the “Agreement”.

SES Americom and Customer agree to amend the Original Agreement in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth below. ***

(5) Geoeral . Except as expressly modified herem, the Origmal Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms
and conditians.

This Amendment #5 contains the complete and exclusive understanding of the parties with respect t the subject matter hereof and
suparsedes all prior negotiations and agreements between the partics with respect thereto.

ECHOSTAR SATELLITE L.L.C. SES AMERICOM, INC., as agent for
SES AMERICOM CALIFORNIA, INC. and

By: EchoStar DBS Corporation, its SES AMERICOM COLORADQO, INC.
sole member
By: By:
(Signature) (Signature,
Name: : Name:

“Vped or Printed Name) (Typed or Printed Name)
Title: Tide:

-1-

#*#+Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of redacting a partion of the text. Copies of the exhibit containing the
redacted portions have been filed scparately with the Securities and Exchange Commission subject to a request for confidential treatment
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act.




Exhibit 10.26
AMENDMENT #6 TO SATELLITE SERVICE AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT #6 (“Amendment #6”) to the Satellite Service Agreement effective as of March 21, 2003, as amended by
Amendment #1 cffective as of July 10, 2003, Amendmeat #3 cffective as of February 19, 2004, Amendment #4 effective as of November 19,
2004, and Amendment #5 effective as of November 19, 2004 (collectively the “Original Agreement”), between SES Americom, Inc., 2s agent
for SES Americom Califomia, Inc. (for the period prior to the In-Service Date) and SES Americom Colorado, Inc. (for the period on and after
the In-Service Date), on the one hand, and EchoStar Satellite L.L.C. (“Customer™) *** is made effective as of December 20, 2004 (the
“Amendment #6 Effective Date™). Al references to “SES Americom” herein shall include SES Americom Cafifornia, Inc., SES Americom
Colorado, Inc., and SES Americom, Inc. as agent for cach. Defined torms used in this Amendment #6 have the meanings specified herein ar in
the Original Agreement. The Original Agreement as amended by this Amendment #6 is referred 1o as the “Agrecment”.

SES Americom and Customer agree to amend the Original Agreement in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth below. **

(3) Genemal . Except as expressly modified herein, the Original Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accardance with its terms
and conditiens.

This Amendment #6 contains the complete and exclusive understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes ail prior negotiations and agreements between the parties with respect thereto,

ECHOSTAR SATELLITE L.L.C. SES AMERICOM, INC,, as agent for
SES AMERICOM CALIFORNIA, INC. and

By: EchoStar DBS Corporation, its SES AMERICOM COLORADO, INC.
sole member ’
By: By:
(Signature) {Signature)
Name: Name:

‘vped or Printed Name) {Typed or Printed Name}
Tite: Title:

1-

***Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of redacting 2 portion of the text. Copies of the exhibit containing the
redacted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission subject to a request for canfidential treatment
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act.
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ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

EchoStar Orbital Corporation
EchoStar Orbital Corporation IT
EchoStar DBS Corporation
EchoStar Satellite L1.C.
Echosphere L.L.C.

EchoStar Technologies Corporation
Dish Network Service L.L.C.

(1) ‘This s a subsidiary of EchoStar DBS Corporation

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES :
As of December 31, 2004
State or
Cosntry of % of

Incorporstios _Ownership
Colorado 100%
Colorado 100%
Colorado 100%
Colorado 100% (1)
Colorado 100% (1)
Texas 100% (1)
Colorado 100% (1)

Exhibit 21

Name Doing Busiuess As

EOCI
EDBS
ESLLC

Echosphere
ETC
DNSLLC

ey




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
EchoStar Communications Corporation.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following registration statcments of EchoStar Communications Corp. and subsidiaries of
our reports dated March 16, 200, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of EchoStar Communications Corporation as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders® equity
{deficit) and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and management s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control ever financial reparting as of December 31, 2004 and the cffectivencss of intemal control over financial
reporting a5 of December 31, 2004, which reports appear in the December 31, 2004 annual report oo Form 10-K of EchoStar Communications
Corp. and subsidiaries.

Form Registration Statement No. : Description
S8 333-106423 1999 Stock Incentive Plan
S8 333-66490 2001 Noaemployze Director Stock Option Plan
S-8 333-59148 2000 Launch Bonus Plan
S-8 333-318%0 401 (k) Employees’ Savings Plan
S8 333.95099 1999 Launch Bonus Plan
S8 333-74779 401(k) Employees’ Savings Plan
s-8 333-51259 1998 Launch Bonus Plan
S8 333-48895 401(k) Employees® Savings Plan
S-8 133-36791 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
S-8 333-36749 1997 Launch Bonus Plan
S8 333-22971 401(k) Employces” Savings Plan
S-8 333-11597 1996 Launch Bonus Plzn
S8 333.0557s 1995 Nonemployee Directar Stock Option Plan
S-8 033-80527 1995 Stock Incentive Plan
KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado

March 16, 2004
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EXHIBIT 24.}
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signaturc appears below constitutes and appoints each of David
J. Rayner and David K. Moskowitz, individually, as the true and lawful attormey-in-fact and agent of the undersigned, with full pawer of
substitution end resubstitution, for and in the name, place and stead of the undersigned, in any and all capacities, to sign the Anmal Reporton
Form 10-K of EchoStar Communications Corporation, a Nevada corporation formed in April 1995, for the year ended December 31, 2004, and
any and all smendments thereto and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documeats in copnection therowith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission, and hereby grants w each such anomey-in-fact and agent full power and authority 10 do and
perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in conmection therewith, as fully as to all intents and purposes as the
undersigned nright or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming afl that such attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitate, may
lawfully do or cause to be donc by virtue bereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this Power Attorney has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the date indicated.

__ Signatwrn o Tme Dute
/&/ Michae! T. Dugan Director March 16, 2005
Michael T. Dugen
/s/ Cantey Ergen Director March 16, 2005
Cantey Ergea
Js/ Reymond L. Friediob Director March 16, 2005
Reymond L. Friedlob
I Steven R. Goodbar Director March 16, 2005
steven R. Goodbam
1/ C. Michael Schroeder Director March 16, 2005
C. Michael Schroeder

b3l -]4b




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Section 302 Certification

1, Charles W. Exgen, certify that:

1. Ihavereviewed this annual report on Form 10-X of EchoStar Communications Corporation;

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any umtrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly preseat in all material
respects the fimancial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)  desigued such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiarics, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reperting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in sccordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures end presented in this report our conclusions about

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
cvaluation; and )

d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financis] reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an anmual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likety to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  Theregistrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

rcporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
fanctions):

a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal cantrol over financigl reporting which
ere reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  any frd, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who bave a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005

/s/ Charles W. Erpen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 312

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Section 302 Certification

1, David J. Rayner, certify that:

I. T'have reviewed this ammal report on Form 16-X of EchoStar Corumunications Corporation;

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report docs not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state & material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods prescnted in this repost;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defimed in Exchange Act Rules 132-15(c) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as dcfined in Exchange Act Rules
132-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

8)

b)

c)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entitics, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
finzncial statemeats for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectivencss of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosurce controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this repost based on such
evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s imternal control over financial reporting; and

S.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and T have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over fraancial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (ot persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencics and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal cootrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, sumimarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
interne! control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005

/s/ David J. Rayner

Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Section 906 Certification

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of EchoStar Cormmunications Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies that to the
best of his knowledge the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 {the “Report™) fully complies with
the requirements of Scction 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial candition end results of operations of the Company.

Dated:  March 16, 2005

Name: /s/ Charles W, Ergen

Tide:  Chairmen of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwisc adopting
the signature that appears in typed form within the clectronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to
the Company and will be retsined by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2 -

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER -
Section 906 Certification

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of EchoStar Communications Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies that to the
best of his knowledge the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 2004 (the “Report™) fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Campany.

Dated: March 16, 2005

Name: /s/ David J. Rayner

Tide:  Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or othier document authenticating, acknowledging, or atherwise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to
the Company aud will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

End of Filing

Y .

© 2005 | EDGAR Online, Inc.

R

SI-150

R I




